
South Hams Executive

Title: Agenda
Date: Thursday, 4th February, 2016

Time: 10.00 am

Venue: Cary Room - Follaton House

Full Members: Chairman Tucker
Vice Chairman Ward

Members: Bastone
Gilbert

Hicks
Wright

Substitutes: Named substitutes are not appointed

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Member.Services@swdevon.gov.uk



Page No

1.  Minutes 1 - 12

to approve as a correct record and authorise the Chairman to 
sign the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 10 
December 2015 (previously circulated);

2.  Members in Attendance

the Chairman is advised of non Executive Members wishing to 
speak;

3.  Urgent Business

brought forward at the discretion of the Chairman;

4.  Division of Agenda

to consider whether the discussion of any item of business is 
likely to lead to the disclosure of exempt information;

5.  Declarations of Interest

Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable 
pecuniary interests, including the nature and extent of such 
interests they may have in any items to be considered at this 
meeting;

6.  Public Question Time 13 - 14

a period of up to 15 minutes is available to deal with questions 
submitted to the Council in accordance with the Executive 
Procedure Rules;

7.  Revenue Budget Proposals for 2016/17 15 - 60

to consider a report that sets out the Revenue Budget Proposals 
for recommendation to Council

8.  Capital Budget Proposals for 2016/17 61 - 72

to consider a report that sets out Capital Budget Proposals for 
recommendation to Council

9.  Capital Programme Monitoring Report 73 - 82

to consider a report that sets out the latest position in respect of 
the Capital Programme

10.  Heart of the South West Formal Devolution Bid 83 - 116



Page No

to consider a report that updates Members on the formal 
Devolution Bid

11.  Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company 117 - 276

to consider a report that proposes the establishment of a 
company jointly owned by South Hams District Council and West 
Devon Borough Council

12.  Community Right to Build Orders - Delegated Procedures 277 - 284

to consider a report that sets out the case for adoption of a 
delegated process to enable Community Right to Build Orders to 
be processed through delegation to lead officers

13.  Effectively Implementing SHDC DP11: Housing Mix & 
Tenure

285 - 300

– to consider a report that seeks to recommend proposals for the 
application of policy SHDC DP11

14.  Safeguarding Policy 301 - 312

to consider a report that seeks adoption of the Safeguarding 
Policy

15.  Reports of other bodies 313 - 322

Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 14 January 2016





 Executive 10.12.15 
 

 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF 
THE EXECUTIVE 

HELD AT FOLLATON HOUSE ON THURSDAY, 10 DECEMBER 201 5 
 

Members in attendance : 
* Denotes attendance 
Ø Denotes apologies 

Ø Cllr H D Bastone * Cllr R J Tucker  
* Cllr R D Gilbert * Cllr L A H Ward 
* Cllr M J Hicks  * Cllr S A E Wright 

 
 

Also in attendance and participating 
Item 7 E.46/15 Cllrs Green, Hodgson, Pearce, Pennington and, Vint 
Item 8 E.47/15 Cllrs Baldry, Brazil, , Hodgson, Pennington, Saltern 

and Vint 
Item 9 E.48/15 Cllrs Brazil, Green, Pennington, Saltern and Vint 
Item 11 E.50/15 Cllrs Brazil and Saltern 
Item 13 E.52/15 Cllrs Baldry, Brazil, Hodgson, Pearce, Saltern, Vint 

and Wingate 
Item 14 E.53/15 Cllr Vint 

 Also in attendance and not participating 
Cllrs Barnes, Blackler, Bramble, Brown, Cuthbert, Foss, Hawkins, Hitchins, Holway, 
Pringle, Smerdon and Steer , 
 
 

Officers in attendance and participating 
All items  Executive Director Strategy & Commissioning (SJ), 

Executive Director Service Delivery and Commercial 
Development (SD&CD) (SH) and Senior Case Manager 
(KT) 

Item 7 E.46/15 COP Lead Finance (LB), Finance Business Partner (PH) 
Item 8 E.47/15 COP Lead Finance (LB) 
Item 9 E.48/15 COP Lead Finance (LB) 
Item 11 E.50/15 COP Lead Finance (LB), Group Manager Support Services 

(SM) 
Item 13 
and 14 

E.52/15, 
E.53/15 

Specialists – Place and Strategy (AR and CH) 

 
 
E.42/15 MINUTES 
 
 A Member asked that the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 

15 October 2015 be amended to include the following comment under 
Minute No: E.40/15 ‘Health and Safety Management’: 

 ‘Members raised the issue of Lone Working, and it was agreed by senior 
management that training would be provided for officers and Members in 
respect of Lone Working Practices’. 

 
 To enable for this addition to be incorporated, it was then agreed that these 

minutes should be re-presented for approval at the next Executive meeting 
on 4 February 2016. 



 Executive 10.12.15 
 

 
 

  
 
E.43/15 URGENT BUSINESS  
 
 The Leader advised that he had agreed that an exempt urgent report could 

be considered at this meeting.  In line with the Council Constitution 
requirement, this item was considered urgent in light of it being a 
retrospective reporting of the use of decision making powers by the Head of 
Paid Service.  The item was entitled: ‘Steamer Quay Easement – Extra 
Care Facility’. 

 
 It was then: 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

  That the decision taken under the urgent powers of the 
Scheme of Delegation, to amend the Executive’s decision 
made on 24 July 2014 regarding the easement agreement 
between Guinness Trust and the Council from Steamer Quay 
Road, as set out in paragraph 2 of the presented report, be 
noted. 

 
 
E.44/15 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items 
of business to be considered during the course of this meeting but none 
were made.   

 
 
E.45/15 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
 

 It was noted that the following questions had been tabled in line with 
Executive Procedure Rules: 
 
Questions received from Ms Carol Horton (representing Mr Peter 
Trembath), on behalf of the Kingsbridge Fair Week Committee:- 
 
1. The voluntary Kingsbridge Fair Week committee would like to try 

to understand whilst an Event that has been running in its 
successful present format for 47 years steeped in tradition and 
relating to our Towns charter written in 1461 why SHDC feel 
they have the need to step in with the excuse that “They have a 
duty to the community of South Hams”.  
 

2. Where is the duty of care in creating a tender document that 
actually ejects the Committee from the Town Square whereas 
historically the council has granted the fair week committee full 
and unrestricted use of the town square. This is vital to facilitate 
the various activities during fair week.   

 
3. Who do the Elected Councillors feel should be running the 

Event; the Community or them? Is the goal just to make the 



 Executive 10.12.15 
 

 
 

most money or should it be to maintain a harmonious event run 
by the community for the Community?  

 
4. It is also noted that there is no mention in the tender document 

for the provision of the rotaproj charity event. This event 
entertains five to six hundred disabled people and helpers from 
all over Devon and Cornwall. Part of the day includes the funfair 
operator opening the funfair for free on the Sunday morning.  
The current funfair operator runs the big rides at slower speeds 
to allow the guests to enjoy the funfair in a safe and controlled 
way when they might not normally able to.   
 

 In response, the Leader made the following statement: 
 
1. “This tender exercise is in line with the Council’s policy to ensure 

that we get value for money but also meet our community needs. 
 
The fair takes place during a particularly busy holiday period when 
the Council would expect to see significant revenue from the car 
park.  It is the council’s policy to ensure that it gets value for money 
when renting out its assets by testing the market where feasible.  
Far from being a waste of the Council’s time and money we 
consider the tender process to be an efficient way of ensuring that 
we get a realistic market rate. 
 
However, generating income is not the only consideration and we 
are keen to ensure that the wider community requirements are met.  
From the specification for the tender you will see that we are placing 
as much weighting on the criteria for the rental offered as we do on 
the contribution to charity.  It is not unreasonable to be asking for 
competitive bids to achieve a market rent through the tender 
process and we have carefully taken into consideration the 
requirements of the local community when putting together the 
criteria from which to evaluate the bid. 
 

2. The area included in the current tender is the same as that included 
in all the previous licences to Mr Rowland, nothing has changed. 
 
The Council has never entered into any formal arrangement with the 
Committee over the use of the town square.  The licences to Mr 
Rowland always covered both the car park and the Square.  The 
Committee may well have operated in the Square but this was not 
done on an official basis through any agreement with SHDC.  Mr 
Rowland has obviously been happy for them to use the space but 
that was not documented in the licence. 
 
In addition the criteria in the tender documents seeks that the 
tenderer works with and co-operates with the Town Council and the 
Fair Week Committee. 
  

3. This is a community event.  The Council is not running it, purely 
licensing it. 
 



 Executive 10.12.15 
 

 
 

4. Criteria number 6 specifically seeks details of the tenderers 
contribution to charity.  This carries as much weight in the 
evaluation process as the rental offer.” 

 
Following the responses given, supplementary comments were 
made by Ms Horton as follows: 
 
- The information given in response to question 2 was not correct 

as Kingsbridge Fair Week applied and obtained the licence to 
use the Town Square every year; 

- There was balance in the current way of working, and the event 
enjoyed a community atmosphere; and 

- There was little understanding why the Council felt the need to 
interfere and it was assumed that this new way of working was 
being rolled out across the district. 

 
The Leader responded by confirming that pressure from central 
government had resulted in a need for the Council to be more 
commercially driven and the new way of working had started in 
Dartmouth and would be rolled out across the whole district where 
appropriate.  He also advised that the Executive Director (SD & CD) 
would investigate the points raised in respect of his response to 
question 2. 
 

 
E.46/15 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2015/16  
  

  The Executive considered a report that enabled Members to monitor 
income and expenditure variations against the approved budget for 
2015/16, and provided a forecast for the year end position.  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Support Services introduced the report.  In doing 
so, he noted that there was a modest shortfall in relation to Follaton House 
but substantial income had been received.  

 
During discussion, the following points were raised: 

 
• A Member questioned whether the Affordable Housing budget was 

appropriately funded; 
• It was queried as to whether overall income trends were falling, and 

whether the Council had contingencies in place ; 
• The merits of whether it was appropriate to use the Planning Policy 

Reserve to support staff transition costs were also highlighted.  In 
response, Members were advised that some of those staff transition 
costs related to the planning team and transition costs had never 
been a specifically set budget item.  Members were also advised 
that the Planning Policy reserve was made up of funding from the 
previous Planning Delivery Grant (Government Grant) and was 
specifically for planning related activity; 

• One Member was interested to know the overall overspend on T18 
as there were a number of occasions when funds had been 
transferred into the T18 Budget from other Reserves (A separate 
budget monitoring was contained on the Executive agenda which 



 Executive 10.12.15 
 

 
 

showed that the predicted final spend of £4.584 million is £30,000 
less than the budget of £4.614 million); 

• Concern was also expressed over the potential costs associated 
with two projects coming forward, being Devolution and a Joint 
Local Plan.  In response, the Leader advised that Devolution costs 
had been quite low so far and amounted only to officer time.  In 
respect of the Joint Local Plan, this was something that would be 
considered by the Council later that day.  However, the proposed 
joint working arrangements should result in savings being 
generated rather than additional costs incurred. 

 
It was then: 
 
 RESOLVED 
 

1. That the forecast income and expenditure variations for the 
2015/16 financial year and the overall projected overspend of 
£70,000 (1% of the total budget £8.839 million) be noted; 
 

 That Council be RECOMMENDED: 
 

2. To use £50,000 from the Strategic Issues Reserve, £150,000 
from the Planning Policy and Major Developments Reserve 
and £55,000 from the T18 Investment Reserve to fund: 

- the T18 transition costs of £125,000 (Note J of the presented 
agenda report refers); 

- The vacancy provision of £100,000 which has not been met 
(Note J of the presented agenda report refers) 

- The planning legal fees of £30,000 (see Note R); 
3. That the uncommitted balance of £50,000 from the Print 

Room Equipment Reserve be released back to General 
Fund (Unearmarked) reserves; 

4. To transfer £25,000 into an Earmarked Reserve for 
Homelessness prevention as per Note F of the presented 
agenda report. 

 
 
 
E.47/15 DRAFT BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2016/17  
 

Members were asked to consider a report that presented the draft 
Budget Proposals for 2016/17, and the outcomes of the Members 
Budget Workshop, prior to requesting the views of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel in January 2016 on the budget issues within the report. 
 
The Leader introduced the report and reminded Members that this 
report set out draft budget proposals and any proposed changes or 
amendments should be with the COP Finance Lead in time to be 
presented with the published agenda for the next Executive meeting on 
4 February 2016.  He then took Members through the headlines of the 
report, particularly noting the detail in relation to New Homes Bonus, 
Revenue Support Grant and budget pressures. 
 



 Executive 10.12.15 
 

 
 

During discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

• Under the new Governance arrangements, there was not the 
opportunity for Members of the Development Management 
Committee to have a vote on the budget proposals prior to their 
presentation at full Council.  The Leader accepted this point and 
suggested that the Political Structures Working Group could 
consider this when they next met; 

 
• In respect of car parking charges, a Member questioned 

whether they deterred shopping in the market towns.  In 
response, the Portfolio Holder for Environment Services advised 
that market towns were now able to recommend to the Council  
their own proposed charging schemes; 

 
•  When questioned, the Head of Paid Service advised that, as a 

principle, central government would fund any budgetary 
implications on the Council that arise from supporting Syrian 
refugees; 

 
• A Member queried whether the Council had considered allowing 

the car park at Follaton to be used by the County Council for a 
Park and Ride facility, as the County Council were actively 
looking for sites for this purpose.  In reply, the Portfolio Holder 
for Environment Services requested that the Group Manager 
Environment Services investigate this matter.  

 
 
  It was then: 
 

RESOLVED 
 
1. That the Budget Proposals report for 2016/17, and the 

outcomes of the Members Budget Workshop have been 
initially considered; and  

2. That the Overview and Scrutiny Panel be asked for its 
views on the budget issues contained within this report at 
its meeting on 14 January 2016. 

 
 
E.48/15 CAPITAL BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2016/17 TO 2018/19  
 

Members were asked to consider a report that resolved to request the 
views of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel on the Capital Programme 
Proposals for 2016/17, which total £1,765,000. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Support Services introduced the report.  The 
Leader noted that the estimated cost for the refurbishment of the 
Council Chamber had been high and officers were looking at better 
ways to achieve value for money. 
 



 Executive 10.12.15 
 

 
 

One Member stated that there should be a discussion with the Harbour 
Board in respect of marine items and whether they should be the 
responsibility of the Council or the Harbour Board.  He also felt a 
discussion with the Environment Agency would be appropriate in 
respect of capital items in areas where the Council was ‘trying to hold 
back the sea’.  The Leader agreed, and added that coastal and flood 
protection was an important element within the Devolution Bid. 
 
The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel welcomed the 
opportunity to comment on the proposals, however he and other 
Members stated that more detail would need to be provided in order to 
allow all options to be explored. 
 
Finally, a Member spoke about looking at opportunities for income 
generation and was advised by the Executive Director (S&C) that 
business proposals should be brought forward in in time for the budget 
process. 

 
 

  It was then: 
 

RESOLVED 
 

That the views of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel on the 
Capital Programme Proposals totalling £1,765,000 be sought at 
its meeting on 14 January 2016. 

 
 
E.49/15 TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID YEAR REVIEW  
 

Members were asked to consider a report that set out how the Council 
was on course to meet its budget target of £123,000.  To date, the 
Council had outperformed the industry benchmark by 0.22%.  The 
Council had achieved rate of return of 0.57%, against the 7 day LIBID 
bid rate of 0.35%. 
 
It was then: 
 
 RESOLVED 

 
   That the report be noted. 
 
 
E.50/15 T18 BUDGET MONITORING REPORT – QUARTER 2 2015/16  
 

Members were presented with a report that set out the progress to 
date on the T18 Transformation Programme. 
 
The Leader introduced the report and began by asking that a message 
be relayed to staff in the Customer Contact Centre that they were 
supported wholeheartedly by Members and any performance related 
issues raised at the recent Overview and Scrutiny Panel meeting 
referred to whether the processes were right, not the staff.  The 



 Executive 10.12.15 
 

 
 

Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel agreed with this 
statement.  The Leader also noted that planning applications submitted 
via the Planning Portal were now directly loaded onto the system, 
saving time in manually entering the information.   
 
The Group Manager Support Services responded to questions relating 
to Customer Insight information by explaining that this information 
enabled the Council to establish what the customer was accessing the 
website for.  This would facilitate more effective targeting of resource 
and information. 
 
Members then had a discussion on pension costs and their impact on 
the T18 budget.  The Executive Director SD&CD and COP Lead 
Finance responded to questions and confirmed that the Council was 
not required to pay more in contributions because there were less staff 
employed and the deficit amount referred to would have to be paid 
regardless of T18.  The Finance COP Lead confirmed that the Council 
had a small deficit recovery rate of 1.6%, being the element of the 
employer’s pension rate required to fund the deficit.  

 
It was then: 

 
RESOLVED 

 
1. That the report be noted; and 

 
2. That Council be RECOMMENDED to fund the postponement 

(to 2016) of the round reviews and the waste review 
changes by using £100,000 of the Business Rates 
Earmarked Reserve and £75,000 of the Strategic Issues 
Earmarked Reserve. 

 
 
 
E.51/15 WRITE OFF REPORT 
 

Members were asked to consider a report that informed them of the 
debt written off for revenue streams within Revenue and Benefits.  
Debts up to the value of £5,000 were written off by the s151 Officer 
under delegated authority.  Permission was sought to write off 
individual debts with a value of more than £5,000. 

 
 The Portfolio Holder introduced the report and noted that whilst the 
collection rate for council tax was slightly down, the amount of money 
collected was higher than last year.  The collection rate for business 
rates was currently higher than the same time last year. 

 
 It was then: 
 
  RESOLVED 
 

1. That, in accordance with Financial Regulations, the s151 
Officer had authorised the write off of individual debts 



 Executive 10.12.15 
 

 
 

totalling £56,007.08 as detailed in presented Tables 1 and 2 
of the agenda report; and  

2. That the write off of individual debts in excess of £5,000 
totalling £122,075.04, as detailed in Table 3 of the presented 
report, be approved. 

 
 
 
 
 
E.52/15 AFFORDABLE HOUSING – ALTERNATIVE MODELS  
 

Members were asked to consider a report that sought authority to 
accept delivery models to provide affordable housing in the district.  
 
The Deputy Leader introduced the report and explained the 
background to the recommendations, and how this proposal would 
broaden the suite of options for consideration in respect of affordable 
housing.  The two delivery models were outlined, and Members were in 
favour of removing the restrictions on the Rent Plus scheme following 
changes to legislation arising from the Planning and Housing Bill. 
 
During discussion, Members raised concerns over the practicalities of 
two different schemes working within one section106 agreement.  
Concerns were also raised about the quality of the homes however 
another Member pointed out that any homes would have to be built in 
accordance with Building Regulations. 
 
Finally, it was agreed that officers should arrange a presentation from 
Octopus QSH in the New Year. 

 
 It was then: 
 
  RESOLVED  
 

1. That RENT plus be accepted as a delivery model to 
provide affordable housing in the District, free of the 
restrictions which were set out in July 2014. 
 

2. That Octopus QSH be accepted as a delivery model to 
provide affordable housing in the District; and 
 

3. That authority be delegated to the Specialists – Place and 
Strategy to allow both models as an option for delivery as 
part of the planning application process. 

 
 
E.53/15 COMMUNITY LED HOUSING INITIATIVE  
 

Members were asked to consider a report that sought to change the 
£100,000 Community Led Housing Initiative from a loan to a grant 
scheme. 
 



 Executive 10.12.15 
 

 
 

One Member requested that a full explanation of all models available 
be given to Members so that all options could be considered, including 
community land trusts and housing co-operatives.  Members were 
advised that a briefing note was being prepared for circulation in the 
New Year. 

 
 It was then: 
 
  RESOLVED 
 

That the £100,000 Community Led Housing Initiative be 
changed from a loan to a grant scheme.  

 
 
E.54/15 REPORTS OF OTHER BODIES  

 
RESOLVED 
 
That the following be received and that any recommendations 
contained therein be approved: 

 
a) Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 19 November 2015  

  
 

i. O&S.51/15  REVIEW OF FEES AND CHARGES  
 
RECOMMENDED 

 

1. That Council be RECOMMENDED that the 
proposed fees and charges (as set out in the 
presented agenda report and appendices) be 
approved as part of the 2016/17 Budget Setting 
process, subject to the shower charges being 
increased from 20p to £1; 

 

2. That Council be RECOMMENDED that delegated 
authority be given to the Community Of Practice 
Lead for Environmental Health, in consultation with 
the Lead Executive Member, to modify the charges 
of Food Export Certificates, once the outcome of 
the current review is known; and 

 
3. That Council be RECOMMENDED that delegated 

authority be given to the Group Manager for 
Commercial Services, in consultation with the lead 
Executive Member, to set the Commercial Waste 
charges, once all the price modelling factors are 
known. 

 
 

ii. O&S.53/15  OUR PLAN:  SOUTH HAMS - REVIEW 
 



 Executive 10.12.15 
 

 
 

 
That Council be  RECOMMENDED that: 

 
1.  Our Plan: South Hams be issued for the start of 
 the 2016/17 Financial Year as a document that:- 
 
o recognises Our Plan: South Hams for the start      
 as the single  comprehensive Council Plan; 
o re-states the Council’s corporate Vision and 
 Objectives; 
o establishes the common basis for the Council’s 
 Financial Plan, Asset Management Plan, 
 Local Plan and all other Plans and 
 Strategies; 
o establishes long-term and short-term priorities 
 for delivery including a delivery plan 
 commencing in 2016/17; 
o establishes mechanisms for delivery; and 
o establishes engagement, monitoring and review 
 procedures; 
o provides context for subsequent incorporation of 
 the Local Plan element currently subject to 
 separate preparation. 

2.  A Member Workshop be held early in the New 
 Year to progress this work; 
3   the final document return to the Executive and  
  Council for agreement prior to its publication. 

 
 
 
 
(NOTE: THESE DECISIONS, WITH THE EXCEPTION OF E.46/15 (2), (3), (4), 
E.50/15 (2) and E.54/15 (PART A(i) ONLY), WHICH ARE  RECOMMENDATIONS 
TO THE COUNCIL MEETING TO BE HELD ON 11 FEBRUARY 20 15, WILL 
BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM 5.00PM ON MONDAY, 21 DECEMBER  2015 
UNLESS CALLED IN, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SCRUTINY PROCE DURE RULE 
18). 
 
 
 
(Meeting commenced at 10.00 am and concluded at 11.50 am) 
 
 
 
 
 
        _____________ 
          Chairman 
 





PUBLIC QUESTIONS AT EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 
 

 
 
The Council at its meeting on 21 June 2001 agreed that 15 minutes should be set 

aside at the beginning of the Council's monthly Executive meetings to allow 

members of the public to ask questions. 

 

Any member of the public who wants to raise a question at a meeting should:- 

 

(a) submit the question in writing to the Democratic Services Manager by 5.00 pm 

on the Monday prior to the Executive meeting.  This will allow a detailed 

answer to the question to be given at the meeting.  If advance notice of the 

question cannot be given, the Chairman of the meeting has the discretion to 

allow questions on matters which are felt to be urgent; 

 

(b) ensure that normally questions are no longer than 50 words in length; 

 

(c) ensure that the question does not relate to a specific planning matter (this is 

specifically excluded from the public question time); 

 

(d) ensure that the question relates to something over which the Council has 

some control and is suitable to be considered, ie, that it is not derogatory to 

the Council or relates to matters which the Council could consider 

confidential. 

 

For any further advice on questions for Executive meetings, please contact Kathryn 

Trant (Member Services Manager). 

 

 





Report to: Executive  

Date: 4 February 2016 

Title: Revenue Budget Proposals Report 2016-17 

Portfolio Area: Cllr R Tucker 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Lisa Buckle Role: Finance Community of 
Practice Lead 

Contact: Tel. 01803 861413 

Email: lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
That the Executive resolves to RECOMMEND to Council: 

 
1.   To increase Council Tax by 1.99% 

(which equates to a Band D council tax of £148.31 for 2016/17, an 

increase of £2.89 per year or 6 pence per week). This equates to a 
Council Tax requirement of £5,488,062 (as shown in Appendix B1)) 

 
2.   the financial pressures in Appendix B1 of £ 1,690,000 be agreed 

 
3.   the £10,000 discretionary budget bid for the Citizens Advice   

Bureau be agreed; 

 
4.   the schedule of savings identified in Appendix B1 totalling            

£1,252,000 be agreed; 
 

5.   the Collection Fund Surplus of £210,000 as shown in Appendix B1 

be agreed ; 
 

6.   the level of contributions to reserves to be included within the 
Authority’s budget, as set out in Appendix C2 be agreed (this 
includes using £500,000 of New Homes Bonus funding to fund the 

2016-17 Revenue Budget); 
 



 

7. To transfer the budget surplus in 2016/17 of £297,240 into a 
Contingency Earmarked Reserve (see 1.6 and 1.7) 

 

8.  the allocation of Council Tax Support Grant for Town and Parish 
Councils be set at £101,658 in 2016/17, a reduction of 9.9 % 

(Appendix E) 
 
9. that the Council should set its total net expenditure for 

2016/17 as shown in Appendix B1 at £8,312,767. This is 
subject to final confirmation of Government funding which will 

be notified in February 2016. If the Government changes the 
funding, delegated authority is given to the S151 Officer in 
liaison with the Leader of the Council to identify an appropriate 

solution. 
 

10.  to allocate £153,900 of New Homes Bonus funding for 2016/17 
to the     Community Reinvestment Projects budget for 
2016/17. Any under spend from the 2015/16 Community 

Reinvestment Projects budget of £153,900 is to be transferred 
into the Capital Programme Reserve. 

  
11. the Council transfers £24,606 of its allocation of the New 

Homes Bonus for 2016/17 to the Dartmoor National 

Park Sustainable Community Fund. The funds are awarded as a 
one off payment to Dartmoor National Park, to award projects 

on an application basis administered by Dartmoor National 
Park. The following conditions will apply: 

 
A. decisions must be taken in consultation with the South 

Hams District Council local Ward Member(s);  

 
B. funding can only be used for capital spending on projects 

in those parts of Dartmoor National Park which fall within 
the South Hams District Council Boundaries and enable 
the Dartmoor National Park to carry out its social 

economic responsibilities; and 
 

C.  Dartmoor National Park reports on the progress in the 
application of, and use of the funds to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel, in time for budget decisions to be made  

 
12.      £464,000 of New Homes Bonus funding from the 2016/17 

allocation is used to fund housing capital projects (Disabled 
Facilities Grants and Affordable Housing). (The Capital 
Programme is a separate report on this Executive agenda 

and the funding is set out in section 4 of that report). 
 

13.      To transfer £150,000 of New Homes Bonus funding for 
2016-17 into an Earmarked Reserve for the one-off costs 
of the Local Authority Controlled Company (LACC – see 

Section 5.9 of the report) 



 

14.      To transfer the unallocated New Homes Bonus of £777,402 
into an Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) Earmarked 
Reserve (as per 7.10 and 7.11). 

 
15. The minimum level of the Unearmarked Revenue Reserves 

is maintained at £1,500,000 as per Section 9. 
 

16.      the level of reserves as set out within this report and the 

      assessment of their adequacy and the robustness of    
      budget estimates are noted. This is a requirement of Part 2 

      of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 

 

Officer contacts:  
Lisa Buckle, Finance Community of Practice Lead 

Email:lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk 
01803 861413 
 

 
 

 

1.  Executive summary  
1.1 The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is based on a 

financial forecast over a rolling five year timeframe to 2020/21 which 
will help ensure resources are aligned to the outcomes in Our Plan. 
The changes to the Budget Report from the last Budg et report to 
the Executive on 10 December 2015 are shown in deta il in Section  
5.15. 

 
1.2 The forecast is intended to provide a framework within which decisions 

can be made regarding the future service provision and council tax 
levels whilst building an approach that guarantees South Hams District 
Council’s longer term viability. 

 
1.3 Local authorities have faced unprecedented reductions in Government 

funding since the Comprehensive Spending Review 2010. The 
Queen’s Speech delivered on 27 May 2015 stated that the government 
will “continue the work of bringing the public finances under control and 
reducing the deficit, so that Britain lives within its means”. The Summer 
Budget on 8 July 2015 has confirmed this and is likely to mean 
significant financial reductions particularly over the next two to three 
years until the government achieves its aim of running a budget surplus 
by 2019/20. 
 

1.4 By the end of 2015/16, the Council’s grant funding (Revenue Support 
Grant) will have reduced by over 40% from 2013. The economic 
backdrop continues to be challenging, resulting in significant on-going 
reductions in Government funding, with the Council needing to focus on 
long term financial planning. 



1.5 In response, in 2013 the Council alongside its shared services partner, 
West Devon Borough Council, approved an innovative Transformation 
Programme (T18). This is delivering a new operating model to ensure 
that both Councils can continue to deliver quality services for its 
customers and communities. An investment budget of £4.6 million has 
been approved, to deliver annual recurring revenue savings of £3.3 
million. The payback period for the Programme is 2.5 years. The 
Transformation Programme has received the backing of Central 
Government with an award of £434,000 of Government funding.  

 
1.6 The following table illustrates the predicted budget (surplus)/gap from 

2016/17 onwards for the Council as shown in Appendix B1: 
 2016/17 

£ 
2017/18 

£ 
2018/19 

£ 
2019/20 

£ 
2020/21 

£ 
Annual budget 
(surplus)/gap 

(297,240) 
surplus 

549,576 
gap 

411,043 
gap 

211,823 
gap 

253,689  
gap 

TOTAL BUDGET GAP OVER THE FIVE YEARS TO 2020/21 £1,426,131 
 
 Section 6.4 gives more details of the key assumptions regarding these 

figures. The budget surplus in 2016/17 of £297,240 is availa ble for 
reinvestment (on a one-off basis rather than annual ly).  See 1.7 
below for the Overview and Scrutiny Panel’s recommendation that the 
2016/17 Budget Surplus is transferred into a Contingency Earmarked 
Reserve. 

 
 
1.7 The Council’s Revenue Budget Proposals were considered by the 

Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 14 January 2016. At this meeting, it 
was Proposed and Seconded and when put to the vote was declared 
Carried that:- 

 
 The Overview and Scrutiny Panel recommend to the Executive 

that the Council Tax level for 2016/17 be increased by 1.99%. 
 
  

The Overview and Scrutiny Panel also :- 
• Endorsed the themes arising from the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy 
• Recommended that the 2016/17 Budget Surplus was transferred 

into a Contingency Earmarked Reserve 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



1.8 If New Homes Bonus (NHB) were to be used as outlined in 7.10 of the 
report, this would mean that there would potentially be £777,402 of 
NHB which is uncommitted in 2016/2017. This assumes that £0.5 
million of NHB will be used in 2016/17 to support the Revenue Base 
Budget. It is recommended to transfer the unallocated New Homes 
Bonus of £777,402 into an Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) Earmarked 
Reserve (as per 7.10 and 7.11). This amount is in addition to the 
budget surplus identified of £297,240 in 2016/17. 

  
1.9 Whilst there remains a great deal of uncertainty about various elements 

of income and expenditure, the forecast has been based on a set of 
assumptions which represent a cautious estimate in order to focus 
attention on the revised scale of the funding gap.  The figures will be 
revised as we progress through the financial year. 

 
1.10 The Council’s approach to financial planning over the medium term will 

include a focus on income generation and commercial opportunities. 
This will strengthen the position of the District Council by developing 
financial resilience through less exposure to reductions in Government 
funding. 

 
  
 
2        ASSUMPTIONS FOR FINANCIAL MODELLING PURPOS ES 
2.1  Levels of pay settlement will be determined by national negotiation 

between the Local Government Employers and the Trade Unions. 
There has been a pay offer to the trade unions of a 2 year settlement, 
broadly 1% in April 16 and a further 1% in April 17. A budget provision 
of 1% for 2016/17 onwards has been modelled. The MTFS is not an 
expression of Council Policy on pay awards, but a means of ensuring 
an appropriate provision is made as part of the overall financial planning 
of the Council. 

 
2.2 The MTFS assumes inflation will run at 2% (Government target) over 

the five year period. The Retail Price Index (RPI) at November 2015 
was 1.1% and Consumer Price Index (November 2015) was 0.1%. A 
cost pressure of £395,000 has been included for 2016/17. This is partly 
to allow a provision for an expected increase in business rates from the 
revaluation due  in 2017.  

 
2.3 The predicted interest rate forecast from our treasury management 

advisors, Sector, is shown below. The Council’s budgeted investment 
income in 2015/16 is £123,000. It is assumed that the interest rate 
return for our investments will average 0.75 % for 2016/17 rising to 
1.5% by 2018/19 as shown below:- 

 
 2016/17  -  0.75% 
 2017/18 - 1.00% 
 2018/19 - 1.50% 
 



 
2.4   An increase in council tax of 1.99% for the next five years has been 

modelled for council tax purposes. This means an increase to £148.31 
in 2016/17 as shown in Appendix B1. Appendix B2 shows how this 
figure differs, if council tax is increased for 2016/17 but then frozen for 
subsequent years. 

 
 
2.5 The assumed forecast reductions in Revenue Support Grant (RSG) are 

as follows (see 3.1 and 3.2): 
 

 2016/17 
£ 

2017/18 
£ 

2018/19 
£ 

2019/20 
£ 

2020/21 
£ 

Revenue Support 
Grant   (2015/16 
RSG was £1.406m): 

£0.749m £0.245m Nil      Nil Nil 

TOTAL REDUCTION OVER THE FIVE YEARS TO 2020/21 £1.406m 
 

3. GOVERNMENT FUNDING 
3.1 The Local Government Finance Settlement was announced on 17 

December and contained the announcements detailed below. 
 
3.2 Funding Reduction Analysis 

SFA is the term for Settlement Funding Assessment and is basically a 
Council’s Revenue Support Grant and Business Rates funding added 
together. The Finance Settlement announced the following 4 year 
figures for SFA:- 

 
Financial 
Year 

Settlement 
Funding 
Assessment 
(SFA) 
 

Which is made up o f: - 
Revenue 
Support Grant  

Business 
Rates 
Baseline 
Amount 

2015-16 
(Baseline) 

3,137,000 1,406,240 1,730,760 

2016-17 2,514,451 749,451 1,765,000 
2017-18 2,045,393 245,393 1,800,000 
2018-19 1,853,000 Nil 1,853,000 
2019-20 1,912,000 Nil 1,912,000 

 
So funding from Revenue Support Grant and Business Rates reduces 
by £1,225,000 over the 4 year period. Therefore Appendices B1 and 
B2 have been updated to reflect these figures.  

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
3.3 Rural Services Delivery Grant  

The Council will receive rural funding through a separate Rural 
Services Delivery Grant. This is something that has been lobbied for 
through our work with SPARSE to reflect the fact that it costs more to 
deliver services in rural communities. The Council’s grant allocations 
will be:- 

 
2016-17  £100,754 
2017-18  £176,320 
2018-19  £251,886 
2019-20  £327,451 
2020-21 £350,000 (assumed to be of a similar value to 19-

20 for modelling purposes) 
 

3.4 Business Rates 

The income predictions for Business Rates have been significantly 
reduced from the December 2015 figures, to reflect the Finance 
Settlement figures. Whilst in 2015/16 a higher figure than the baseline 
business rates figure was used to set the budget, the current risk of 
business rates appeals and downward fluctuations in the rateable 
value  base of the Council, means that it would not be prudent to 
include higher predictions of business rates income at this point in time. 

The modelling in December 2015 assumed Business Rates income for 
2016/17 of £1,995,000. This is now estimated to be £1,764,500 due to 
the above. 

 
3.5 Retained Business Rates - The Government introduced the Business 

Rates Retention system from April 2013. There is a risk of volatility in 
the system because Councils are exposed to any loss of income if 
businesses go into decline. However, Authorities can voluntarily form a 
‘pool’. Pooling mitigates each Authority’s exposure to Business Rate 
income volatility as the risks are spread over a larger pool.  
 
In 2014/15 the Council received £99,428 as a pooling gain. This was 
additional business rates income generated as a consequence of being 
part of the Devonwide Business Rates pool. 
 
In line with good financial management principles, a provision has  
been made in the Accounts for likely refunds of business rates as a 
result of appeals, against the rateable value of business properties. 
The appeals provision is based on the total value of outstanding 
appeals at the year end as advised by the Valuation Office Agency and 
on advice from them about the likely success rate of appeals. The 
Council has withdrawn from the Devonwide Business Rates pool in 
2015/2016, due to the risk of some significant business rates appeals. 



 
. The Council’s Business Rates Gross amount payable has increased 

from £26.9 million in 2012/13 to £31.2 million in 2015/16. Therefore 
over the last 3 years, the District Council’s business rates base has 
grown on average by 5% per annum.  

 
 Of the Business Rates collected of £31.2 million, the Council is 

predicted to retain in funding only £1.95 million of this in 2015/16. So 
the District Council retains approximately just under 6.5 pence in every 
£1 to run our services.  

 
  
3.6 Business Rates Revaluation - There will be a Business Rates 

Revaluation which will go live on 1 April 2017.  
 

 
3.7 Council Tax Referendum Limit – The Localism Act introduced the 

power for the Secretary of State to set principles each year under 
which council tax increases are determined to be excessive. The 
Government have confirmed that council tax increases of 2 per cent or 
over will be subject to a council tax referendum for 2016/17. Therefore 
the maximum council tax increase remains at 1.99% for 2016/17 for 
South Hams District Council, with no limit set for Town and Parish 
Councils. 

 
3.8 Council Tax Freeze Grant – As expected, there has been no 

announcement on a Council Tax Freeze Grant scheme for the period 
2016/17 and beyond. Therefore a freeze grant is not being offered for 
2016/17 and beyond. 

 
3.9 Income from Council Tax – The recommendation is for the District 

Council to increase council tax by 1.99% for 2016/17 to £148.31 for a 
Band D property for South Hams District Council. This amounts to a 
£2.89 increase on an average Band D property over a year, equivalent 
to 6 pence per week. 

 
The Council’s Revenue Budget Proposals were considered by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 14 January 2016. At this meeting, it 
was Proposed and Seconded and when put to the vote was declared 
Carried that:- 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Panel recommend to the Executive 
that the Council Tax level for 2016/17 be increased by 1.99%. 

 
 
 A 1% increase in Council Tax generates an extra £53,000 in extra 

council tax income per annum. The total income from Council Tax is 
projected to be £5.488 million in 2016/17 as per Appendix B1. 

 
 



 
3.10 Council Tax  – The table below shows how an average Band D 

council bill is made up for South Hams District Council for the 
last two years: 

. 
Precepting 
Authority 

Band D  
2014/15 

Band D  
2015/16 

£ 
Increase 

% 
Increase 

South Hams 
District Council 

£145.42 
 
 

£145.42 
 

£0 0% 

Devon County 
Council 

£1,138.59 £1,161.27 
 

£22.68 
 

1.99% 

Devon &  
Cornwall Police 
& Crime 
Commissioner  

£166.16 £169.47 £3.31 1.99% 

Devon & 
Somerset Fire 
& Rescue 

£76.89 £78.42 £1.53 1.99% 

Average 
Parishes/Towns 

£44.03 
 

£45.94 £1.91 
 

4.34% 
 

TOTAL £1,571.09 
 

£1,600.52 
 

£29.43 
 

1.87% 

 
 

South Hams District Council’s share of the council tax bill in 
2015/16 was 9%, being £145.42 out of an average Band D 
council tax bill of £1,600.52. If the Council were to increase 
council tax by 1.99% in 2016/17, this would equate to a 
Band D council tax of £148.31  - an increase of £2.89 per 
year. 

 
3.11 Collection Fund Surplus  – At the end of March 2015, the 

Council has a balance on its Collection Fund (council tax 
collection fund) of £2.062 million. This will be distributed in 
2016/17, which means that the District Council’s share of the 
distribution is £210,000 which is funding available towards the 
2016/17 Budget.  

 
 
4 THE COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC PRIORITIES – OUR PLAN  
 
4.1 The strategic plan for South Hams, ‘Our Plan’ sets out the vision, long 

term priorities and planning policies for the District as below:- 
 
 South Hams - Vibrant Towns and Villages 

Enhancing the quality of life for individuals and communities 
whilst conserving the natural environment 

 



4.2 Our Plan is an overarching strategic plan for the whole District.  It 
covers a wide range of topics, from issues such as community 
wellbeing, energy needs and landscape protection through to 
employment growth, housing and infrastructure.   

4.3 The themes are set out below. 

 
 
 
 

4.4 The themes formed the basis of ongoing consultation throughout the 
summer of 2014, which included public events in all South Hams 
market towns and some local centres.  
 

4.5 The actions in the Delivery Plan are grouped under the following 
headings: 
- Homes 
- Jobs 
- Natural Environment 
- Excellent Customer Services 
 
The full document can be accessed on 
http://www.southhams.gov.uk/ourplan 

 
 
 



5 BUDGET PRESSURES FOR 2016/17 ONWARDS 
 
5.1 Financial modelling has been undertaken for the next five years to 

predict the Council’s financial situation for the short and medium term. 
  
5.2 Appendix A to the Medium Term Financial Strategy sets out the 

Budget Pressures forecast for the next five years and the additional 
savings and income forecast. A description of the larger budget 
pressures are set out below. 

 
5.3 Waste services  - A one-off cost pressure for £30,000 has  been built 

into the Financial Strategy for a specialist temporary staffing resource. 
 
5.4 Trade Waste  – Increase in disposal costs and tipping charges. There 

have also been legislative changes adversely affecting the services. 
 
5.5 National Insurance  - There will be increased National Insurance (NI) 

contributions for employers effective from 2016/17. The extra cost to 
South Hams is £155,000 annually. 

 
5.6 The Summer Budget 2015 also announced plans for a National Living 

wage for the over 25s of £7.20 per hour from 2016/17 increasing to 
£9.00 per hour by 2020. The cost of introduction has been assessed as 
£25,000. 

 
5.7 Dartmouth Lower Ferry  – Members will recall that the Ferry was out 

of action until 20th May 2013 for essential slipway maintenance (Minute 
E.15/12 refers). The indications are that not all the business lost during 
this period has returned and a shortfall in income of £100,000 is 
forecast.  

 
In 2014/15 the actual income achieved was £813,000 against an 
income budget of £907,000. The income target for 2016/17 has been 
reduced by £100,000 to reflect the actual position. 

 
5.8 Homelessness Grant  – The Finance Settlement has confirmed that 

homelessness funding under the Local Welfare Support Grant will 
cease in 2016-17 as anticipated.  

 
Therefore the cost pressure of  £80,000 in 2016-17 is still required to 
enable the Council to continue with homelessness prevention activity. 

  
5.9 One off set up costs of the Local Authority Control led Company  –  

A change to the figures shown in the December 2015 Budget 
Proposals report is that the one off set up costs of the Local Authority 
Controlled Company are now predicted to be in the region of £150,000 
for each Council.  
 
 



Therefore the initial costs have been increased in 2016-17 to reflect the 
£150,000. This would cover the following: 

 
• Cost of the full business case and implementation plan 
• Project management for implementation 
• Legal advice   
• Financial advice 
• Setting up the contracts between the Councils and the company with 

all the associated schedules and specifications 
• Novating (Transfer) of the contract and leases 
• Setting up a new pension scheme and transfer/admitted body status for 

LGPS 
• Setting up the payroll, accounts system, a separate bank account 
• Transferring any systems 
• Work associated with transfer of any assets 
• Change management with staff 
• Branding and marketing for the new company 

 
 

There is a separate agenda item on the Executive for ‘Proposals 
relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company’. 

 
 Due to the one-off nature of the initial set up costs, it is recommended 

that these initial costs are financed from the New Homes Bonus 
amount in 2016-17. Therefore these costs have no longer been shown 
in the Budget report as a cost pressure in 2016-17 and are instead 
shown as a one off amount being allocated of New Homes Bonus 
funding. This is shown in Section 7.10. 

 
 
 
5.10 Waste Rounds review  – deferment to consider a four  day working 

week  
 

The waste task and finish group met on 10th January and considered 
the further exploration of the possibility of a 4 day working week for the 
collection of waste and recycling. This was suggested at the December 
meeting of the group. This would consider the shortening of the 
working week to a Tuesday to Friday collection pattern. 

 
There would need to be detailed work done in considering this regime 
as it would require round modelling on a 4 day zone basis and union 
consultation for the workforce. The concept of a 4 day work pattern for 
refuse and recycling is supported.  
 
 
 
 



There are a number of other benefits which would be realised in terms 
of a 4 day week: 
 

• reduced number of calls/emails to the contact centre  
• reduced number of customer complaints against service  
• minimal service disruption during holiday periods 
• reduced overtime costs to service  
• Savings from advertising/calendars for bank holiday periods 

 
 
It would provide a better service for customers as there would be 
minimal disruption from bank holidays during the year and would offer 
efficiencies around current fleet use and current vehicle servicing 
costs. It is likely to provide a betterment of the budgeted £175,000 
round review savings and in cab efficiency savings, however for this to 
be known the 4 day modelling needs to be carried out. 

 
If this work area is to be progressed it will delay the round review 
currently planned for late spring/early summer based on a 5 day week 
collection pattern. This is due to the fact that it would be impractical, 
costly and extremely disruptive to make two changes to customers’ 
collections in quick succession. An estimated cost of delay would be 
£85,000 (which may be bettered) and this has been shown as a cost 
pressure in Appendix A. This is a new cost pressure which has recently 
arisen and this was not reflected in the December 2015 Budget 
Proposals report. 

 
It would however be practical to implement the remaining waste review 
work in Spring, specifically:- 
  

• the change for the current weekly collection households to the alternate 
weekly collection pattern. This has already been agreed by Members 
and will need to be implemented prior to the 4 day week round patterns 
being agreed, and 

• the introduction of the in cab technology to the fleet 
 

These savings would therefore be realised as budgeted. It is 
understood that it is not ideal to delay round changes however the 
reputational benefits which could be realised are felt to be worth the 
further deferral. 

 
5.11 Cessation of crab export licensing fee income 
 

The export of live crabs to China requires an export certificate issued 
by the Council. A fee is charged for this certificate. Due to reasons 
beyond the control of the Council, this trade has now ceased. A cost 
pressure of £30,000 has been added for this. The Council is hopeful 
that this trade will resume but are unable to predict when this may 
happen. 

 



  
5.12 Discretionary Budget Bid - Citizens Advice Bureau (Outreach 

Project) 
 
 In 2015/16 Members approved a ”non-recurring” bid for £10,000 for 

additional funding for the CAB Outreach Project which provides a 
weekly advice service in Dartmouth, Ivybridge and Kingsbridge. Much 
of the advice covers housing, benefits and debt Issues and is   
managed in liaison with the Council’s Community Team. Members are 
requested to consider if they wish to renew this arrangement for 
2016/17. The modelling in the budget report is currently based on a 
continuation of this bid for 2016/17. 

 
 
 SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION 
 
 
5.13 Transformation Programme 2018 (T18) – In 2016/17 the Council will 

make savings of a further £1.142 million as outlined in the original 
Business Case. This is on top of savings of £1.95 million of savings 
already built into the 2015/16 Base Budget as shown in Appendix A.  

 
 There was a separate report on the Executive agenda on 10 December 

2015 regarding the budget monitoring position of the transformation 
programme. This showed that the predicted final spend (£4.584 million) 
is £30,000 less than the budget of £4.614 million. 

 
 
5.14 Trade Waste Service savings – Business rated domest ic 

properties - The Council is currently writing to business rated domestic 
properties to advise of the implementation of charging for trade waste 
services. Customers will be sent a letter advising of this.  The change 
of service could apply to approximately 2000 properties, 650 of which 
are already paying for a trade waste service from South Hams. Of the 
remainder (1,350 properties) our market share (based on our current 
market share) is likely to be between 30% – 45% and will deliver 
between £60,000 to £100,000 additional income for the trade waste 
service in 2016/17. As the take up levels are unknown, a conservative 
estimate of £50,000 income target for trade waste has been put into 
the 2016/17 budget process as additional income, with an extra 
£25,000 in 2017/18. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CHANGES SINCE THE LAST BUDGET REPORT 
 
5.15 The Draft Revenue Budget Proposals report for 2016/17 was 

considered by the Executive on 10 December 2015. This showed a 
budget surplus of £753,232 for 2016/17. The figure has now changed 
to £297,240. The changes are as below:- 

 
Budget Surplus reported in the Executive Budget 
Report on 10th December 2015 

£(753,232) 

 
Extra Council Tax income from a higher TaxBase 
(TaxBase for 2016/17 is 37,003.99 Band D properties – 
the original modelling in December estimated a taxbase 
of 36,806.88 Band D properties – the extra 197.11 
properties multiplied by a Band D council tax of £148.31 
equates to extra council tax income of £29,000. 

 
 
 
 
£(29,092) 

Reduction in Revenue Support Grant  (RSG) 
(The modelling in December assumed RSG in 2016/17 of 
£1,032,000 and rolled in council tax freeze grant (for 
freezing in 15/16) of £57,789 – RSG has been 
announced in the Finance Settlement to be £749,451) 

£340,338 

Reduction in Business Rates income  
(The modelling in December assumed Business Rates 
income for 2016/17 of £1,995,000 – This is now 
estimated to be £1,764,500 – see note 3.4) 

£230,500 

Rural Services Delivery Grant – this is additional funding 
to that assumed in December 2015 

£(100,754) 

Remove the £75,000 one-off cost for the set up of the 
Local Authority Controlled Company as a cost pressure – 
instead fund this from the New Homes Bonus funding for 
2016/17 ( see 5.9) 

£(75,000) 

Add a cost pressure for the waste rounds review 
(deferment to consider a four day working week – see 
5.10) 
 

£85,000 

Add a cost pressure for cessation of crab export licensing 
fee income (see 5.11) 

£30,000 

Reduction in the treasury management investment 
income savings (This was anticipated to produce £50,000 
of savings in December 2015 – however in the light of 
current interest rate, this saving has been revised 
downwards to £25,000). 

£25,000 

Additional saving from Income from business rated 
domestic properties for trade waste collection – This was 
not included in the December 2015 Budget report but has 
been included within the January 2016 Budget report. 

£(50,000) 

Budget Surplus reported in this Executive Budget 
Report on 4th February 2016 

£(297,240) 

 



5.16 It can be seen from the table above that the main reason that the 
Budget Surplus has decreased by £456,000 (from the December 
2015 position) is predominantly due to receiving less Revenue 
Support Grant and predicting less in Business Rates income.  

 
 
6. OVERALL POSITION – BUDGET (SURPLUS)/GAP 
 
6.1 Appendix B1 illustrates the overall financial forecast for the 

forthcoming five years. Although the Council’s Net Budget is predicted 
to be in the region of £8.3 million in 2016/17, the Gross Expenditure of 
the Council is over £40 million.   

 
6.2 A Summary forecast is shown below of the potential budget situation if 

all of the budget pressures and the savings and income generation in 
Appendix A were approved. It also shows the situation if the Council 
Tax is increased by 1.99% each year (shown in Appendix B1), 
against the situation if council tax is increased by 1.99% in 2016/17 
and then frozen thereafter (shown in Appendix B2). A 1% increase in 
Council Tax generates an extra £53,000 in extra income per annum. 

 
6.3 The following table illustrates the predicted budget (surplus)/gap from 

2016/17 onwards for the District Council as shown in Appendix B1: 
 

 2016/17 
£ 

2017/18 
£ 

2018/19 
£ 

2019/20 
£ 

2020/21 
£ 

Annual budget 
(surplus)/gap 

(297,240)  
surplus 
(one-off) 

549,576  
gap 

411,043 
gap 

211,823 
gap 

253,689 
gap 

TOTAL BUDGET GAP OVER THE FIVE YEARS TO 2020/21 £1,426,131 
 
 
 
6.4 These budget gaps are the position based on two key assumptions: 
 

• That a contribution from New Homes Bonus of £500,000 per 
annum will continue to fund the Revenue Base Budget for years 
2016/17 to 2019/20 – with the amount being reduced to 
£450,000 in 2020/21 
 

• That the budget surplus in 2016/17 is treated as a one-off 
surplus and is reinvested in one-off items.  
 

6.5 The report sets out an anticipated budget surplus for 2016-2017 of 
£297,240 if Council Tax is increased by 1.99% annually as per 
Appendix B1. The budget surplus in 2016/17 is mainly as a result of the 
full amount of savings from the Council’s Transformation Programme 
being realised by 2016/17. In 2017/18 the Council moves into the 
position of having a budget gap again (of £549,576). Section 6.3 sets 
out the future years’ budget gaps. 



 
 
 
 
6.6 The graph below compares the Budget Gap if council tax is increased 

by 1.99% for 2016-17 only and is then frozen for future years (the 
higher line in blue) as per Appendix B2, to the Budget Gap if council 
tax is increased by 1.99% annually (the lower line in red) as per 
Appendix B1. 

 
Cummulative Budget (Surplus)/Gap – as per Appendices B1 and B2 

 

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
No 
Increase 
after 
2016/17  -297,240 659,918 1,185,931 1,517,042 1,895,169 
 
Increase 
1.99% 
annually -297,240 549,576 960,619 1,172,442 1,426,131 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
6.7 Members’ Budget Workshop  – A Members’ Budget Workshop was 

held to give all Members the opportunity to influence and shape the 
budget setting process. The outcome of the meeting is attached at 
Appendix D.  

 



6.8 Work is currently being undertaken within the Finance team to redesign 
the budgets for 2016-17 into the Council’s new T18 structure of 
Strategy and Commissioning, Customer First, Commercial Services 
and Support Services. Appendix B3 shows an initial view of how this 
would look for 2016-17. However the Appendix does come with a 
caveat of the fact that this is currently work in progress and the 
Appendix is a draft version. 

 
6.9 The finance team are also undertaking a project to harmonise all of the 

codes used on both Councils’ finance systems so that the codes are 
the same and prefixed with either a ‘S’ for South Hams or a ‘W’ for 
West Devon. For example the code for car parking could be S100 in 
South Hams and W100 in West Devon. This will assist self serve for 
budget holders and also assist joint reporting across both Councils 
where this is appropriate. 

 
 
7 NEW HOMES BONUS (NHB) 
7.1 This grant was introduced in 2011/12 and provides incentives for local 

authorities and local communities to be supportive of housing growth. It 
is not ring fenced and can be spent on anything.   New Homes Bonus 
is funded through a combination of central government funding (£250m 
per annum) and top-sliced Revenue Support Grant (the balance each 
year). 

 
7.2  On 29 November 2012, the Community Life & Housing Scrutiny Panel 

considered a report on the New Homes Bonus Strategy. It was 
resolved (CLH. 27/12) that the New Homes Bonus funding was used to 
support the following categories: 
• To finance housing capital projects 
• Community re-investment projects  
• Funding for the revenue base budget 
• Community grants and projects 
• To provide funding for the overall Capital Programme  
• To make a provision for a share of the New Homes Bonus for the 

Dartmoor National Park when appropriate 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



7.3 A New Homes Bonus consultation document has been issued 
(responses due by early March 2016). The Council will send a robust 
response to the consultation document.  

 
7.4 The NHB amount for 2016-17 has been confirmed at £2,079,908  

(£134,000 more than original predictions). Modelling for future years 
based on the proposals shown in the consultation document could see 
the NHB allocations for future years look like the following amounts:- 

 
 

 
 
7.5 So if there were to be no changes to the NHB scheme (Scenario 1), the 

Council would receive in the region of £2.088m in 2017/18. The NHB 
scheme allocations decrease by approximately 60% in future years due 
to the overall size of funding available for NHB decreasing by this 
amount. Therefore even if there were no changes to the scheme, there 
would be a scaling back of the payments made, so as to fit within the 
overall NHB budget totals – which are much less in 18/19 and 
onwards. 

 
7.6 If the proposals to reduce the number of years from 6 years to 4 years 

(with 5 years for 2017/18) are introduced (Scenario 2), the Council 
would receive around £1.64m in 17/18. 

 
7.7 Furthermore, if deadweight growth (0.25) is also removed – 

(deadweight growth is  an assumed baseline growth) - (Scenario3), 
then the NHB payments would further reduce to £1.523m in 2017/18. 
Payments would reduce to £1.106m by the year 2020/21. 

 
7.8 The Council needs to use approx. £464,000 annually of NHB to fund its 

Capital Programme (for Disabled Facilities Grants and Affordable 
Housing Schemes) and a further £153,900 for the Community Re-
Investment Scheme.  



 
7.9 Therefore the amounts remaining that could be used to fund the 

Council’s Base Budget are:- 
2017/18  £900,000 
2018/19  £500,000 
2019/20  £500,000 
2020/21  £450,000 

 
The modelling in Appendix B1 and B2 still assumes a contribution from 
NHB of £500,000 per annum towards the revenue base budget, with 
this decreasing to £450,000 in 2020/21. 

 
7.10 A contribution of £500,000 has still been assumed for 2016-17. 

Therefore in 2016-17, the proposed use of New Homes Bonus is as 
follows:- 

 
 2016-17 (£) 
Amount receivable (confirmed) 2,079,908 
Possible uses of NHB:  
To fund the current Revenue Budget (500,000) 
To fund the Capital Programme (464,000) 
To fund the one-off set up costs of the Local 
Authority Controlled Company (LACC) 

(150,000) 

Community Re-Investment Scheme (153,900) 
CAB Outreach Worker (10,000) 
Dartmoor National Park allocation (24,606) 
Balance remaining unallocated 
(currently not committed) 

777,402 

 
7.11 It is recommended to transfer the unallocated New Homes Bonus 

of £777,402 into an Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) Earmarked 
Reserve as outlined below.  

 
The concept of an Innovation Fund was an outcome from the 
Members’ Budget Workshop day (see Appendix D). Officers are 
considering income generation options and are recommending that any 
surplus from New Homes Bonus (or part thereof) is placed into a 
reserve from where “invest to earn” proposals could source seed funds. 
 An example of exploratory work is the idea of direct housing delivery – 
in line with Our Plan.  

 
South Hams District Council could consider acquiring existing property 
or building its own property on land assets already held by the district, 
in line with the adopted Asset Management Strategy.  This work may 
lead to a recommendation to generate income from a combination of 
market or affordable housing rental, housing development profit or 
acquiring property to satisfy temporary accommodation requirements 
which would otherwise be costly to the District.  A report is being 
prepared for the Executive for discussion later this Spring. 

 



7.12 Members have approved the following use of the New Homes Bonus to 
date:  

 
 
Year 
  

2011/12  
£ 

2012/13  
£ 

2013/14  
£ 

2014/15  
£ 

2015/16  
£ 

Grant received  297,567 826,317 1,026,018 1,365,325 
 

1,693,533 
 

This is how the New Homes Bonus has been used:  
 
Housing Capital Projects 
 

 300,000 460,000 460,000 464,000 

Community Reinvestment 
Projects 

  153,900 153,900 
 

153,900 
 

To fund the Revenue 
Base Budget 

100,000 100,000 100,000 564,043 
 

959,126 
 

Community Grants  
(CAB Outreach worker) 
 

  10,000 10,000 
 

10,000 
 

Funding for the overall 
capital programme 
 

197,567 419,567    

Dartmoor National Park 
 

 6,750  17,277 5,779 

Transferred to the Capital 
Programme Reserve 

  302,118 160,105 100,728 

TOTAL 
 

297,567 826,317 1,026,018 1,365,325 1,693,533 

 
 
7.13 Dartmoor National Park (DNP) – On an annual basis Dartmoor 

National Park request a share of the New Homes Bonus to reflect new 
homes delivered within the park. The money is used to support a local 
community fund and, for example, joint work through the rural housing 
enabler. Members consider this on an annual basis as part of the 
Budget process. The outcomes are reported annually to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel. The amount being requested for 2016-17 is 
£24,606 and is for properties built in Hayford Hall, Buckfastleigh West, 
Holne and Thynacombe in South Brent. 
 
 
 

8. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2016/17  
8.1 There is a separate report on this Executive agenda which contains the 

Capital Programme proposals for 2016/17. The proposals total 
£1,765,000. 

 



8.2 The Capital Programme is set by the Council and may be funded by 
sale proceeds from the disposal of assets (capital receipts), external 
grants and contributions, directly from revenue or from borrowing. 

 
8.3     As part of the budget proposals, it is necessary to review the level and 

phasing of schemes within the Capital Programme. It is important that 
the programme is matched with available resources and the impact on 
reserves and the revenue budget is fully assessed.  

 
8.4 Prudential Borrowing - The Council will consider the use of prudential 

borrowing to support capital investment to deliver services and will 
ensure that the full costs of borrowing are taken into account when 
investment decisions are made. The Council is currently procuring a 
new leisure contract to commence in 2016/17. Service delivery options 
requiring capital investment will therefore be explored using this model 
to provide the Council with the fullest range of future choice. 

  
9. EARMARKED AND UNEARMARKED RESERVES 
9.1 The Council’s Net Budget is £8.8 million in 2015/16. It is still 

recommended to retain the same policy of a maintaining a minimum 
level of Unearmarked Reserves of £1.5 million. The summary below 
shows the projected position at 31 March 2016: 
 
The Use of Unearmarked Revenue Reserves  2015/16 

£’000 
Balance B/fwd 1.4.2015 1,741 
Revenue Outturn Overspend for 2015-16 –  
(as per the Revenue Budget Monitoring report to 
Executive on 10 December 2015) 

(70) 

  
Unearmarked revenue reserves at 31.3.2016 1,671 
  
Earmarked revenue reserves at 31.3.2016 
(see Appendix C1) 

3,615 

 
 
9.2 Our financial strategy recognises the need to maintain un-earmarked 

revenue reserves to provide stability for both medium and longer term 
planning and to provide a contingency against unforeseen events. In 
setting the minimum level at £1.5 million the following have been taken 
into account: 
• The size of the authority 
• The volatility of some income and expenditure budgets due to a 

dependency on the weather, tourism and state of the economy 
• The risks faced by the Council with regard to funding unforeseen 

events 
• Uncertainty over future Government funding  
• Uncertainty over future New Homes Bonus allocations 

 



9.3 The Unearmarked Reserves (General Fund) balance of £1.7 million 
stands above the minimum balance of £1.5 million and acts as a 
safeguard against unforeseen financial pressures.  

 
 
9.4 Specific Earmarked Reserves - The level and commitments for each 

reserve are reviewed each year to make sure the committed balance is 
adequate for its purpose (in accordance with LLAP Bulletin 99, a guide 
on ‘Reserves’ from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance). A 
schedule of predicted Earmarked Reserves for 15/16 is shown in 
Appendix C1. Earmarked Reserves are predicted to be £3,615,000 at 
the end of March 2016. 

 
 
10 OTHER BUDGET ITEMS 
 
10.1 Council Tax Reduction Scheme  – A letter has been sent to all Town 

and Parish Councils advising of a 9.9% reduction to their grant for 
2016-17 (from £112,827 to £101,658). This is an overall reduction of 
£11,169 and reflects the level of reduction which the District Council 
has received in funding. Appendix E illustrates the effect for each 
Town and Parish. 

 
10.2 Devolution  - The government intends to support towns and counties to 

play their part in growing the economy, offering them the opportunity to 
agree devolution deals, and providing local people with the levers they 
need to boost growth. The government is working with towns and 
counties to make these deals happen. In 2015 all Devon and Somerset 
Councils have signed a Statement of Intent to look at working up a 
Devolution offering to Government. There is a separate report on this 
agenda concerning this subject. 

  
10.3 Income generation opportunities and the Council’s a sset 

management strategy - Efficient and effective management of the 
Council’s commercial property portfolio is inextricably linked to the 
Council’s response to expected reduction in funding support and 
increasing the revenue from commercial property will help to bridge 
any future funding gaps.  Receipts from all asset disposals be used to 
reinvest in the commercial property estate. 

 
10.4 The commercial property portfolio is run as a commercial enterprise so 

as to generate a revenue stream for the Council.  It is the aim of the 
Council to continue to run the commercial estate and over time, to  
increase its size, by developing out sites in its ownership, as well as 
through the purchase of new land where required.  The development 
programme will form part of the capital programme, which is predicated 
on robust and compelling business cases.  Whenever financially viable, 
the Council will consider and deploy renewable energy / 
environmentally friendly solutions and technologies. 

 



10.5 In summary, the Council’s asset management strategy is to: 
 

� Pro-active dispose of non-strategic land to reduce operational 
expenditure 

� Use funds realised from asset disposals for future development 
� Bring forward strategic sites for development or disposal as appropriate 

(investment will be required)  
� Actively grow Commercial Asset Portfolio -      Focus on Housing 
    (Affordable, Rental, Market) & Employment Units 

 
10.6 Other income generation initiatives will be pursued in tandem with 

extending the commercial property portfolio; linked to driving more 
value from Council assets and resources.  This could be from 
increased fees and charges or providing customers with added value 
services. 

 
10.7 Sensitivity analysis and risk analysis – The figures within the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy have been subject to a sensitivity 
analysis of the figures and a risk analysis. A copy is attached at 
Appendix F. 

 
 
11 FEES AND CHARGES 
 
11.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Panel considered fees and charges on 19 

November 2015 and the outcome of the report is included within this 
Budget report. Additional income of £5,000 has been included in the 
2016/17 Revenue Budget proposals. 

 
 
12.  IMPLICATIONS 
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y            The Executive is responsible for 
recommending to Council the budgetary 
framework. In accordance with the Financial 
Procedure Rules, Council must decide the 
general level of Reserves and the use of 
Earmarked Reserves. 

 
            The preparation of this MTFS is evidence that 

the Council has considered and taken into 
account all relevant information and proper 
advice when determining its financial 
arrangements in accordance with statutory 
requirements, and in particular, that it will set a 
lawful budget. 



 
Financial 
 

Y The financial implications are set out in Sections 1.6 
to 1.8 of the Executive Summary. 

Risk 
 
 

Y The financial risks are as set out in the report 
and in Appendix F. 

 
Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 
Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 None directly arising from this report.   

Safeguarding 
 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Community 
Safety, Crime and 
Disorder 
 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Other implications  None directly arising from this report. 
 

 
 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Budget pressures and savings 
Appendix B1 – Modelling of council tax increasing by 1.99% 
Appendix B2 – Modelling of council tax increase of 1.99% in 16/17 and then 
freezing council tax thereafter 
Appendix B3 – Analysis of 2016/17 Budgets into T18 structure 
Appendix C1  – Reserves 
Appendix C2 – Transfers to/from reserves 
Appendix D – Summary of the Budget Workshop held 30th September 15 
Appendix E – Town and Parish Council Tax Support Grant allocation 
Appendix F – Sensitivity analysis and risk analysis 
 
Approval and clearance of report 
 
Process checklist  Completed  
Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 
SLT Rep briefed Yes 
Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 
Data protection issues considered Yes 
If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny) 

N/A 

 
 

 

 





BUDGET PRESSURES, SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION APPENDIX  A

SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
BUDGET PRESSURES £ £ £ £ £

Specialist resource - Waste and Cleansing options review and delivery (see 5.3) - one off 30,000 (30,000)

Reduction in trade waste tipping fees etc 160,000

National Insurance - (see 5.5) 155,000

National Living Wage (see 5.6) 25,000

Dartmouth Ferry - review of income target (see 5.7) 100,000

Car Parks - review of income target 50,000

Recycling income - review of income target 160,000

Inflation on goods and services (see 2.2) 395,000 395,000 375,000 375,000 360,000

Salaries budget for Environmental Services manual workers 100,000

Reduction in Housing Benefit administration subsidy  and Council Tax Support Admin Grant 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Waste Transfer Station haulage costs 50,000

Salaries - provision for pay award at 1% (see 2.1) 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000

Triennial Pension revaluation 0 125,000 125,000 125,000 75,000

Reversal of vacancy provision 100,000

Reduction in the Homelessness Grant (see 5.8) 80,000

Waste Rounds review  - deferment to consider a four day working week (see 5.10) 85,000 (85,000)

Cessation of crab export licensing fee income (see 5.11) 30,000

Planning legal fees 30,000

TOTAL IDENTIFIED BUDGET PRESSURES 1,690,000 545,000 640,000 640,000 575,000



BUDGET PRESSURES, SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION APPENDIX  A

SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£ £ £ £ £

Contribution to T18 Strategic Change Earmarked Reserve

Transformation Project (T18) - Approved at 11 December 2014 Council (One-off investment costs 
included for completeness)                                                                                                       
Contribution to Strategic Change Reserve to meet redundancy and pension costs (offset by 
savings above)                                    219,000 66,000 (75,000) (75,000) (75,000)
Net contribution to T18 Reserve to meet other non-recurring costs (offset by savings above)

Total Contribution to T18 Strategic Change Earmarked Reserve 219,000 66,000 (75,000) (75,000) (75,000)

SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION IDENTIFIED
Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£ £ £ £ £

Income from fees and charges (see 5.11) 5,000
Income from business rated domestic properties for trade waste collection 50,000 25,000
Additional Housing Benefit recoveries (see 5.11) 30,000

Additional investment income (see 2.3) 25,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

TOTAL SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION (excluding T18 savings) 110,000 65,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

Reduced running costs at Follaton and additional leasing income 23,000 53,000 56,000 0 0

Transformation Project (T18) savings - Approved at 11 December 2014 Council report         
(Appendix C) - £1,089,000 staff savings (30% of current staffing levels) and £30,000 other staff 
saving costs (ancillary costs) - Note the £1.142 million savings in 2016/17 are in addition to £1.95 
million  of savings already built into the 2015/16 Base Budget as shown. 1,119,000

TOTAL SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION (including T18 savings) 1,252,000 118,000 96,000 40,000 40,000



FINANCIAL STRATEGY APPENDIX B1

Line Example B1 - Council Tax is increased by 1.99% each year Base Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5
No. Modelling for the financial years 2016/17 onwards 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

1 Base budget brought forward (line 4/line11) 9,027,727 8,839,401 8,312,767 7,958,951 8,016,908 8,330,085
2 Budget pressures (as per Appendix A) 2,513,000 1,690,000 545,000 640,000 640,000 575,000
3 Savings already identified (as per Appendix A) (2,306,326) (1,252,000) (118,000) (96,000) (40,000) (40,000)
4 Additional requirement from NHB in 15/16 (395,000)
5 Reverse T18 contributions to reserves (1,950,000)

6
Reduce New Homes Bonus contribution from £969,126 to £500,000 for 
years 16/17 to 19/20 - further reduce to £450,000 in 20/21

469,126 50,000

7 Contribution to T18 Strategic Change Reserve 219,000 66,000 (75,000) (75,000) (75,000)

8
Reversal of budget surplus in the following year (assumes budget 
surpluses are only used to fund one-off investment in the year that they 
occur and that they do not permanently increase the base budget) (297,240)

9 Projected Net Expenditure:  8,839,401 8,015,527 8,508,527 8,427,951 8,541,908 8,840,085

Funded By:-

10
Council Tax income  - Modelling a 1.99% increase in council tax each 
year        

5,323,372 5,488,062 5,657,728 5,832,022 6,010,634 6,194,396

11 Council Tax Freeze Grant 57,789
12 Collection Fund Surplus 100,000 210,000 80,000 80,000 80,000 80,000

13 Revenue Support Grant 1,406,240 749,451 245,393 0 0 0

14 Localised Business Rates 1,952,000 1,764,500 1,799,510 1,853,000 1,912,000 1,962,000

15 Rural Services Delivery Grant 100,754 176,320 251,886 327,451 350,000
16 Total Projected Funding Sources 8,839,401 8,312,767 7,958,951 8,016,908 8,330,085 8,586,396

17
Budget (surplus)/ gap per year                                                                               
(Projected Expenditure line 9 - Projected Funding line 16) 0 -297,240 549,576 411,043 211,823 253,689

0 -297,240 549,576 960,619 1,172,442 1,426,131
(one-off)

Modelling Assumptions:
Council Tax (Band D) (an increase of 1.99% has been modelled) 145.42 148.31 151.26 154.27 157.33 160.46
Council TaxBase 36,606.88 37,003.99 37,403.99 37,803.99 38,203.99 38,603.99

Cumulative Budget (Surplus)/Gap - There is a budget surplus in 2016/17 
and  budget gaps in the remaining years.

An assumption of an additional 400 Band D equivalent properties per year has been 
included in the TaxBase and modelling above for 2016/17 onwards





FINANCIAL STRATEGY APPENDIX B2

Line
Example B2 - Council Tax is increased by 1.99% in 2016/17 and 
then frozen thereafter Base Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

No. Modelling for the financial years 2016/17 onwards 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£ £ £ £ £ £ 

1 Base budget brought forward (line 4/line11) 9,027,727 8,839,401 8,312,767 7,848,609 7,791,596 7,985,485
2 Budget pressures (as per Appendix A) 2,513,000 1,690,000 545,000 640,000 640,000 575,000
3 Savings already identified (as per Appendix A) (2,306,326) (1,252,000) (118,000) (96,000) (40,000) (40,000)
4 Additional requirement from NHB in 15/16 (395,000)
5 Reverse T18 contributions to reserves (1,950,000)

6
Reduce New Homes Bonus contribution from £969,126 to £500,000 for 
years 16/17 to 19/20 - further reduce to £450,000 in 20/21

469,126 50,000

7 Contribution to T18 Strategic Change Reserve 219,000 66,000 (75,000) (75,000) (75,000)

8
Reversal of budget surplus in the following year (assumes budget 
surpluses are only used to fund one-off investment in the year that they 
occur and that they do not permanently increase the base budget) (297,240)

9 Projected Net Expenditure:  8,839,401 8,015,527 8,508,527 8,317,609 8,316,596 8,495,485

Funded By:-

10 Council Tax income  - Modelling freezing council tax each year 5,323,372 5,488,062 5,547,386 5,606,710 5,666,034 5,725,358
11 Council Tax Freeze Grant 57,789 0 0 0 0 0
12 Collection Fund Surplus 100,000 210,000 80,000 80,000 80,000 80,000

13 Revenue Support Grant 1,406,240 749,451 245,393 0 0 0

14 Localised Business Rates 1,952,000 1,764,500 1,799,510 1,853,000 1,912,000 1,962,000

15 Rural Services Delivery Grant 100,754 176,320 251,886 327,451 350,000
16 Total Projected Funding Sources 8,839,401 8,312,767 7,848,609 7,791,596 7,985,485 8,117,358

17
Budget (surplus)/ gap per year                                                                               
(Projected Expenditure line 9 - Projected Funding line 16) 0 -297,240 659,918 526,013 331,111 378,127

0 -297,240 659,918 1,185,931 1,517,042 1,895,169
(one-off)

Modelling Assumptions:
Council Tax (Band D) 145.42 148.31 148.31 148.31 148.31 148.31
Council TaxBase 36,606.88 37,003.99 37,403.99 37,803.99 38,203.99 38,603.99

Cumulative Budget (Surplus)/Gap - There is a budget surplus in 2016/17 
and  budget gaps in the remaining years.

An assumption of an additional 400 Band D equivalent properties per year has been 
included in the TaxBase and modelling above for 2016/17 onwards





South Hams District Council -  Draft Revenue Budget Analysis 2016-17 APPENDIX    B3

Service
Net Budget 

2015/16
2016/17 Budget 

Pressures
2016/17 Budget 

Savings
2016/17 Budget 

Total

Commercial Services 2,648,058      841,500                229,100                    3,260,458              
Customer First 4,290,391      826,975                916,331                    4,201,035              
Strategy and Commissioning 1,794,551      13,300                  70,400                      1,737,451              
Support Services* 439,400         8,225                    25,000                      422,625                 
Council Tax Support Grant to Towns and Parishes (Appendix E) 112,827         11,169                      101,658                 
Sub-Total before accounting adjustments 9,285,227      1,690,000             1,252,000                 9,723,227              

*In accordance with the CIPFA Code the majority of Support Services has been recharged to the front line services

Contributions to/(from) Reserves (Appendix C2) 1,987,174      725,300                 
Reversal of depreciation (1,933,000) (1,933,000)
Reversal of pensions costs (IAS 19) (500,000) (500,000)
Net Budget Total 8,839,401      8,015,527              

Funded By

Revenue Support Grant 1,406,240      749,451                 
Localised Business Rates 1,952,000      1,764,500              
Council Tax (assuming increase of 1.99%) 5,323,372      5,488,062              
Council Tax Freeze Grant 57,789           -                             
Collection Fund Surplus 100,000         210,000                 
Rural Services Delivery Grant 0 100,754                 

8,839,401      8,312,767              

Budget Surplus (297,240)





APPENDIX C1

RESERVES - PROJECTED BALANCES (EXCLUDES SALCOMBE HARBOUR)

Opening Projected
2015/16 balance Balance

Contribution 1 April 2015 31 March 16 Comments
£000 £000 £000

EARMARKED RESERVES

Code Specific Reserves - General Fund

0631 Capital Programme 182 129 740

Reflects repayment of temporary borrowing 
from this reserve to finance T18 initial 
investment costs in 2014/15

0633 Revenue Grants 393 393

Comprises grants with no repayment conditions - 
created as a result of International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS)

0635 Affordable Housing 453 84 Due to Capital Programme commitments

0638 Renovation Grant Reserve 1 1 Comprises proceeds from repayments

0639 New Homes Bonus 184 154
Allocation carried forward is for Community 
Reinvestment projects for 15/16

0641 Business Rates Retention 304 0

Will be used to offset the balance on the 
Collection Fund. This relates to a timing issue 
on the accounting adjustments required for the 
localisation of business rates.                    
£100K pooling gain to be used to finance the 
postponement to 2016 of the waste round 
review and other changes.

0645 Strategic Issues 133 0

£75K used to finance the postponement to 2016 
of the waste round review and release of the 
uncommitted balance of £50K to the general 
fund (4.2).

0650 Community Parks and Open Spaces 17 108 122

0660 Pension Fund Strain 99 0 0

There is a separate T18 strategic change 
reserve for pension strains arising from the 
transformation programme.

0665 Repairs & Maintenance 55 369 371

0667 Marine Infrastructure 19 47
A new reserve for the maintenance of marine 
assets

0670 Land and Development 184 184
0675 Ferry Repairs & Renewals 87 263 350

0680 Economic Initiatives 120 103
N.B. £82k earmarked for RDP Local Action 
2015/16 to 2020/21. E21/14 refers

0685 Vehicles & Plant Renewals 541 1,735 49
Due to programmed  vehicle replacements in 
2015/16.

0690 Pay & Display Equipment Renewals 21 40 61
0695 On-Street Parking 44 44

0696 T18 Investment Reserve 578 0 0
To fund T18 one-off investment costs e.g. ICT 
costs

0698 Strategic Change Reserve (T18) 1,372 0 0
A new reserve set up to fund T18 redundancy 
and pension costs.

0700 Print Room Equipment 76 26
£50K can be released back to the general fund 
(see 4.3)

0705 ICT Development 203 134
0710 Sustainable Waste Management 72 0 Recycling and Waste Review
0720 District Elections 10 68 78
0725 Beach Safety 14 14

0730 Planning Policy & Major Developments 596 348

Includes a potential commitment to this reserve 
of £75K for Our Plan and £150K towards 
funding transition costs (see 4.2)

0735 Building Control 271 271

0740 Section 106 Deposits 41 41
Comprises deposits with no repayment 
conditions - created as  a result of IFRS

0830 Members Sustainable Community Locality 7 0
Sub Total 2,962 5,827 3,615

GENERAL RESERVES

0765
General Fund Balance (Unearmarked 
Reserves - Accumulated Surplus) 1,741 1,671

The balance will reduce by the predicted 
overspend in 2015/16 of £70K - see Executive 
agenda 10 December 2015 (Revenue Budget 
Monitoring report)



APPENDIX C1

TOTAL REVENUE RESERVES 7,568 5,286



APPENDIX C2

To (From) To (From)
£ £ £ £

181,600 Capital Programme 181,600

16,900 Community Parks & Open Spaces 16,900

10,000 District Elections 10,000

87,000 Ferry major repairs & renewals 87,000

(969,126) New Homes Bonus (500,000)

20,800 Pay & Display Equipment 20,800

99,000 Pension Fund Strain  Payments 99,000

55,000 Repairs and maintenance 55,000

1,372,000 Strategic Change Reserve 219,000

(7,000) Strategic Issues (7,000)

578,000 Transformation (T18) Reserve

541,000 Vehicles & Plant Renewals 541,000

2,000 Interest credited to reserves 2,000

2,963,300 (976,126) TOTALS 1,232,300 (507,000)

GRAND TOTAL1,987,174 725,300

 ANALYSIS OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO/(FROM) EARMARKED RESERVES

Estimate Estimate
2015/16 2016/17





          APPENDIX D 
South Hams Budget Setting Workshop – 30th September 2015 

 

The Executive Director (Strategy & Commissioning), Steve Jorden facilitated the session and 

spoke about the Medium Term Financial Strategy, the potential effects of devolution and 

the need for income generation to meet the predicted budget pressures.  A key message 

was that despite the successful ongoing implementation of the T18 Transformation 

Programme, the Council still needs to make decisions and changes in order to be fully self-

sufficient and financially sustainable.   

 

The Finance Community of Practice Lead, Lisa Buckle then shared a presentation about the 

forecast gap between income and expenditure as a result of reduced Central Government 

funded Revenue Support Grant and the possible financial effects of the Government’s 

Spending Review (2015).   

 

Finally, the Business Development Group Manager, Darren Arulvasagam shared a 

presentation about the Business Development / Income Generation agenda and the 

introduction of the refreshed Asset Management Strategy.  The latter is to be discussed at a 

meeting of the South Hams Executive on 15 October and then possibly brought to a Full 

Council meeting later this year.   

 

Feedback from Strategic Priorities – Workshop session (1) 

After a brief discussion around the Strategic Priorities set out in “Our Plan” – an interactive 

session was held, where the Members in attendance split into groups to look at the strategic 

priorities and to list the top three principles/objectives or areas which they would like to see 

taken forward in the Budget process for future years (mainly looking longer term at years 

2017/18 onwards (Year 2 of the MTFS)). 

 

The exercise yielded a number of outputs.  These priorities / principles have been 

categorised into broad strategic areas as shown below: 

 

The Economy – The Council needs to create conditions whereby South Hams is an attractive 

place to do business, with the Environment being integral to the Economy. The Council 

should seek to provide business support, where possible focusing on highly skilled jobs.  

Members cited the need for joined-up-thinking and the need to link with commercial firms 

to provide training opportunities. A corporate approach is integral to it. To look at the 

Council’s economic development policies and provide a business support package. Joined up 

thinking with the LEP (Local Enterprise Partnership).  To be supportive of innovation and 

partnerships. 

 

Affordable Housing – To invest in engaging some expertise to advise on policy and different 

ways of doing things to deliver the best outcomes for affordable housing. Procure advice on 

different options and methods of delivery. Find a more clever way of delivering outcomes 

for affordable housing i.e. not just spending money on affordable housing. 

 

 

 



Asset Management – effective disposal/management - all of equal importance.  

 

Statutory “Plus” – Provide more than statutory services from a point of principle and 

commitment to the community. 

 

Growth – Develop prime locations and strategically partner with Private Sector or 

Registered Providers to develop our land or land that we acquire, with focus on truly 

affordable housing and employment units (specifically starter units).  It was recommended 

that the Council refreshes its affordable / social housing policies, provides a package of 

options and develops a strategy to deliver more homes itself (within constraints and taking 

account of potential risks).  A review of investments was suggested and the potential to 

generate rental income from homes and commercial property. 

 

Save – Seek efficiency savings over and above T18; Consider outsourcing services where it is 

cost effective.  Consider how we can save our communities, heritage and natural 

environments e.g. renewable energy projects. This was referred to by other groups as 

making the District attractive to businesses thereby increasing the availability of jobs.   

 

Charges – Follow an Easyjet model; i.e. basic services to satisfy statutory requirements and 

consider charging for ‘added-value’ items.  Set up a trading company (alternative service 

delivery methods were mentioned), along with the need to make charges profitable, not 

just a means to reduce the cost to the community. 

 

 

 

Feedback from Strategic Priorities - Workshop session (2) 

The final interactive session enabled the same groups of Members to set some 

principles/proposals which they would like the Executive to consider as part of the 2016/17 

Budget Setting Process (Year 1 of the Medium Term Financial Strategy).  There was some 

significant correlation between the responses. 

  

The overriding message was that the budget for the forthcoming year should focus on 

providing stability / consolidation.  i.e. spend now to ensure no backlogs and to rid service of 

focusing and satisfying failure demand. 

 

Increase Council Tax by the maximum allowable percentage (with lobbying ahead of that 

maximum percentage being sent to see if there could be no upper limit set before a 

referendum is triggered).  

This measure would increase the base budget for ensuing years and protect the delivery of 

services and the Council’s financial resilience.  

 

New Homes Bonus(NHB) – Use more NHB to fund Affordable Housing Capital Build with 

smaller sums to support the revenue budget if required. Deliver on Affordable Housing. 

 

Set up an Innovations Fund – potentially to support the viability of a Trading Company and 

innovation. 

 



Short term injection of additional investment into some services e.g. the planning service, 

to clear temporary service backlogs. 

 

Freeze Car Parking Charges 

 

Line by Line Analysis of the budget to drive out efficiencies/ Focus on delivering 

efficiencies beyond staffing 

 

Vulnerable Groups – ensure the impact of budget proposals are assessed so that vulnerable 

groups are protected. 

 

Invest in renewable energy partnerships and projects – potentially start with smaller pilots, 

be our own developer 

 

Pressurise Primary Care Groups & Registered Providers to help out with the growing cost 

of Disabled Facilities Grants(DFGs) – to enable residents to live independently in their own 

homes. The Council currently has the statutory responsibility for DFGs which is a big 

pressure – work in partnership with others on DFGs. 

 

Demonstrate Clear Outcomes for Customers 

 

 





South Hams District Council
APPENDIX E

Council Tax Support Grant For Towns & Parishes

Parish/Town Council Tax Illustrative Indicative 
Support Grant Council Tax 

Grant Reduction Support 
allocation of Grant 
for 2015/16 9.90% allocation

for 2016/17
£ £ £

1 Ashprington 143 14                   129
2 Aveton Gifford 870 86                   784
3 Berry Pomeroy 652 65                   587
4 Bickleigh 3,335 330                 3,005
5 Bigbury 243 24                   219
6 Blackawton 659 65                   594
7 Brixton 1,059 105                 954
8 Buckfastleigh West 107 11                   96
9 Buckland-Tout-Saints 61 6                     55

10 Charleton 219 22                   197
11 Chivelstone 121 12                   109
12 Churchstow 181 18                   163
13 Cornwood 959 95                   864
14 Cornworthy 91 9                     82
15 Dartington 1,452 144                 1,308
16 Dartmouth 10,320 1,022              9,298
17 Dean Prior 165 16                   149
18 Diptford 140 14                   126
19 Dittisham 248 25                   223
20 East Allington 697 69                   628
21 East Portlemouth 199 20                   179
22 Ermington 582 58                   524
23 Frogmore & Sherford 476 47                   429
24 Halwell & Moreleigh 231 23                   208
25 Harberton 620 61                   559
26 Harford 24 2                     22
27 Holbeton 238 24                   214
28 Holne 193 19                   174
29 Ivybridge 24,618 2,437              22,181
30 Kingsbridge 10,410 1,031              9,379
31 Kingston 249 25                   224
32 Kingswear 964 95                   869
33 Littlehempston 123 12                   111
34 Loddiswell 1,204 119                 1,085
35 Malborough 927 92                   835
36 Marldon 841 83                   758
37 Modbury 1,556 154                 1,402
38 Newton & Noss 1,383 137                 1,246
39 North Huish 49 5                     44
40 Rattery 267 26                   241
41 Ringmore 90 9                     81
42 Salcombe 2,046 203                 1,843
43 Shaugh Prior 690 68                   622
44 Slapton 266 26                   240
45 South Brent 3,744 371                 3,373
46 South Huish 82 8                     74
47 South Milton 203 20                   183
48 South Pool 91 9                     82
49 Sparkwell 832 82                   750
50 Staverton 578 57                   521
51 Stoke Fleming 747 74                   673
52 Stoke Gabriel 777 77                   700
53 Stokenham 1,395 138                 1,257
54 Strete 418 41                   377
55 Thurlestone 458 45                   413
56 Totnes 30,359 3,006              27,353
57 Ugborough 752 74                   678
58 Wembury 560 55                   505
59 West Alvington 263 26                   237
60 Woodleigh 11 1                     10
61 Yealmpton 1,589 157                 1,432

112,827 11,169 101,658





APPENDIX F 

Sensitivity analysis and risk analysis of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 

(MTFS) 

1.  Extra business rates retention income from rates growth above the 

baseline funding has been assumed for the five year plan. A growth 

averaging £58,000 (3%) annually over the next five years has been 

assumed.  

2. Council Tax has been assumed in the Medium Term Financial Strategy to 

increase by 1.99% per annum. A 1% increase in council tax equates to 

£53,000 (1.99% equating to £105,500). 

3.        A realistic provision of £2.33 million (equating to 7.5%) has been made for 

business rates appeals (the gross amount payable for Business Rates is 

£31.2 million in 15/16). However the Council is only protected against any 

rates downturn or by large appeals impacting on business rates base  by 

a safety net of 7.5% of the baseline of £1,750,214. Therefore the potential 

annual loss of business rates income if the Council were to be impacted 

adversely by large business rates appeals equates to £131,000 per annum. 

(The risk of large business rates appeals is the reason why the Council 

withdrew from the Devonwide business rates pool as per Section 3 of the 

MTFS).  

4. The budget assumes approximately £7.5 million of income from fees and 

charges, recycling and investments. Whilst this assumption is realistic, 

given the position of the economy there is a risk that income could fall or 

be less than anticipated. A 5% reduction in income would result in a loss 

of £375,000. 

5. The MTFS relies on proposed savings in 2016/17 of £1.252 million. The 

majority of these savings have been agreed as part of the Business case 

for the T18 Transformation Programme and are mainly from a reduction 

in staffing numbers being fully realised in 2016/17. A 5% increase or 

reduction in the savings would equate to £62,600. 

6. New Homes Bonus has been modelled based on an extra 400 properties 

per annum increase. Each extra property attracts £1,174 (80% of £1,468).  

If this figure were to actually be only 250 properties say (150 properties 

less), this would mean a reduction of approx.  £105,000 per annum (also 



assuming that in later years, the NHB scheme is reduced to 60% of its 

current size). 

7. Income from investments has been assumed to increase in line with the 

expected interest rate forecasts in Section 2.3 i.e. 0.75% in 2016/17 and 

rising to 1.5% by 2018/19.   A 0.25% variation in interest rates on 

investment income equates to £50,000. 

8. An allowance of 2% for inflation is included in the budget. Inflation costs 

are being managed through cost effective procurement. 

9. The capital programme is funded by receipts, grants, and contributions. 

Realistic assumptions about these have been made for the future. 

10. Known liabilities have been provided for and there are no significant 

outstanding claims. 

 

Summary & conclusion 

Sensitivity analysis and risks are identified above with a potential total adverse 

revenue effect for 2016/17 of £887,000. However, revenue reserves are 

recommended to be maintained at a minimum of £1.5 million. I therefore 

confirm the robustness of the Medium Term Financial Strategy and the 

adequacy of the reserves. 

 

Mrs Lisa Buckle, Finance Community of Practice Lead (S151 Officer) 



 

 

Report to: Executive  

Date: 4 February 2016 

Title: Capital Budget Proposals for 2016/17  

Portfolio Area: Budget Proposals – Cllr Tucker 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Lisa Buckle Role: Finance Community of 
Practice Lead 

Contact: Tel. 01803 861413  Email: 
lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

Recommendations:   

The Executive resolves to recommend to Council: 

i) To approve the Capital Programme Proposals for 2016/17 
totalling £1,765,000 as per Appendix A 

ii) That the views of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel on the 
Capital Budget Proposals are endorsed, namely that an Options 

Appraisal is required with Member involvement for the Follaton 

House boilers (see 3.1.2) and that any allocation of Locality 
vehicles (see 3.2) should be after the March 2016 Overview 

and Scrutiny Panel review of the Locality role  

iii) To finance the Capital Programme of £1,765,000 by using:- 

         £635,000 from the Capital Programme Earmarked Reserve 

         £300,000 from Capital Receipts 

         £366,000 from Better Care Funding towards Disabled Facilities  

         Grants and £464,000 from New Homes Bonus funding 

 
 



1. Executive summary 

 
1.1 The report sets out the Capital Bids to the 2016/17 Capital 

Programme totalling £1,765,000 and a suggested way that 
these Bids can be funded. All items in this proposed Capital 

Programme are based on budget estimates and will be subject 
to the normal project appraisal procedures. 

 
1.2 The Council has severely limited resources, in the form of 

capital receipts, to fund Capital Projects in 2016/17. 
 

Consideration needs to be given to the funding options for the 
2016/17 Capital Programme. The Capital Programme is set by 

the Council and may be funded by sale proceeds from the 
disposal of assets (capital receipts), external grants and 

contributions, directly from revenue or from borrowing. 

 
1.3   The Prudential Code for capital, which came into effect from 

1st April 2004, replaced the previous Government regulated 
limits on capital expenditure and borrowing.  In its place 

Councils now have the power to determine their own 
appropriate levels of capital expenditure and borrowing for 

capital purposes, based on the principles of affordability, 
prudence and sustainability.   

 
1.4 The Code requires the Council, in setting its capital spending  

plans, to assess the impact on its revenue account and council 
tax levels. The Council is currently debt-free and has not 

undertaken any prudential borrowing for capital projects to 
date. 

 

1.5 Section 4 demonstrates that there are sufficient capital funds 
in 2016/17 to fund the bids which have been submitted by 

project officers within the Council. 
      

  
2.     Background  

 
2.1  The capital programme for 2015/16 was approved by Council 

       on 12 February 2015 (66/14 and E57/14 refer).  
 

2.2   A new Capital Programme is proposed for 2016/17. The 
        Finance Community of Practice Lead invited bids for capital 

funding from all service areas, for a new capital programme             
during October 2015 on the strict proviso that all bids must go 

towards meeting a corporate priority.  



All property capital bids received would be ranked against a 

prescribed priority criteria set out in the bid process. 
 

2.3   The submitted capital bids have now been assessed against  
 the categories in each priority. Priority I categories include 

meeting corporate priorities and statutory obligations (e.g. 
Health and Safety, DDA etc) and other capital works required 

to ensure the existing Council property assets remain open.  
 

 
Priority 2 categories link to good asset management whereby 

the capital work proposed would either generate 
capital/revenue income or reduce revenue spending. A capital 

bid that will enable rationalised service delivery or 
improvement is also considered a Priority 2 category to meet 

the Council’s aims and objectives. 
 

2.4 The programme outlines the principles of the projects 
proposed for capital expenditure and includes an estimate of 

predicted costs including fees. All projects will be subject to 

project appraisals as required under the Council’s Asset 
Strategy. 

 
 

3.      Outcomes/outputs 

Members are requested to note the proposals for the Capital 

Programme for 2016/17.  Appendix A sets out the bids which 
total £1,765,000.  

 

3.1 Capital Investment in Existing Property Assets 

 
 

3.1.1  Batson Boat Park, Salcombe  
           

        There is a requirement to resurface the boat park at Batson 
for £50,000. 

              
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



                                                                                                     

3.1.2  Follaton House 
 

Various essential schemes are required at Follaton House in 
order to comply with statutory obligations and demonstrate 

good asset management: 
 

• The lifts in both Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the building are in 
need of refurbishment at a cost of £20,000 each. 

• Upgrading of the electrical distribution boards is required, 
again at a cost of £20,000. 

• The existing boilers at Follaton are becoming increasingly 
difficult to maintain and keep operational.  There is a 

proposal to install two new energy efficient boilers which 
will be more dependable and cost effective to run.  The 

replacement cost will be £100,000. 

 
 

The Council’s Draft Capital Proposals for 2016/17 were considered 
at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 14 January 

2016. At this meeting it was agreed that an Options Appraisal is 
required with Member involvement for the Follaton House boilers. In 

particular Councillor Wingate and Councillor Barnes are to be 
involved in the way forward for the boilers and this work is to be 

built into the Commercial Services workplan. 
 

 
A further scheme meets the Council’s asset objectives as well as 

providing an opportunity to generate income: 
 

Provision of an external platform lift to link to the Council Chamber 

would provide access to the first floor office accommodation. This 
will improve accessibility and potential for letting.  The scheme 

would cost £75,000. The anticipated income from letting this space 
would be £40,000 annually, with a payback period on the initial 

investment of 2 years. 
 

    
3.1.3 Coastal Asset Repairs 

 
Historically maintenance of coastal assets has been on a reactive 

basis.  At a  time of ever increasing frequency and severity of 
storms, a rolling plan of maintenance is required to reduce the risk 

of asset failure. This would retain the current level of coast 
protection for all SHDC owned coastal protection assets, and those 

which are the responsibility of SHDC to maintain, irrelevant of 

ownership.   



 

On 13 November 2014, the Economy and Environment Scrutiny 
Panel considered a report on managing coastal change and assets. 

An extract of the report is below: 
 

SHDC owned Coastal Assets Review     As has been reported 
previously SHDC owns over 130 assets along the coast and 

estuaries.   These have been subject to ongoing management over 
the decades and more recently been subject to a comprehensive 

assessment of condition.   The initial analysis reveals an estimated 
expenditure pressure as set out in the table below 

 

Years 2015 -
2019 

2020 - 
2024 

2025 - 
2029 

2030 - 
2034 

Estimated 
Expenditure 

£1.5m £2.5m £631,000 £941,000 

 

Subsequently a five year planned programme of coastal repairs was 
approved in the Capital Budget Proposals for 2015/16.  2016/17 will 

be the second year of this programme and £300,000 is therefore 
included in the capital proposals. 

 
3.2 Vehicle Replacement 

Whilst the locality model was in design as part of the transformation 
programme a definitive travel solution for officers was not agreed. 

Since ‘go-live’ in June the service has been running with 10 fleet 
vehicles which were available either through vacant posts, which 

have now been recruited to, or through a reduction in fleet 
usage/spare vehicles. As a result we are now able to identify a need 

for 4 vehicles to cover both our front line services and service the 
locality team needs. These are for the South Hams area only. The 

cost of these vehicles is estimated to be £50,000. The vehicles are 

for the operational locality officers. 
 

The use of capital fleet for coverage of locality work will provide a 
longer term cost saving against individual travel claims which would 

have been attributable to a wide range of officers working within all 
of the previous service departments on a casual/essential user basis 

in the past. There is, therefore, a revenue benefit to this capital 
spend. Capital investment also allows for us to brand vehicles as we 

require in future so they are easily identifiable to our customers. 
 

The Council’s Draft Capital Proposals for 2016/17 were considered 
at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 14 January 

2016. At this meeting it was stated that there would be a review of 
the Locality role at the March Overview and Scrutiny Panel meeting 

and therefore any allocation of vehicles  should be after this time. 



3.3 Affordable Housing 

           
An annual contribution of £230,000 per annum is proposed for 

affordable housing. 

The Affordable Housing £230,000 contribution for 2016/17 will be 

used to invest in various affordable housing schemes across the 
district.  These will include:  

 
• Rural affordable schemes such as those delivered under our 

Village Housing Initiative.  
• Bringing empty properties back into use as affordable homes 

– district wide. 
• Developing shared housing for young people – aged under 35 

years. 
• Making better use of the existing housing stock – Tenants 

Incentive scheme – to encourage downsizing 

• Addressing the need for Gypsy and Traveller housing 
• Supporting community led housing projects, including self 

build. 
 

 

3.4 Improvement Grants (Disabled Facilities Grants) 

All grants are mandatory, means tested and enable people to live 
independently within their own home. Adaptations range from 

simple stair lifts and Level Access Showers through to full 
extensions. A budget of £600,000 per annum for three years was 

approved in the Capital Budget Proposals for 2015/16.  This is the 
second year of that approval.  

 
In the Spending Review 2015 announcement, the Chancellor 

announced that there would be an extra £500m for Disabled 

Facilities Grants, to fund up to 85,000 housing adaptations per 
annum.  The Council receives its Disabled Facilities Grant allocation 

from the Better Care Fund which is administered by Devon County 
Council (DCC). The Council has currently assumed that its allocation 

from the Better Care Fund for 2016/17 will be of the same value as 
that of 2015/16 (£366,000). DCC have confirmed that this is a valid 

assumption for 2016/17. The remaining balance of £234,000 is 
proposed to be funded from the New Homes Bonus. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



3.5 Contingency 

It is proposed that an annual contingency budget of £300,000 be 
included in the capital programme. This has been included to allow 

for variations on  tendered prices to the estimates provided in the 
programme, where  emergency  works are required on assets not 

currently included in the programme or where additional external 
resources are required to deliver  the programme.  Use of this 

contingency budget will be subject to the Council’s existing 
processes for the expenditure of capital funds. 

 

4      FINANCING THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

 
4.1 A summary of the Capital Bids received for 2016/17 is shown 

in Appendix A. The table below shows the recommended way 
that these projects are financed:- 

 

 

Capital Programme 2016/17  

(Appendix A bids) 

£’000 

Capital Programme Reserve  

(£740,000 available) 

635 

 

Capital Receipts  300 

Better Care Grant funding towards 

Disabled Facilities Grants (estimated) 

366 

New Homes Bonus – for housing projects 
and disabled facilities grants  

464 

TOTAL 1,765 

 
 

 
5.  IMPLICATIONS 

 

Implications 

 

Relevant  

to  
proposal

s  

Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/ 

Governance 
 

Y The Executive is responsible for control of the 

Council’s capital expenditure. 
 The Community of Practice Leads for Finance 

 And Assets are responsible for providing 
Capital Monitoring reports to the Executive, 

detailing the latest position of the Council’s 
Capital Programme.  

 



Regular monitoring of the programme will 

enable progress to be checked and  where 
slippage is occurring, or projects cannot be 

progressed, other projects  which 
subsequently emerge could be considered as 

potential replacement  projects.  
 

Council is responsible for setting the Capital 
Programme and approving the  Capital 

Budget, following consideration and 
recommendation from the  Executive. 

 

As set out in Part 3 of the Delegation Scheme 
(Section 4.12.1) the Executive will manage all 

the Council’s land and property. In accordance 
with the Financial Procedure Rules, the 

disposal of any land and building over £50,000 
in value requires the prior approval of the 

Executive and shall be made within the context 
of the Council’s asset management plan 

 

Financial 
 

Y The report sets out the Capital Bids to the 
2016/17 Capital Programme totalling 

£1,765,000 and a suggested way that these 
Bids can be funded. All items in this proposed 

Capital Programme are based on budget 
estimates and will be subject to the normal 

project appraisal procedures. 
 

Section 4 demonstrates that there are 
sufficient capital funds in 2016/17 to fund the 

bids which have been submitted by project 
officers within the Council. 

 
 

Risk 

 
 

Y There is a risk that the Capital Programme 

does not meet the Council’s corporate priorities 
in line with the Council’s Asset Strategy and 

the opportunity to assess emerging projects, 
which could contribute to the Council’s 

priorities. The mitigation is that there is a 
project appraisal for each proposal. This is 

taken into account when assessing possible 
implementation timescales. Complex capital 

programmes have a relatively long lead-in 
period. 

 



The Council demonstrates that capital 

investment contributes to corporate priorities, 
provides value for money and takes account of 

the revenue implications of the investment. 
Regular monitoring of the capital programme 

and consideration of new pressures enables 
Members to control the programme and secure 

appropriate mitigation where problems arise. 
 

There is regular quarterly monitoring of the 
Capital Programme to Members where any cost 

overruns are identified at an early stage 

 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

 
Equality and 

Diversity 
 

 None directly arising from this report.   

Safeguarding 
 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Community 

Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 None directly arising from this report. 

 

Health, Safety 

and Wellbeing 
 None directly arising from this report. 

 

Other 
implications 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

 
Background Information 

Executive 10 December 2015 – Capital Programme Proposals for 

2016/17 and Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel meeting 
on 14 January 2016 

 
Supporting Information 

Appendix A – Summary of Capital Bids for 2016/2017 
 

Approval and clearance of report 
 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) 

report also drafted. 

(Committee/Scrutiny) 

N/A 

 





Appendix A

1
2
3
4

Car Parks Batson Boat Park 
Salcombe

Resurface CA 50 1,2

Ermington Mill Repairs to external walls, 
electrics and install new 
fire panel

CB 65 1,2

Ermington 
Workshops

Units 1,5,6,7,10 wall and 
window repairs

CB 21 1,2

Refurbishment of roof to 
old house and replacement 
guttering

ST 100 1,2

Upgrade electrical 
distribution boards

ST 20 1

Refurbish Phase 1 lift ST 20 1

Refurbish Phase 2 lift ST 20 1

Install two new energy 
efficient boilers

ST 100 1,2

Lift to first floor of Council 
Chamber 

ST 75 1,4

Good Asset 
Management 

Rationalise service delivery or service  improvement
Generate income, capital value or reduce revenue costs

Proposed Capital Projects 2016/17 - 2018/19  - PART  I                                                                                                                                                         24  November 2014 
Priority Criteria
Statutory 
Obligations

Compliance, H&S, DDA, Corporate Priority
Essential to keep Operational Assets open

Priority code / 
notes

Employment 
Estates and 
other 
properties

HQ Follaton House

Service Site Project
Lead 
officer

Proposed 
2016/17 
£'000

Proposed 
2017/18 
£'000

Proposed 
2018/19 
£'000



Engineering SHDC Coastal  
Assets Repairs

5 year planned programme  
based on marine survey

CB 300 300 300 1

Vehicles Localities Vehicles 4 vehicles for the 
operational locality officers

HD 50 2

Affordable 
Housing

Projects Various CH 230 230 230 1

Disability 
Facility Grants

IL 600 600 600 1

1,465 1,316 1,130
300 300 300

1,765 1,616 1,430

Sub Total
Contingency 
Totals 



 
 

 
 

NOT FOR PUBLICATION 

Appendix A to this report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 

 
 

Report to: Executive  

Date: 4th February 2016 

Title: Capital Programme Monitoring  

Portfolio Area: 

 

Support Services 

Wards Affected: ALL 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y  

  

  

Author: Angela Endean 

Lisa Buckle 

Role: Capital Accountant 

Finance Community of 

Practice Lead 

Contact: angela.endean@swdevon.gov.uk 01803 861480 

lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk    01803 861413 

 

 
 

Recommendations:   

1.That the Executive notes the Report. 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 
 

1. Executive summary  
 
The report advises Members of the progress on individual schemes 
within the approved capital programme, including an assessment of 
their financial position.  

 
The anticipated level of expenditure is within the existing budget for 
the approved capital programme as a whole (Appendix A). 
 
 
2. Background  
 
The capital programme for 2015/16 was approved by Council on 12 
February 2015 (66/14 and E57/14 refer). This report provides an 
update on the Capital Programme and also on those schemes that 
remain outstanding from previous programmes (Appendix A).  
 
A summary of the programme is shown in exempt Appendix A.  The 
award of contracts is subject to the Council’s procurement rules on 
competitive tendering and therefore the allocated budget is 
commercially sensitive. 
 
 
 
 
 
3. Outcomes/outputs  

 

Members are requested to note the following updates on the Capital 
Projects: 

 
Capital Programme 2014/2015 and prior years 

 
Café, Cliff House Gardens, Salcombe 
Planning was granted in August 2015 for the conversion of the toilet 
block and a successful bidding process undertaken for an operator. 
Cafe due to open summer 2016. 
 
 
Units at Burke Road/Wills Road, Totnes 
 
Tenders for replacement of the roofs are due on 29th January and will 
include an option for solar panels, subject to affordability. 
 
 



 
 

 
 

Waste Vehicle Fleet 
 
Following a full procurement exercise, the waste vehicle fleet was 
ordered earlier in the year and the majority of the spend has now 
occurred. 
 
 
Capital Programme 2015/16 

 
Leisure Centres  
 
The Councils project team are currently in competitive dialogue with 
the four short listed bidders and will be receiving their Detailed 
Solutions for the delivery of the new contract in early February. 
Following evaluation and a further shortlisting, Final Tender 
documents will be issued end March and further dialogue sessions will 
then take place. 
 
The project is on track to appoint a preferred bidder in August for a 
new contract start on 1st December 2016.  
 
Redevelopment of five employment units, Burke Road, Totnes   
 
Planning permission has now been granted.  Work is being carried 
out on the next stage of the project which is to tender the 
construction of the building. 
  

 
 
Development of eight employment units, Batson Trailer Park, 
Salcombe 
 
A planning application should be submitted by early Spring 2016 
ahead of a joint procurement for construction with Burke Road, 
Totnes (see above). 
 
 
Disabled Facilities Grants  
 
The total number of grants completed in 2014/15 was 133 compared 
to 97 in 12/13 and 106 in 13/14. The Council’s role in funding and 
delivering DFG’s was reported to Overview and Scrutiny on 17 
September 2015 and is being further looked into by a Member led 
Task and Finish Group. The budget for 2015/16 now stands at 
£645,151 following approval to carry forward the underspend of 
£45,151 from the 2014/15 DFG’s budget.  



 
 

 
 

 
The speed of delivery of DFG’s has reduced during the second and 
third quarters of 2015/16 and, whilst demand has not reduced, the 
overall spend by year end may be down on previous years. The effect 
of this will be an increased demand in 2016/17. It is predicted that 
there will be an underspend which will need to be carried forward to 
2016/17. 
 
 
Affordable Housing Update 
 
The table below gives an update on the various affordable housing 
capital budgets and schemes. 
 
Scheme Budget Narrative 

Community Led 
Housing 

£100,000 Community led housing 
initiative was launched in 
April 2014. A change from a 
loan to a grant scheme was 
approved at Executive in 
December 2015.  This was in 
response to concerns raised 
by community groups around 
being able to repay loans 
granted. It is hoped that the 
change will result in positive 
uptake of this initiative.  

Rural Affordable 
Housing 

£400,000 £327,577 spent or committed 
to rural schemes.  
Thurlestone (completed), 
Avondale (completed), 
Slapton (completed) 
Moreleigh and Frogmore (on 
site) Newton Ferrers (on site 
2016). 

Older Persons Housing £500,000 Allocated to Riverside Extra 
Care. Start on site December 
2015.  Completion November 
2017. 

Existing 
Stock/Sustainability 

£100,000 To reduce empty homes and 
make best use of the existing 
housing stock. 

Homeless/Specialist 
Housing 

£50,000 To enable the provision of 
specialist accommodation as 
required.  Funding will be 
allocated as need arises. 



 
 

 
 

Follaton Oak, Totnes £80,000 Currently on site, completion 
summer 2016.  £80,000 
commitment. 

Ivatt Road, 
Dartmouth 

£60,000 Scheme completed. £60,000 
spent. 

Frogmore – Village 
Housing Initiative site 

£25,000 Development commenced on 
this Village Housing Initiative 
site with Hastoe Housing 
Association.  Completion 
summer 2016.  £25,000 
spent. 

 
 
 
It is recognised that there are a wide range of issues in a rapidly 
changing policy environment.  The Council may wish to reassess the 
scope of the Affordable Housing Capital Programme in response to 
the Housing Bill.  There will be an opportunity for the Council to 
refocus the capital programme and a further report will be brought 
back to Members when the national context is clearer. 
 
4. Options available and consideration of risk  

 

This is considered on a project by project basis as part of the project 
appraisal document and initial business case for each capital project. 
 
5.  Proposed Way Forward  

 
This is considered on a project by project basis. 
 
 
6. Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

 Statutory powers are provided by the S1 
Localism Act 2011 general power of 
competence. 
 
The capital programme is implemented in line 
with the Council’s legal requirements, which 
are examined on a project-by-project basis. 
To date there are no undue legal concerns. 
 



 
 

 
 

Since there is commercially sensitive 
information in Appendix A  
regarding the budgets for individual projects, 
there are grounds for the publication of this 
appendix to be restricted, and considered in 
exempt session. The public interest has been 
assessed and it is considered that the public 
interest will be better served by not disclosing 
the information in Appendix A. 
Accordingly this report contains exempt 
Information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 
1972. 

Financial 
 

 The anticipated level of expenditure is within 
the existing budget for the approved capital 
programme as a whole (Appendix A). 
 
Following approval to use the contingency 
budget at Executive in October 2015 the 
balance remaining is £147,000.  
 

Risk  There is a risk that the Capital Programme 
does not meet the Council’s corporate 
priorities in line with the Council’s Asset 
Strategy and the opportunity to assess 
emerging projects, which could contribute to 
the Council’s priorities. The mitigation is that 
there is  a project appraisal for each proposal. 
This is taken into account when assessing 
possible implementation timescales. Complex 
capital programmes have a relatively long 
lead-in period. 
 
 
The Council  demonstrates that capital 
investment contributes to corporate priorities, 
provides value for money and takes account 
of the revenue implications of the investment. 
Regular monitoring of the capital programme 
and consideration of new pressures enables 
Members to control the programme and 
secure appropriate mitigation where problems 
arise. 
 



 
 

 
 

There is regular quarterly monitoring of the 
Capital Programme to Members where any 
cost overruns are identified at an early stage. 
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

 

Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 

Safeguarding 
 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 
 

Community Safety, 
Crime and 
Disorder 
 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 
 

Other implications   
 
 

 
Supporting Information 

 
Appendices: 

 
EXEMPT - Appendix A – Summary of the approved programme plus 
allocated budget 
 
Background Papers: 
 

Capital programme for 2015/16 - Council 12 February 2015 
Capital programme for 2015/16 – Executive 29 January 2015 (66/14 
and E57/14 refer). 
 
Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 
Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 
If exempt information, public (part 1) 
report also drafted.  

Yes 

 









 

 

Report to: Executive  

Date: 4 February 2016 

Title: Heart of the South West Formal Devolution 
Bid – Update report 

Portfolio Area: Strategy and Commissioning 

 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

N/A 

Date next steps can be taken: 
(e.g. referral on of recommendation or 
implementation of substantive decision) 

11 February 2016 

Following full 
Council decision 

Author: Steve Jorden Role: Executive Director 
(Strategy and 

Commissioning) 

Contact: steve.jorden@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Recommendations 
 
That Executive recommend Full Council to: 

 
1. Endorse the Leader’s current approach to devolution and the drafting 

of proposals, their submission and negotiation of  a deal for the 
Heart of the South West, namely: 

 
Working with local authorities, National Parks and the Heart of the 
South West Local Enterprise Partnership to deliver full proposals for 

devolution which will seek a formal agreement with Government on a 
formal devolution deal as set out in Appendix 1 

 
2. Note that full Council will consider and be asked to approve the final 

devolution proposal 

 
3. That should government timescales change, or minor amendments 

become necessary, authority be delegated to the Head of Paid 
Service in consultation with the Leader of the Council to approve the 
final proposal.  



 

 

1. Executive summary  

• Devolution for the Heart of the South West (HotSW) is being led 

by the Leaders of Somerset and Devon County Councils, all 
Somerset and Devon Districts, Torbay Council, Plymouth City 

Council, Dartmoor and Exmoor National Parks, three Clinical 

Commissioning Groups and the Local Enterprise Partnership.  
 

• Our shared Devolution Statement of Intent was submitted to 
Government on 4 September in response to announcements in 

the July Budget and a deadline set by the Chancellor of the 
Exchequer. The Government received 38 bids from cities, towns 

and counties across England. There is strong competition for 
devolution powers and some bids are further advanced than 

HotSW. Nevertheless, the Government has subsequently asked 
us to produce detailed devolution proposals with a view to 

negotiating a formal deal thereafter. 
 

• The process to produce formal proposals is almost complete and 
is being coproduced across the HotSW. This report updates 

Executive on the latest position following a meeting of the HotSW 

Devolution Partnership on Friday 22 January 2016. 
 

• Any final devolution deal with government will be subject to 
further approval / ratification by all partners individually.  
 

2. Background  

 
• The Government has declared its desire to devolve powers and 

budgets from Westminster to local authorities, along Local 
Enterprise Partnership geographies. The Chancellor of the 

Exchequer is particularly interested in devolution as a driver of 
economic growth and reducing reliance on the public purse.  

 
• In general, devolution is expected to support the following areas 

of government policy: 
o Increased productivity 

o Skills and employment 
o Housing 

o Reducing the cost of the public sector 

 
• During August, Heart of the South West Leaders agreed to 

produce a high-level set of ambitions stating our desire to 
negotiate a devolution deal with government where we would 

make improvements to our area in return for increased powers 
and responsibilities.  

 
• The Heart of the South West Devolution Statement of Intent was 

submitted to Government and made public on 4 September 2015. 



 

 

 

• The Government praised our statement of intent for its clarity and 
ambition and asked us to move forward swiftly to produce 

detailed, formal proposals and begin negotiation with them on a 
formal deal.  

 
• Government’s expectation is that we will submit proposals and 

carry out formal negotiation in early 2016. 
 

• Therefore, partners are now working on formal proposals and 
preparing for high-level discussions with Government. 

 
 

3. Outcomes/outputs  
 

The Council has an opportunity to benefit from devolution across a 

wide range of topics and services. Benefits may include increased 
powers over decision-making and funding, leading to decision-

making that more closely reflects local needs, improves services 
and reduces costs.  

 
Devolution has clear links to, and potential to enhance the benefit of 

the Council ‘Our Plan’ strategy and links into the Councils 
transformation programme T18. 

 
These recommendations seek to gain authority to pursue solutions 

that help the Council maximise the opportunities of devolution. They 
do not commit the Council to a formal devolution deal, only to make 

and negotiate on proposals. 
 

At this stage of the process the Council is not required to take 

decisions on the detail of what would be delivered under any 
devolution deal or possible future governance arrangements but 

rather to be actively aware and involved in discussions.  
 

Consultations undertaken 
Despite the Government’s challenging timescales to date, efforts 

have been made to keep Members informed on the development of 
the proposals and this will continue going forward.  

 
Any final devolution deal with government will be subject to: 

• Further approval / ratification by all partners 
• Consultation, as appropriate, before delivery of parts of the 

deal 
 

 

 



 

 

4. Options available and consideration of risk  

 
• Options considered and reasons for rejecting them 

 
Alternative approach 
 

Reason for rejection 

Not to participate There is significant potential 

benefit to South Hams 
through devolution which 

can be explored with 
minimal risk. 

 

To submit proposals based on 

a different geography 

Government has confirmed 

that the preferred geography 
for proposals is based on 

Local Enterprise Partnership 
boundaries.    

 

  
• Failure to secure a deal may affect delivery of the Council’s 

ambitions.  Implications will be addressed as any devolution deal 
is developed and agreed. 

• One or more partners may choose not to proceed with a formal 
bid which could result in the bid floundering. 

• There are not considered to be any other implications at this 
stage however the whole population of our authority could be 

affected by a devolution deal.   

• Any final devolution deal with government will be subject to 
further approval/ratification by all partners, and will require other 

implications and impacts to be considered at that stage. 
 

5.  Proposed Way Forward  
 

Next Steps:  Producing formal devolution proposals  

• A Programme Management Office is overseeing delivery of each 

chapter and maintaining communications between partners. 
Currently this Office is funded through existing resources. It is 

important to note that each partner remains responsible for their 
own governance processes and public/in-house communications. 

 
• Each theme ‘chapter’ will demonstrate a thorough understanding 

of the issues and the difference that devolved powers and 

funding would make, including:   
• A robust evidence base 

• A series of ‘offers’ to government and ‘asks’ from 
government showing: 

– Stretching targets 



 

 

– Demonstrable outcomes for the Heart of the South 

West area 
• Resource requirements including an analysis of costs and 

benefits 
• Impact assessments 

• Proven capacity and capability to deliver 
 

• Work has been undertaken to produce proposals to be submitted 
to Government, including the document ‘Devolution for the Heart 

of the South West – A Prospectus for Productivity’.  This 
document outlines the position and objectives of the Heart of the 

South West Devolution Partnership.  In line with the commitment 
to keep Members informed, this document is attached at 

Appendix A.  
 

• At a meeting of the Devolution Partnership on 22 January 2016, 

partners agreed the papers to take forward the Statement of 
Intent.  Next steps will be agreed, including stakeholder 

engagement.  
 

• Council Members will continue to be kept informed as work 
continues, including through regular updates, Member events 

and informal briefings. 
 

6. Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  

proposal

s  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governan
ce 

 

 None at this stage. Implications will be 
addressed as any devolution deal is developed 

and agreed 
 

HR  None at this stage. Implications will be 

addressed as any devolution deal is developed 
and agreed 

Financial 
 

 Until detailed devolution proposals are 
developed, financial implications can only be 

generalised. They fall into three categories: 
 

1. The Government requires devolution to 
be a fiscally neutral process – power over 

funding may be transferred but no new 

government money will be made available 
except potentially for ‘pump priming’ activity 



 

 

2. There is potential for savings across the 

public sector in the Heart of the South West 
and proposals are being developed with this in 

mind 
3. The Government may however attempt 

to negotiate additional spending by the council 
or other partners as a requirement of one or 

more parts of the final deal 

Risk  As noted in para 4 
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

Equality and 

Diversity 
 

 None at this stage 

Safeguarding 
 

 None at this stage 

Community 

Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 

 None at this stage 

 

Health, Safety 

and Wellbeing 

 None at this stage 

Other 
implications 

 None at this stage 
 

 
 

Supporting Information 
 

Appendices: Devolution for the Heart of the South West – A 
Prospectus for Productivity 

 

Background Papers: 
Statement of Intent – e-mailed to Members on 23 October 2015 

Draft Proposal  
Draft Governance paper 

 
 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) 

report also drafted. (Cabinet/Scrutiny) 

N/A 

 



Devolution
for the Heart of the South West

A Prospectus for Productivity



Contents

03
 The Heart of the 
 South West

04
	 Executive	
 Summary

06
 Our Vision 
 and Goals

08
 National	Context

09
 Local	Context

13
 From six Golden
	 Opportunities	to
	 six	Key	Challenges

16
	 Our	Negotiating
 Prospectus

25
 Foundation	3:
	 Towards	a	Combined
 Authority

26
 Next Steps

27
 Outline Roadmap





4

Executive Summary

I n	September	2015	the	Heart	of	the	South	West	(HotSW)	submitted	
its	devolution	Statement	of	Intent	to	Government.	After	considerable	
further	work	during	autumn	2015,	the	partners	-	17	local	authorities,	

two	National	Parks,	the	Local	Enterprise	Partnership	(LEP)	and	the	three	
Clinical	 Commissioning	Groups	 -	 are	 now	 in	 a	 position	 to	 commence	
detailed	negotiations	with	Government	on	a	devolution	deal.

Government	has	challenged	local	leadership	teams	to	treat	productivity	
as	‘the	challenge	of	our	time’.	They	have	asked	us	to	do	that	by	‘fixing	the	
foundations’	 of	 infrastructure,	 skills,	 and	 science	 through	 a	 devolution	
revolution	delivering	long-term	public	and	private	investment.

Heart	of	the	South	West	productivity	continues	to	 lag	behind	national	
productivity	and	is	currently	under	80%	of	the	UK	average.	To	redress	this	
we	need	more,	better	jobs,	a	healthier,	higher	skilled	labour	market	and	
new	homes	for	our	growing	population.

With	Government	support	for	our	proposition,	by	2030	the	Heart	of	the	
South	West	can	accelerate	delivery	of	163,000	new	jobs,	179,000	new	
homes	and	an	economy	of	over	£53bn	GVA.	To	put	this	in	context,	this	
is	more	growth	over	the	next	fifteen	years	than	Bristol,	Birmingham	and	
Nottingham	(the	three	non-’Powerhouse’	core	cities)	have	delivered	in	the	
last	fifteen.

To	do	this	we	will	exploit	and	deliver	our	Golden	Opportunities	around	
investment	in	nuclear	energy	at	Hinkley,	across	the	peninsula	in	marine,	
aerospace,	advanced	manufacturing	and	environmental	futures.	We	will	
connect	our	 rural	 communities	 to	 these	 transformers	 and	 address	 the	
challenges	of	ageing	and	health-related	worklessness	with	unprecedented

health	and	care	integration.

We	will	take	responsibility	for	fixing	our	foundations.	We	seek	Government’s	
support	 to	 do	 this	 through	 negotiation	 and	 delivery	 of	 a	 far	 reaching	
devolution	deal	for	the	Heart	of	the	South	West.

Our	approach	to	delivering	this	transformation	focuses	on	a	comprehensive	
Productivity	Plan:

For people:• 	 we	 will	 build	 on	 Government’s	 own	 national	
reconfiguration	of	the	skills	system	to	supply	business	with	the	skills	it	
needs	and	a	labour	market	able	to	deliver	productivity	per	job	and	per	
hour	at	‘Greater	South	East’	levels	(outside	Inner	London).	Our	plans	
for	health	and	care	integration	will	support	a	significant	proportion	of	
our	non-working	population	into	work.

For business:• 	 our	 Growth	 Hub	will	 enable	 business	 growth	 and	
internationalisation	following	closure	of	the	national	Business	Growth	
Service.	We	will	augment	this	with	specific	policies	and	initiatives	to	
realise	national	priorities	implicit	in	our	Golden	Opportunities.

For place:• 	we	will	provide	the	 infrastructure	and	housing	required	
and	make	the	Heart	of	the	South	West	investment	ready.	We	also	
recognise	that	much	of	our	growth	will	occur	in	specific	sub-regional	
economic	geographies.	We	will	plan	and	manage	change	 in	these	
sub-regions	to	ensure	their	connectivity	with	each	other,	with	the	
rest	of	the	country	and	globally.	We	will	make	sure	that	rural	areas	
access	and	leverage	these	opportunities	and	build	on	Government’s	
10	point	plan	for	rural	productivity	geographies.	1 

1. The Heart of the South West’s economic transformational opportunities were identified    
 and agreed in our Strategic Economic Plan, March 2014. 



5

Cohesive,	 coherent	 leadership	 and	 governance	 of	 this	 transformation	
is	 crucial.	We	 propose	 to	 establish	 a	 Combined	 Authority	 to	 provide	
leadership,	 supported	 by	 sub-regional	 delivery	mechanisms	 so	 powers	
and	resources	are	deployed	on	the	scale	at	which	our	economy	functions.	
These	arrangements	will	develop	new	ways	of	working	to	address	priority	
issues.

Our	proposals	build	upon	successful	and	strong	business	leadership	through	
our	Local	Enterprise	Partnership:	we	cannot	deliver	effective	economic	
interventions	without	a	strong	business	voice.

If	we	do	not	act,	the	Heart	of	the	South	West	will	not	be	able	to	contribute	
to	the	Government’s	ambition	to	meet	the	national	productivity	challenge	
as	set	out	in	Fixing	the	Foundations.	

This	document	outlines	our	position	and	objectives.	An	early	agreement	on	
heads	of	terms	for	a	devolution	deal	will	trigger	the	start	of	our	governance	
review	and	formulation	of	our	Productivity	Plan.	

New housing across the Heart of the South West

Bridgwater Enterprise and Innovation Centre



6

Our Vision and Goals

G overnment	recognises	that	fixing	the	foundations	and	devolution	
are	the	projects	of	a	generation.	Our	key	challenges	are:

An	insufficiently	skilled	workforce	and	limited	pool	of	available	labour:	•	
many	young	people	move	away	to	live	and	work,	rather	than	stay	or	
move	into	our	area.

A	need	for	more	infrastructure	to	support	our	existing	businesses	and	•	
workers	and	to	attract	new	ones.	We	need	better	and	more	resilient	
infrastructure:	roads,	railways,	broadband	and	housing.

Enabling	 a	 more	 effective,	 far-reaching	 support	 environment	 for	•	
businesses	to	sustain	those	we	already	have	and	make	the	area	more	
attractive	to	inward	investment	and	home-grown	entrepreneurs.

Managing	the	significant	and	increasing	cost	of	health	and	social	care,	•	
which	combined	with	our	ageing	population	threatens	the	viability	of	
public	services	unless	radical	reforms	are	completed.

Productivity-led	growth	in	the	Heart	of	the	South	West	will	have	three	
dimensions:

People:• 	who	are	healthy,	with	the	skills	they	need	to	access	higher	
value	jobs	and	grow	their	careers.

Business:  • more	 businesses	 creating	 new	 jobs	 and	 increasing	
productivity.

Place:  • sustainable	 growth	 across	 the	 geography,	 supported	 by	
modern	infrastructure	and	accelerated	housing	delivery.
 

We	signalled	our	intention	to	meet	these	challenges	with	our	Statement	of	
Intent.	The	submission	of	this	more	detailed	proposition	shows	how	serious	
our	intent	is.	We	believe	the	proposals	we	have	committed	to	developing	
will	realise	our	local	ambitions	and	make	decisive,	important	contributions	
to	Government’s	national	priorities.

With	Government	support	for	our	proposals	we	will	redress	our	productivity	
gap	and	help	us	manage	demographic	challenges	more	effectively.	Key	
outcomes	we	will	achieve	by	2030	include:

£4bn	additional	in	GVA	for	the	UK	economy.•	
163,000	new	jobs.•	
Infrastructure	that	supports	our	ambitious	plans.•	
179,000	 more	 homes,	 and	 accelerated	 delivery	 in	 major	 growth	•	
points.
Wage	levels	higher	than	the	national	average.•	
Additional	tax	revenue	for	the	Treasury	of	£113million	per	year.•	
Apprenticeship	starts	increased	by	400%.•	
Every	young	person	in	education,	employment	or	training.•	
£1bn	per	year	welfare	benefits	savings	as	more	people	enter		•	
employment.
60%	of	our	workforce	qualified	to	NVQ	level	4	or	above.•	
Faster	more	reliable	rail	services	with	greater	capacity.•	
Faster	and	more	reliable	journey	times	on	our	road	network,	with	less	•	
congestion.		
100%	superfast	broadband	coverage.	•	



7

The	Heart	of	the	South	West	has	a	strong	track	record	of	delivering	in	
partnership	for	residents	and	businesses:

Securing	and	supporting	major	national	and	international	investment	•	
in	the	future	of	the	nuclear	industry	at	Hinkley	Point.	
Plymouth	and	South	West	Peninsula	City	Deal.•	
A	total	of	£195.5m	secured	through	Growth	Deals	–	including	the	•	
highest	Growth	Deal	2	settlement	of	any	LEP	area	in	the	country	–	to	
deliver	a	comprehensive	programme	of	projects	in	pursuit	of	growth.
Exeter	University,	Science	Park,	 Innovation	Centre	and	 Innovation	•	
Zone.
Connecting	Devon	and	Somerset	superfast	broadband.•	
Three	 Enterprise	 Zones:	 South	 Yard	 in	 Plymouth	 to	 support	•	
innovation	and	growth	 in	marine	 industries,	Huntspill	Energy	Park	
near	 Bridgwater	 to	 support	 the	 growth	 of	 a	 new	 nuclear	 cluster	
catalysed	by	investment	in	Hinkley	and	east	of	Exeter	sites	aligned	to	
opportunities	in	environmental	sciences	and	big	data.	
Delivery	of	Plymouth	Science	Park	by	Plymouth	City	Council	and	•	
Plymouth	 University,	 now	 entering	 phase	 5,	 creating	 the	 largest	
science	park	in	the	south	of	England.	
Better,	more	reliable	roads,	including	major	improvements	to	A303,	•	
A358,	A30	corridor,	M5	Junctions	and	A361	North	Devon	Link.
The	Peninsula	Rail	Task	Force.•	
Connecting	communities	in	rural	areas.•	
Exeter	and	East	Devon	Growth	Point.	•	
A	high	quality	and	thriving	Further	Education	Sector.•	
Health	 and	 social	 care	 initiatives	 including	 Somerset’s	 ‘Symphony’	•	
Vanguard	project,	Exeter	‘ICE’,	Torbay’s	Integrated	Care	Organisation	
and	‘One	System	One	Budget’	in	Plymouth.	

We	can	scale	up	and	build	on	these	experiences.	However,	without	the	
comprehensive	 framework	 that	 our	 governance	 proposals	 will	 deliver,	
the	Heart	of	the	South	West	and	national	Government	will	miss	out	on	
the	 solutions,	 linkages,	 and	effectiveness	 that	 collective	 leadership	can	
achieve.	

A	Heart	of	the	South	West	devolution	agreement	with	robust	governance	
structures,	accelerated	delivery,	and	more	focused	use	of	scarce	resources	
is	the	optimal	way	for	Government	to	assure	itself	that	the	national	Fixing	
the	Foundations	plan	is	being	proactively	and	consistently	led	and	delivered	
across	the	Heart	of	the	South	West.		

In	this	prospectus	we	set	out	our	goals	for	2016-2030	and	how	we	will	
deliver	 the	 long-term	 and	 evolutionary	 work	 required	 to	 achieve	 our	
devolution	revolution.
  

FlyBe Academy



8

National Context

G overnment	set	out	its	long-term	ambitions	for	the	UK	economy	in	
‘Fixing	the	Foundations’,	its	productivity	plan	for	2015-2020.	This	
framework	outlined	how	long-term	investment	and	a	dynamic	

economy	could	raise	productivity	and	lift	living	standards.	Government’s	
invitation	to	areas	to	propose	ways	that	devolution	could	contribute	to	this	
agenda	led	to	our	Statement	of	Intent	being	submitted	on	4th	September	
2015.

With	 policy	 developments	 in	 the	 autumn,	 and	 the	 Spending	 Review,	
Government	has	firmed	up	the	financial	intentions	behind	the	productivity	
plan.	In	terms	of	local	contributions	leadership	teams	need	to	deliver	an	
extensive	portfolio	of	reforms:

In	 skills	 and	 employment,	 2016-20	will	 see	major	 reforms	of	 the	•	
post-16	and	adult	skills	systems	(both	of	colleges	and	providers	on	
the	supply	side,	and	of	loans	for	learners	on	the	demand	side).	Post-
16	Area	Reviews	and	introduction	of	the	Apprenticeship	Levy	offer	
opportunities	to	transform	the	delivery	of	local	labour	market	skills,	
however	the	demands	of	transition	may	be	acute.

Physical	investment	will	need	to	be	managed	in	the	context	of	higher	•	
performance	expectations	for	planning	regimes,	new	approaches	to	
housing	 supply	 (especially	 starter	 home	 ownership)	 and	 proactive	
asset	management	at	a	public	estate	as	well	as	local	authority	level.	
Local	 leadership	 teams	will	 also	 need	 to	 play	 into	 the	 revision	 of	
the	National	Infrastructure	Plan	with	new	commitments	to	flagship	
schemes	like	HS2	and	nuclear	energy.

As	 the	 national	 Business	Growth	 Service	 closes	 by	March	 2016,	•	
new	pressures	will	be	placed	on	emerging	local	Growth	Hubs.	For	
innovation,	local	and	regional	Science	and	Innovation	Audits	will	seek	
to	shape	national	priorities	as	Research	Councils	and	Innovate	UK	
come	together	in	Research	UK	with	a	range	of	new	products.
 
These	agendas,	and	others,	need	to	be	delivered	without	diverting	•	
attention	 from	 existing	 commitments.	 These	 include	 City	 Deals,	
local	Growth	Deals,	the	European	Structural	and	Investment	Fund	
programmes,	 and	other	 legacy	programmes,	 such	as	 the	Regional	
Growth	Fund,	Growing	Places	Fund,	existing	and	newly	announced	
Enterprise	Zones.

These	agendas	sit	alongside,	and	will	be	enabled	by,	devolution	and	fiscal	
reforms	and	managed	in	the	context	of	continued	public	sector	expenditure	
constraint.

The	challenge	for	the	Heart	of	the	South	West	is	to	shape	these	national	
priorities	to	our	unique	circumstances.	We	have	drawn	on	our	Strategic	
Economic	Plan	to	describe	the	causes	of	our	productivity	challenge,	identify	
our	key	Golden	Opportunities	and	understand	how	to	build	on	our	track	
record	of	success.

Hinkley Point C, Somerset



9

T he	 Heart	 of	 the	 South	West	 covers	 most	 of	 the	 south	west	
peninsula.	 Its	1.7	million	residents	 live	 in	a	mixture	of	rural	and	
urban	settings	served	by	a	stunning	natural	environment	and	rich	

cultural	heritage.	

Most	of	our	businesses	are	small	and	medium	sized	enterprises	 (SME)	
employing	fewer	than	five	people,	providing	excellent	potential	for	growth	
and	 innovation.	We	 are	 also	 home	 to	 cutting	 edge	 engineering	 and	
manufacturing	industries	including	companies	of	global	significance:

Aerospace	 and	 advanced	 engineering	 industries	 employ	 more	•	
than	23,000	people	and	contribute	over	£1billion	to	the	economy.	
Businesses	 in	 the	 area	 also	 have	 specialisms	 in	 advanced	
electronics/photonics,	medical	science	and	wireless	and	microwave	
technologies.

Analysis	 of	 the	 comparative	 advantages	 of	 our	 local	 assets	 has	•	
identified	that	the	Exeter	City	Region	can	make	a	unique	contribution	
by	becoming	a	globally	recognised	centre	of	excellence	in	weather	
and	environment-related	data	analytics.	Exeter	is	home	to	the	Met	
Office,	 the	 city	 leads	Europe	 in	 combined	 environmental	 science,	
data	and	computational	 infrastructure,	hosting	400	 researchers	 in	
environmental	and	sustainability	science.	From	2017,	it	will	also	host	
the	most	powerful	supercomputer	in	Europe.

•	 The	first	of	 the	UK’s	new	generation	of	nuclear	 reactors	being	
constructed	at	Hinkley	Point	will	deliver	substantial	economic	
benefits	across	the	south	west.	It	is	part	of	our	growing	low	carbon	
and	energy	sector	and	offers	£50billion	worth	of	business	
opportunity	in	the	nuclear	sector	within	a	75-mile	radius	of	
Hinkley	Point.

•	We	 are	 a	 global	 centre	 of	 excellence	 for	 marine	 science	 and	
technology,	including	Plymouth	University’s	Marine	Institute	and	the	
Plymouth	Marine	Laboratory.

•	 There	are	30	working	fishing	ports	across	the	Heart	of	the	South	
West,	including	the	two	largest	fishery	landings	in	England	at	Brixham	
and	Plymouth.

•	 The	South	West	Marine	Energy	Park,	 the	country’s	first,	serves	
the	wider	south	west	peninsula,	and	offers	direct	access	to	superb	
physical	assets	and	resources	including	the	north	Devon	and	north	
Somerset	marine	energy	coasts	for	opportunities	in	wind,	tidal	and	
nuclear	energy.

Our	mixed	economy	also	serves	our	traditional	strengths.	Our	tourist	and	
visitor	economy	attracts	millions	of	visitors	per	year	and	our	food	and	drink	
sector	has	a	significant	impact	on	national	GVA	(4.2%	in	2011).	

Whilst	our	largest	employment	sectors	remain	public	administration,	health	
and	education,	our	Local	Enterprise	Partnership’s	Strategic	Economic	Plan	
recognises	our	area	as	having	‘New	World’	potential	if	opportunities	can	be	
capitalised	upon	and	the	right	conditions	for	growth	created.	

Local Context



10

Golden Opportunities

We	have	identified	six	Golden	Opportunities	that	we	will	use	to	drive	productivity	and	economic	growth	whilst	continuing	to	support	our	diverse	economy	
and	taking	advantage	of	new	opportunities	as	they	emerge.



11



12



13

From six Golden Opportunities to six Key Challenges

R ealising	our	vision,	goals	and	targets	requires	us	to	address	and	solve	
six	major,	interrelated	economic	and	societal	challenges:

1. Our productivity is too low and growing too slowly

Whilst	not	uniform	across	the	area,	in	2013	our	productivity	per	job	
filled	was	below	80%	of	UK	averages,	a	fall	of	around	3%	over	the	last	
decade.	Our	forecasts	suggest	that	unless	we	unlock	our	emerging	
transformational	opportunities	our	productivity	will	continue	to	lag	
behind	the	rest	of	the	UK.

This	 performance	 is	 a	 manifestation	 of	 poor	 comparative	 skills	
levels,	labour	market	shortages,	insufficient	infrastructure,	and	poor	
connectivity,	 the	 human	 and	 financial	 cost	 of	 ill-health,	 a	 lack	 of	
joined-up	support	for	business	and	need	for	higher	value	industrial	
densities.

2. Our labour market is limited in size and skills levels 

A	key	factor	in	our	low	productivity	is	a	shortage	of	workers	and	a	shortage	
of	skills.	Low	unemployment	means	businesses	have	a	limited	labour	pool	
from	which	to	draw	recruits.		Higher	level	skills	attainment	is	below	national	
averages	and	out-migration	of	our	talent	to	London	and	other	metropolitan	
centres	 means	 that	 employers	 regularly	 report	 labour	 shortages	 and	
recruitment	difficulties.

3. Our enterprise and innovation performance is inconsistent and needs 
to improve 

Evidence	shows	that	businesses	that	take	up	support	do	better	than	those	
who	 don’t.	 However,	 the	 business	 support	 landscape	 is	 complex	 and	
confusing	and	short-term	Government	funding	for	programmes	creates	
uncertainty.	 The	Heart	 of	 the	 South	West	 ranks	 38th	 out	 of	 39	 LEP	
areas	on	many	measures	of	innovation	including	patent	registrations	and	
Innovate	UK	funding.			We	cannot	resolve	these	science	and	innovation	
issues	 without	 more	 highly	 skilled	 workers	 and	 a	 stronger	 innovation	
environment,	particularly	around	our	Golden	Opportunities.

 26,000  

 30,000  

 34,000  

 38,000  

 42,000  

 46,000  

 50,000  

20
02

 
20

03
 
20

04
 
20

05
 
20

06
 
20

07
 
20

08
 
20

09
 
20

10
 
20

11
 
20

12
 
20

13
 

G
VA

 p
er

 fi
lle

d 
jo

b 
(£

) 

The Heart of the South West Productivity 
Challenge 

United Kingdom Heart of the South West 



14

A	 healthier	 population	means	 lower	 public	 sector	 costs	 and	 increased	
economic	activity.	To	fill	163,000	more	jobs	we	must	engage	the	non-
working	population	in	the	labour	market	which	will	require	a	significant	
health	and	care	contribution.	

Employment	of	people	with	physical	disabilities,	learning	disabilities,	mental	
health	issues	and	other	long-term	conditions	is	strongly	correlated	with	
their	 achieving	 better	 outcomes	 and	being	 less	 dependent	 on	publicly	
funded	health	and	care	services.	This	represents	considerable	productive	
potential.

4. We are a leader in facing the challenges of an ageing population 

Our	population	profile	shows	a	significant	increase	in	the	proportion	of	our	
residents	aged	65	or	over	and	a	corresponding	decrease	in	the	proportion	
of	working	age	people	under	45.	By	2036,	17%	of	our	population	–	more	
than	327,000	people	–	will	be	over	75	years	of	age.

0 
1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

0-4
 

5-9
 

10
-14

 

15
-19

 

20
-24

 

25
-29

 

30
-34

 

35
-39

 

40
-44

 

45
-49

 

50
-54

 

55
-59

 

60
-64

 

65
-69

 

70
-74

 

75
-79

 

80
-84

 
85

+ 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f H
ot

SW
 P

op
ul

at
io

n 

Age Group 

!"#$%#&'($)*$("#$+),("$-#.($/)0,1&2)3$4"&11#35#$

1986 
2016 
2036 

5. We are a leader in facing the challenges of health and care 
integration

Particularly	related	to	our	demography,	our	health	and	care	system	needs	
to	be	reshaped	to	meet	social,	economic	and	financial	pressures.	Our	area	
performs	poorly	for	mental	health	outcomes	when	compared	to	national	
figures,	making	this	a	key	priority.	

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 

Economically inactive: other 

Economically inactive: long-term sick or disabled 

Economically inactive: looking after home or family 

Economically inactive: student 

Economically inactive: retired 

Economically inactive: total 

Economically inactive:unemployed: total 

Economically active: in employment: total 

Economically active: total 

All persons 16 and over 

Heart of the South West Economic Activity by General Health 

Very good or good health Fair health Bad or very bad health 



15

6. Our infrastructure and connectivity needs to be modernised and 
more resilient 

More	infrastructure	especially	housing,	transport	links,	broadband,	mobile	
connectivity	and	energy	grid	improvements	are	required	to	make	our	area	
more	attractive	 to	 investors	and	viable	 for	 the	 future.	 Improving	 these	
conditions	are	key	to	giving	businesses	in	our	area	the	tools	they	need	
to	 compete	 in	 global	markets,	 attract	 future	 entrepreneurs	 and	 secure	
investment.	We	must	overcome	these	barriers	if	we	are	to	capitalise	on	our	
transformational	opportunities.

Fixing the Heart of the South West and our contribution to fixing the 
national foundations

The	current	landscape	of	funding	and	decision-making	has	only	taken	us	
so	far.	Despite	our	achievements	to	date	we	need	freedom	to	act	more	
decisively.	A	devolution	agreement	means	we	can	take	responsibility	for	
our	unique	challenges	and	capitalise	on	our	Golden	Opportunities.	

The	dividend	for	the	National	Productivity	Plan	is	considerable.	Besides	the	
specific	metrics	identified	in	our	goals,	the	UK	will	benefit	from	global	and	
national	energy	investments	and	security,	environmental	futures	and	big	
data	capabilities,	an	at-scale	set	of	solutions	to	health	and	care	integration	
and	public	service	reforms.

This	negotiating	prospectus	lays	out	the	heads	of	terms	of	an	agreement	
to	create	the	foundations	for	a	transformational	jump	in	productivity.	It	will	
deliver	quick	wins	this	decade	whilst	planning	for	the	medium	and	long-
term.	

 
 

  Design & Access Statement 

Perspective of South Elevation 

Met Office, Exeter

Fingle Bridge, Devon

Improvements	by	Rail



16

W           e	wish	to	agree	with	Government	a	shared	commitment	to	building	three	pillars	of	a	devolution	deal	for	the	Heart	of	the	
South	West.

 
Foundation 1: The Productivity Plan

The	Productivity	Plan	will	be	our	instrument	for	fixing	our	foundations.	It	
will	incorporate	the	refresh	of	our	Strategic	Economic	Plan	and	scale	up	
local	growth	agendas	 for	2016-20	 incorporating	Spending	Review	and	
public	service	reform	priorities.	It	will	include	proposals	for	our	Strategic	
Labour	Market	Plan	and	Strategic	Infrastructure	Plan.	It	will	also	reflect	our	
ambitions	for	integration	of	health	and	social	care	where	they	link	to	our	
devolution	deal.

 

Our negotiating prospectus
Foundation 2: The Single Investment Framework

The	Single	Investment	Framework	will	set	the	financial	parameters	of	our	
agreement	and	encompass	devolved	funds	and	locally	aligned	resources.	
It	is	likely	to	include:

A	single	 infrastructure	fund	to	provide	the	physical	 investment	for	1.	
backbone,	nationally-significant	infrastructure.
A	 housing	 delivery	 instrument	 to	 accelerate	 housing	 delivery	 by	2.	
unlocking	key	sites	and	stimulating	market	activity.
Skills	and	employment	allocations	to	enable	remodelling	of	the	skills	3.	
and	employment	landscape.
Devolved	health	and	care	budgets	delivering	agreed	business	cases	4.	
with	NHS	England	and	other	partners.

We	believe	agreement	to	formulate	these	two	foundations	will	enable	early	
delivery	of	accelerated	housing	development,	skills	reform,	and	improved	
business	support,	with	health	and	social	care	 reform	and	 infrastructure	
development	taking	place	in	parallel.

These	 two	 foundations	will	 be	 overseen	 and	 assured	 by	 a	Combined	
Authority	arrangement.	This	will,	once	established,	provide	the	Heart	of	the	
South	West	counterpart	to	Government	for	planning	and	management	of	
our	devolution	deal.	It	will	take	responsibility	for	the	powers,	resources	and	
deliverables	outlined	below.



17

People

A highly skilled, high productivity labour market meeting businesses’ 
employment priorities

We	are	clear	that	without	proactive	leadership	and	intervention	our	skills	
profile	will	remain	a	chronic	block	to	fixing	our	foundations	and	delivering	
our	vision.

We	intend	to	use	national	reforms,	 led	and	shaped	 locally,	 to	deliver	a	
labour	market	 capable	 of	 achieving	 productivity	 at	Greater	 South	East	
levels	(excluding	the	distorting	effect	of	Inner	London).

Government’s	expectations	of	local	leadership	teams	for	2016-20	as	laid	
out	 in	existing	devolution	agreements,	the	2015	Spending	Review	and	
other	policies	include:

Planning	and	management	of	phased	devolution	of	post-19	public	•	
sector	adult	skills	budgets,	leading	to	full	commissioning	and	funding	
of	providers	from	2018-19.

Chairing	 and	 facilitation	 of	 successful	 Area	 Reviews	 of	 post-16	•	
education	and	training,	implementation	of	review	recommendations	
including	reshaping	provision	where	required.

Co-design	of	apprenticeship	 reforms	 including	 introduction	of	 the	•	
levy	and	deployment	of	Apprenticeship	Grant	for	Employers.

Co-design	of	 future	employment	support	programmes	with	DWP	•	
and	performance	management	regimes.

The	 	 Combined	 Authority	 will	 take	 responsibility	 for	 delivering	 these	
agendas,	augmented	by	specific	asks	around:

Specification	 and	 delivery	 management	 of	 Careers,	 Education	•	
Information,	Advice	and	Guidance	in	schools	and	colleges.

Support	from	Government	to	deliver	a	wider	Higher	Education	offer	•	
for	Somerset,	including	a	new	university.

Our Offer Our ask of Government

Responsibility	 for	 reshaping	 the	
skills	 and	 employment	 system.	
Delivered	 through	 formulation,	
agreement,	resourcing	and	delivery	
management	 of	 a	 business-led	
Strategic Labour Market Plan.

Full	devolution	of	powers	 to	 the	
Combined	Authority,	phased	over	
a	number	of	years,	with	 relevant	
skills,	education	and	employment	
budgets	into	the	Single	Investment	
Framework.

Government	 departments	 and	
agencies	 to	 co-design	 and	 co-
deliver	 the	 Strategic	 Labour	
Market	Plan.



18

Why is this important?

Our	analysis	has	shown:

Young	people	are	not	getting	the	independent,	quality	careers	and	•	
education	advice	and	guidance	to	help	them	make	informed	decisions	
on	their	education	and	training.

Employer	productivity	improvements	are	held	back	by	shortages	and	•	
lack	of	skills	in	local	labour	markets.

The	national	provider	 system	 is	poor	at	 anticipating	and	securing	•	
future	skills	needs.

Support	for	the	workless	is	ineffective	for	those	furthest	from	the	•	
labour	market.	Our	evidence	shows	a	distinct	 lack	of	progress	 for	
those	in	receipt	of	Employment	Support	Allowance	despite	significant	
investment	and	reform.

Key outcomes

With	 the	powers	and	 funding	outlined	above	we	believe	a	devolution	
deal	will	allow	us	to	deliver	the	skilled	workforce	our	productivity	ambition	
requires.	We	will	work	with	Government	to	design	system	reforms	that	
deliver:

40,000	people	helped	to	move	from	benefits	into	paid	work.•	

Benefit	bill	savings	to	Government	of	£1bn	per	year.•	

Additional	money	earnings	locally	per	year	of	£800m.•	

Additional	tax	income	for	Government	of	£113m	per	year.•	

All	young	people	in	employment,	education	or	training.•	

Apprenticeship	 starts	 increased	 by	 400%	 and	 aligned	 to	 our	 six	•	

Golden	Opportunities.

Parity	of	esteem	between	vocational	and	academic	pathways.•	

Maximised	links	between	Golden	Opportunities	and	skills	development	•	

to	encourage	young	people	into	our	area’s	high	tech	industries.

A	university	for	Somerset.•	

Babcock Training



19

A national demonstrator of effective health and care integration for 
improved wellbeing

The	Heart	of	the	South	West	already	has	well	established	and	innovative	local 
approaches	to	health	and	care	integration,	however	our	system	continues	
to	be	under	demographic	pressure.	We	now	have	an	opportunity	to	bring	
together	resources	across	the	public	sector	to	deliver	the	systemic	reform	
needed	by	the	health	and	care	system	and	through	strong	local	leadership	
can	engage	communities	and	voluntary	sector	in	that	enterprise.	We	want	
to	create	a	system	where	prevention	and	early	intervention	are	an	integral	
part	and	which	rethinks	its	approach	to	mental	health	and	wellbeing.	In	
summary:

Our Key Offer Our ask of government

Building	 on	 the	 NHS	 5-Year	
Forward	 View,	 we	 will	 deliver	 a	
‘whole	system’	approach	to	health	
and	care.

Devolution	of	5-year	place-
based	 population	 budgets	
for	 health,	 care,	 and	public	
health

This will include:
Devolved	commissioning	of	primary	and	associated	specialist	
care	services	including	mental	health.
Flexibility	in	regulation	and	budgeting,	including	freedom	for	
partners	to	pool	resources.
Greater	emphasis	on	public	health	and	the	link	between	health	
and	housing.
Capitation-based	payments.
Support	to	address	skills	shortages.

Why is this important?

We	want	people	to	lead	longer,	healthier,	more	productive	and	fulfilling	
lives	while	ensuring	the	sustainability	of	our	health	and	care	services.

Health	outcomes	are	generally	good	and	life	expectancy	is	high,	but	too	
many	people	develop	avoidable	long-term	multiple	conditions	which	affect	
both	the	quality	of	their	lives	and	their	ability	to	work.		People	with	mental	
health	conditions	are	in	too	many	cases	poorly	served	by	a	fragmented	
system	in	which	there	is	no	effective	link	between	preventive,	primary	care	
and	acute	services.

Health	and	care	is	the	second	largest	sector	in	our	economy	but	productivity	
lags	behind	other	areas	and	there	are	workforce	and	skills	shortages	which	
affect	both	the	quality	and	cost	of	provision.		These	issues	can	only	be	
tackled	through	whole-system	reform	and	a	closer	matching	of	strategy	
and	resources	to	local	need.

Our	ageing	population	demography	is	ahead	of	many	other	areas	meaning	
we	have	an	opportunity	to	lead	the	way	in	tackling	the	associated	health,	
care	and	economic	challenges.



20

Key outcomes

Devolution	will	help	us	create	a	health	and	care	system	that	supports	a	
healthier	population,	greater	personal	 independence	and	wellbeing,	and	
improved	workforce	productivity:

Better	physical	and	mental	health	outcomes.•	
A	system		that	is	integrated	and	financially	sustainable,	offering	a	whole	•	
system	approach,	and	is	a	test-bed	for	Government	innovation.
People	of	all	ages	encouraged	and	supported	to	make	healthy	lifestyle	•	
choices	and	manage	their	own	care,	therefore	diverting	or	delaying	

dependency.

Devolution	 offers	 the	 potential	 for	 us	 to	 go	 further,	 faster,	 and	 bring	
reform	initiatives	together	at	a	scale	and	with	a	scope	that	can	provide	
a	demonstrator	(given	our	advanced	demographic	profiles)	to	health	and	
care	reforms	in	other	parts	of	the	country:

The	NHS	5-year	Forward	View	and	 the	 requirement	on	areas	 to	•	
develop	transformation	plans	for	local	areas.
The	 financial	 settlement	 for	 local	 government,	 including	 the	•	
requirement	to	submit	integration	plans	by	2017.
Changing	Better	Care	Fund	guidance	and	the	option	to	work	across	•	
local	authority	areas	to	plan	and	deliver	it.
The	‘Success	Regime’	applying	to	NEW	Devon	Clinical	Commissioning	•	
Group	 and	 its	 impact	 on,	 and	 learning	 for,	 other	 health	 and	 care	
economies.

Improved heath care and wellbeing.



21

Business growth and innovation

Government	expectations	of	local	leadership	teams	for	2016-20	includes 
sustaining	and	developing	support	for	business	growth	after	closure	of	the	
Business	Growth	Service,	as	well	as	enabling	distinctive	contributions	to	
national	research	and	innovation-led	growth	priorities.	For	us	this	means	
scaling	up	the	reach	and	impact	of	our	Growth	Hub	and	realising	the	full	
potential	of	our	Golden	Opportunities.

To	deliver	 this	Heart	of	 the	South	West	partners	already	have	primary	
responsibilities	for:

Operation	and	performance	management	of	the	Growth	Hub	and	•	
shaping	of	national	agency	(eg	UKTI)	access	and	support	to	Heart	of	
the	South	West	business.

Strengthening	the	coherence	and	effectiveness	of	local	innovation	•	
eco-systems	around	our	Golden	Opportunities	-	notably	the	marine	
cluster	 anchored	 by	 Plymouth,	 the	 environmental	 futures	 cluster	
anchored	by	Met	Office	investments	in	Exeter,	the	UK	Hydrographic	
Office’s	 long-term	 commitment	 to	 Taunton,	 the	 nuclear	 cluster	
catalysed	by	Hinkley	Point	C,	and	the	broader	South	West	aerospace	
cluster	with	its	major	growth	node	in	South	Somerset.

Our	skills	and	infrastructure	proposals	provide	a	number	of	interventions	
to	address	these	challenges.	These	will	feed	into	and	through	the	Growth	
Hub	so	our	business	growth	and	innovation	strand,	in	summary,	will:

Our Key Offer Our ask of Government

Scale	up	and	assure	a	Growth	Hub	
providing	a	seamless	approach	to	
business	growth	support.

Strengthen	a	network	and	cluster	
of	 ‘innovation	 eco-systems’	
anchored	by	each	of	our	Golden	
Opportunities

An	increased	devolved	
revenue	pot	for	at	least	
5	years	which	can	draw	
if	required	on	the	Single	
Investment	Framework.	

Co-commissioning	of	
all	remaining	national	
business	growth	and	
internationalisation	
services.

Commitment	to	bespoke	
agreements	with	national	
agencies	to	realise	the	
UK	and	local	growth	
dividends	of	each	of	the	
Golden	Opportunities	-	
underpinned	by	an	early	
Science	and	Innovation	
Audit	undertaken	by	a	
consortium	of	south	west	
LEPs	and	universities.

This strand will include:	Collaboration	with	neighbouring	LEPs	
on	a	cluster	approach	to	inward	investment.



22

Why is this important?

Discharge	of	these	primary	responsibilities	is	impeded	by	national	pressures	
which	manifest	themselves	locally.	Analysis	shows:

SMEs	and	early	stage	entrepreneurs	find	national	and	local	systems	•	
fragmented,	 opaque	 and	 bureaucratic.	 This	 leads	 to	 low	 rates	 of	
business	 growth	 support	 take-up	 and	 entrepreneurial/start-up	
activity.

Inward	 investment,	 internationalisation	 and	 trade,	 and	 our	 visitor	•	
economy	are	held	back	because	the	South	West	is	perceived	to	be	
a	distant	periphery.	Offers	are	poorly	joined-up	and	we	have	a	low	
national	profile,	and	are	a	low	priority	for	UKTI,	VisitEngland	and	other	
agencies.

National	 science	 and	 innovation	 products	 and	 services	 are	 not	•	
accessed	consistently	by	existing	business.	Furthermore	our	national	
offer	is	not	investment-ready	so	cannot	easily	take	advantage	of	the	
potential	of	our	Golden	Opportunities.	

We	need	more	certainty	of	investment	and	freedom	from	national	funding	
cycles	so	we	can	operate	our	proposed	Single	Investment	Framework	and	
ensure	the	right	interventions	are	made	at	the	right	time	to	support	our	
economic	opportunities.

Key outcomes

Our	Golden	Opportunities	and	distinctive	assets	have	the	potential	to	

release	major	 productivity	 gains	 for	 us	 and	 for	 the	 national	 economy.	
Business	support	devolution	will	drive	productivity	through:

More	businesses	taking	up	the	support	they	need.•	
	 ·	20%	of	business	stock	informed	about	business	support
	 ·	3,000	businesses	supported
	 ·	750	business	accounts	managed
	 ·	10	Operational	Level	Agreements	signed	between	business	
							support	delivery	partners
	 ·	360	businesses	receiving	intensive	support
	 ·	36	events	to	co-ordinate	network	businesses	support	delivering	 
							with	the	aim	to	simplify	business	support	customer	journey

Significantly	increased	levels	of	inward	investment.•	

Heart	of	the	South	West	businesses	competing	strongly	in	the	global	•	
economy.

Better	engagement	with	business	and	an	entrepreneurial	culture.•	

Double	the	number	of	international	tourists	to	the	Heart	of	the	South	•	
West	and	more	national	tourists.

Greater	 levels	of	 science	 and	 innovation	 in	our	 economy:	double	•	
the	 uptake	 of	 Innovate	 UK	 support,	 and	 increased	 research	 and	
development.



23

Place

Government	 expectations	 of	 local	 leadership	 teams	 over	 2016-20	
include:

Adoption	 and	 implementation	 of	 Local	 Plans	 with	 demonstrable	•	
collaboration	 across	 functional	 economic	 areas	 to	 drive	 physical	
investment.

A	 performance	 regime	 that	 accelerates	 housing	 and	 employment	•	
growth.	

Devolved	 local	 	 transport	 	 	 budgets	 	 and	 plans	 including	 both	•	
development	and	regulatory	functions,	to	improve	system	performance	
locally	 and	 add	 value	 to	 national	 infrastructure	 investments	 and	
programmes.	

Contributions	 to	 specific	 national	 and	 pan-regional	 infrastructure	•	
priorities,	 including	 Hinkley	 	 energy	 	 	 agreements	 	 	 	 and			
recommendations	of	the	Peninsula	Rail	Task	Group.

Proactive	delivery	management	of	Starter	Homes,	housing	investment	•	
pots	and	local	authority	contributions	to	new	housing.

Completion	 of	 backbone	 superfast	 broadband	 infrastructure	 and	•	
increasing	take-up	to	support	the	digital	economy	and	wellbeing.	

Local	authority	and	other	public	sector	land	disposal,	development	•	
and	rationalisation	strategies.	

Our	 proposals	will	 enable	 us	 to	 take	 responsibility	 for	 delivering	 these	
agendas,	including,	in	summary:

Our Key Offer Our ask of Government

Establishment	of	an	Infrastructure	
Commission	 to	 formulate	 a	 new	
Strategic	 Infrastructure	Plan	with	
implementation	 overseen	 by	 the	
Combined	Authority.

Support	 to	 develop,	 fund	
and	 deliver	 the	 Strategic	
Infrastructure	Plan.

A commitment to create a 
flexible	 funding	 model	 to	
support	accelerated	housing	
delivery,	 targeting	 locally	
identified	growth	areas.

This will include Government commitments to:
Existing	and	new	infrastructure	development,	including	the	•	
A361	 North	 Devon	 Link,	 A303/A358/A30	 improvements	
and	Peninsula	Rail	Task	Force	20-year	plan.	

Match	funding	and	co-production	to	deliver	100%	superfast	•	
broadband	coverage

Use	the	two	National	Parks	as	test	beds	for	integrated	land	•	
management	and	rural	productivity.		

Inclusion	 of	 Plymouth	 on	 the	 Strategic	 National	 Corridor	•	
network.



24

This will include Government commitments to:
Devolved	Air	Passenger	Duty	from	Exeter	Airport.•	

Support	 to	 develop	 and	 sustain	 new	 energy	 initiatives	•	
including	wind,	sub-sea	and	grid	improvements.

A	National	Policy	Statement	for	renewable	energy	generation	•	
in	the	Bristol	Channel	and	Severn	Estuary.

Key outcomes

To	support	productivity	growth,	infrastructure	devolution	will	deliver:

179,000	new	homes,	and	a	new	Garden	Town	in	Somerset.•	

Accelerated	housing	and	employment	growth	in	the	identified	growth	•	
areas	of	Greater	Exeter,	Hinkley	Growth	Zone,	Plymouth,	Taunton,	
and	Torbay.

Faster	rail	connections	to	London,	the	South	East,	and	Midlands.•	

100%	 superfast	 broadband	 availability	 and	 reliable	 mobile	 phone	•	
connectivity.

Prioritised	 and	 sequenced	 infrastructure	 projects	 to	maximise	 the	•	
value	of	investments.

Innovation	in	energy	development	and	supply	to	support	the	national	•	
energy	strategy.

Greater	resilience	of	our	infrastructure.	•	

Innovative	 approach	 to	 environmental	 management,	 increasing	•	
productivity,	improving	resilience,	and	growing	our	rural	economy.	

Why is this important?

Long-term	investment	in	our	infrastructure	is	critical	to	unlocking	growth	
and	delivering	our	productivity	targets.	Our	Strategic	Infrastructure	Plan	
will	set	out	where	and	when	investment	is	required.	We	need	to	accelerate	
housing	and	employment	land	allocations,	electronic	communications	for	
our	businesses,	more	housing	 for	our	workers,	and	 improved	 transport	
links	to	allow	faster	movement	of	our	workforce,	goods	and	services.	This	
infrastructure	underpins	growth	and	is	the	key	to	our	future	productivity.

Despite	recent	successes	we	are	underfunded	compared	to	other	areas.	
Long-term	investment	is	vital	to	provide	confidence	for	developers	and	
to	 drive	 productivity	 through	 faster,	more	 reliable	 transport	 and	 digital	
connectivity.	Investment	in	resilience	is	essential	to	minimise	disruption	and	
financial	loss	during	a	crisis.	There	is	considerable	untapped	resource	and	
market	opportunity	for	the	Heart	of	the	South	West	to	contribute	more	to	
the	energy	supply	of	the	nation.	We	have	the	potential	to	become	a	leader	
in	low	carbon	energy	and	renewables,	however	current	grid	infrastructure	
is	limiting	deployment.



25

Foundation 3: Towards a Combined Authority

T he	partners	to	this	proposal	recognise	that	leadership	and	governance	
of	delivery	of	our	deal	will	require	transparent,	robust,	and	efficient	
structures	and	processes	commanding	the	confidence	and	support	

of	Government,	local	communities,	and	business.

We	also	recognise	Government’s	preferred	model	of	choice	for	this	vehicle	
is	the	Combined	Authority	(CA),	with	Mayoral	 leadership	in	the	case	of	
Core	City	Regions.	

We	will	create	a	Combined	Authority	with	appropriate	strong	leadership	
and	accountabilities.	We	will	carry	out	a	Governance	Review	to	identify	the	
most	effective	structure	and	processes	for	putting	this	commitment	into	
effect,	ideally	with	an	inception	date	of	either	April	2017	or	April	2018.	

The	 Governance	 Review	 shall	 draw	 on	 the	 principles	 outlined	 in	 our	
Statement	of	Intent	as	a	starting	point.	The	review	will	proceed	in	tandem	
with	both	the	enactment	of	the	Cities	and	Local	Government	Bill,	and	the	
progress	of	our	devolution	agreement	negotiations	and	requirements	of	its	
effective	implementation.

The	Governance	Review	will	 set	out	 the	powers,	 roles,	 functions,	 and	
operational	arrangements	for	the	Combined	Authority	-	and	propose	its	
relationships	with	and	to	key	delivery	partners	nationally,	locally	and	with	
neighbours.

At	a	minimum,	the	Heart	of	the	South	West	LEP,	CCGs	and	others	as	
appropriate	will	become	full	non-constituent	members	of	the	emerging

Combined	 Authority,	 playing	 leadership	 roles	 where	 appropriate	
in	 its	 sub-structures,	 for	 example	 to	 build	 on	 the	 LEP’s	 business	
credentials.

In	addition,	we	consider	there	will	be	a	number	of	collaborative	
arrangements	that	we	shall	wish	to	progress	with	variable	consortia	of	
South	West	neighbours.	These	may	include	a	‘Transport	South	West’	
proposition,	the	in-train	Science	and	Innovation	Audit	
consortium	with	neighbouring	LEPs	and	national	clusters	 in	areas	
such	as	nuclear,	renewables	energy,

Similarly,	our	prospectus	recognises	that	specific	sub-regional	
geographies	will	accommodate	significant	shares	of	the	growth	to	be	
delivered.	Bespoke	arrangements	to	plan	and	manage	these	changes	
will	build	on	or	adapt	existing	arrangements	including	The	Greater	
Exeter	Group,	The	Plymouth	and	South	West	Peninsula	City	Deal,	
the	emergent	Hinkley,	Taunton	and	Bridgwater	triangle.	Options	for	
strengthening	and	adapting	these	arrangements	(or	elaborating	new	
place-based	governance)	may	 include	Development	Corporations,	
Special	Economic	Zones,	Accelerated	Development	Zones,	or	other	
models.	



26

Next Steps

Delivering	 devolution	 requires	 careful	 sequencing.	 A	 high	 level	
roadmap	 for	 developing	 and	 delivering	 our	 deal	 is	 outlined	
below.

A	Heart	of	the	South	West	partners	group	will	launch	shadow	Combined	
Authority	 arrangements	 and	 a	 formal	 Programme	Management	Office	
(PMO)	upon	agreement	from	Government	of	serious	intent	to	progress	
towards	a	devolution	agreement.	The	PMO	will	be	resourced	to	support	
devolution	 agreement	 workstreams	 with	 business	 case	 and	 financial	
management	capacity,	including	assuring	fiscal	neutrality.

The	shadow	Combined	Authority	and	PMO	will	work	with	Government	to	
deliver	six	co-produced	workstreams	by	early	2017:

The	Governance	 Review	will	 apply	 the	 processes	 required	 under	1.	
legislation	 to	 specify,	 agree	 and	 launch	 the	 form	 of	 Combined	
Authority	eventually	determined.	This	work	will	include	the	role	and	
voice	of	business	and	sub-regional	geographical	arrangements.

The	Productivity	Plan	will	elaborate	the	evidence	base,	strategies	and	2.	
performance	management	required	to	deliver	the	vision	and	goals	of	
the	devolution	agreement.

We	are	 seeking	Government	 agreement	 to	establish	 a	Joint	Skills	3.	
Commission	to	oversee	national	policy	requirements	and	the	process	
of	localising	these	under	the	terms	of	our	devolution	deal.

The local leadership team will work with our successful health 4.	
integration	exemplars,	NHS	England,	and	other	local,	regional	and	

national	partners	to	identify	wider	opportunities	to	contribute	to	the	
Productivity	Plan	and	national	health	and	care	integration	priorities.

The	LEP	will	ensure	existing	local	growth	commitments	are	delivered	5.	
effectively,	 that	 the	 refresh	 of	 the	 Strategic	 Economic	 Plan	 feeds	
into	the	wider	Productivity	Plan	and	that	business	engagement	 in	
the	establishment	and	operation	of	the	Combined	Authority	and	its	
priorities	is	strong.

We	 are	 seeking	 Government	 commitment	 to	 establish	 a	 Joint	6.	
Infrastructure	Commission	to	firm	up	the	physical	investment	needs	
identified	in	national	and	Heart	of	the	South	West	priorities	and	how	
the	Single	Investment	Framework	will	resource	these.

This	process	will	allow	early	wins	to	be	made,	including	accelerated	housing	
development	and	initial	skills	and	business	support	reform,	whilst	specifying	
and	agreeing	the	structures	needed	to	deliver	the	medium	and	long-term	
outcomes	of	our	devolution	agreement.	

In anticipation of a positive outcome from negotiations on our deal we 
seek early agreement from Government on a match-funded budgetary 
contribution to co-deliver these workstreams.

We	invite	Government	to	begin	formal	negotiation	with	us	on	our	proposals	
and	the	detail	behind	them	with	a	view	to	signing	a	deal	during	the	first	half	
of	2016.



27

Outline Roadmap



Royal	William	Yard,	Plymouth



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 1 

NOT FOR PUBLICATION 

Appendix C to this report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
 

Report to: South Hams Executive  

Date: 4th February 2016 

Title: Proposals relating to a Local Authority 
Controlled Company 

Portfolio Area: Leader of the Council - Strategic Vision 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny  

Committee: 
N/A 

Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

Yes 

Urgent Decision:  N/A   

Date next steps can 

be taken: 

Recommendation to full Council   

 

Authors: 

 

Sophie Hosking,  
Executive Director, Service Delivery & 
Commercial Development 

sophie.hosking@swdevon.gov.uk 
 

Steve Jorden, 
Executive Director, Strategy and 

Commissioning 
steve.jorden@swdevon.gov.uk 
 

 

 
 

Recommendations:  To RECOMMEND to Council: 

1. To establish a Local Authority Controlled Company jointly with West 

Devon Borough Council to deliver services for South Hams District 
Council and West Devon Borough Council, and to other 

organisations as contracts are won, subject to the further approval 
of a detailed business case and implementation plan; 

2. That the Councils’ costs for the preparation of the detailed business 

case and implementation plan of £300,000 are met from a budget 
provision of £150,000 being set aside in both Councils for this 

purpose. 



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 2 

1.0 Executive Summary  
1.1 This report proposes the establishment of a company jointly owned 

by South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council 
for the purpose of: 

o Delivering services to the communities of South Hams and West 

Devon;  

o Generating income by delivering services on behalf of other 

organisations; 

o Creating a vehicle which gives both councils a mechanism to 
generate profit from certain activities; and 

o Ensuring the future viability of both organisations through 
appropriate strategic positioning in the public sector.  

1.2 The staff and services currently provided by the councils’ 
Commercial Services, Customer First and Support Services would 
be transferred across to the new company, with the view that the 

company would be operational with effect from April 2017.    

1.3 A contract between the Council and the company would be put in 

place for the delivery of the services that are transferred. 

1.4 The company would also be able to generate income and profit by 
delivering a full range of services to other organisations. 

1.5 The company would only be established by agreement of both 
Councils. 

1.6 A similar recommendation was made to the Hub Committee at West 
Devon Borough Council on 26th January 2016 and the following 
recommendation was agreed:  “To recommend to Council to 

establish a Local Authority Controlled Company jointly with South 
Hams District Council to deliver services for West Devon Borough 

Council and South Hams District Council, and to other organisations 
as contracts are won, subject to the further approval of a detailed 

business case and implementation plan”.   

1.7 Two further recommendations concerning the funding of the 
business case and implementation costs, and the transfer of the 

current out-sourced waste collection and street cleansing services 
into the new company, subject to approval of the detailed business 

case, were also agreed by West Devon Borough Council.   

 
2.0  Background  

 
2.1 In 2013-14, South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough 

Council embarked on an ambitious transformation programme 
called “T18”.  This consisted of 4 main elements: 

o The restructuring of functions and processes; 

o A culture change programme based on IMPACT behaviours; 



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 3 

o An IT and systems development programme to support new 
ways of working; and 

o A review of organisational structure and governance to ensure 
the future delivery of services to the community, with an 
ambition for growth. 

It is this final element that is the subject of this report. 
 

2.2 Since 2010 Local Authorities have been subject to increasing 
budgetary pressures and decreasing grant income from central 
government.  This position is looking significantly worse for the 

future given the recent budget settlement. 

2.3 The purpose of the councils’ T18 transformation programme had 

been to position both councils to meet their financial obligations 
until 2018 and to be able to continue to deliver the full range of 
services without cuts or long term reduction in quality.  However 

both councils are keen to secure the future of services beyond 
2018. 

2.4 The success of the T18 programme in delivering efficiencies (joint 
savings of £5 million) has meant that both councils are in a position 
to generate a surplus for the financial year 2016/17, however this 

will not be the case for 2018 onwards, therefore this is the right 
time to be considering any investment in the organisation. 

2.5 There is an opportunity for the councils to position themselves at 
the forefront of this emerging market for delivering services, and 
therefore able to take advantage of opportunities provided by other, 

less forward-thinking organisations. 

2.6 The opportunity has arisen to include the West Devon waste 

collection and street cleansing contract with the other services that 
would transfer into the company.  These services would need to be 

transferred in April 2017, and at their meeting on the 26th January 
the West Devon Hub Committee agreed to recommend the inclusion 
of these services to their Council at the meeting scheduled for 16th 

February 2016.   If required, it may be possible to extend the 
implementation period, but it is not recommended that this 

extension be longer than April 2018 due to budget forecasts and 
market opportunity.  

2.7 During 2015/16 the councils have reviewed their priorities and 

Members from both Councils agreed that their top priority for each 
organisation is to achieve financial sustainability.  Both councils 

have also stated that they do not want to see a reduction in the 
level and quality of the services delivered to their communities. 

2.8 It is acknowledged that whilst the T18 programme has been very 

effective at making efficiencies, more will need to be done to 
generate income and reduce cost from 2018 onwards if the councils 

are to meet their aims. 

2.9 In terms of the national context, the Local Authority landscape is 
changing rapidly and a mixed economy is emerging which provides 



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 4 

opportunities for councils such as South Hams and West Devon as 
well as threats.  The opportunities include the ability for councils to 

form companies to trade and generate income and to provide 
services to other councils and organisations at a profit.  Whilst Local 
Authority restructure is not currently being proposed by the 

Government, there is a clear threat that if councils start failing due 
to financial pressures then there may be a requirement for take-

overs, combined councils or unitary arrangements; however, this 
could also be an opportunity for well-placed councils to step in for 
mutual benefit. 

2.10 This proposal affects both South Hams District Council and West 
Devon Borough Council, the communities they serve and the staff 

they employ.  The intention is for the range of services to the 
communities to carry on being provided to at least the current 
standard, albeit from an arms-length, wholly-owned company, so 

that residents and communities should not feel any adverse impact 
from this proposal. 

2.11 Staff in Commercial Services, Customer First and Support Services 
would be transferred to the new company.   This would be subject 
to TUPE regulations (Transfer of Undertakings: Protection of 

Employment) so that staff would be transferred on their current 
employment terms and conditions. 

2.12 No restructure or redundancies are proposed, it would be a simple 
transfer of service delivery staff into a new entity.  The staff would 
continue to provide services to the councils in the same way, but 

with an opportunity to expand and grow the business. 

2.13 The company would have a two-fold relationship with the two 

councils: 

o As a provider of services to the councils, controlled by a 

contractual relationship; 

o As a wholly owned asset of the councils controlled through the 
shareholders agreement and the associated governance 

structures. 
 

3.0 Outcomes/outputs 

3.1 The proposal is to establish a company that will be able to deliver 
services to both the councils efficiently and effectively.  In doing so, 

this will create the opportunity to sell these services to other 
organisations. 

3.2 It is intended initially to set up a company that is controlled by the 
two authorities and does the majority of its work for these 
authorities; this arrangement follows the rules that allow the 

councils to pass the work to the company without the need to 
tender in the open market.   This is known as a Teckal exemption, 

an explanation of which can be found in the LGIU briefing note (see 
Appendix A). 



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 5 

3.3 Under the Teckal arrangement the company would also be able to 
win contracts and deliver services to other organisations for a 

profit but only up to 20% of its turnover.   Once the 20% limit is 
reached an additional company can be set up purely to provide 
services to other organisations and generate profits for its 

shareholders (this is allowed for under section 95 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 and we will refer to this as a “section 95” 

company for the purposes of this report). 

3.4 Based on the calculations by Grant Thornton, the proposed 
company will generate a turnover of £6.7 million in year one.  This 

means that under the Teckal exemption, it could deliver services 
to other organisations up to a value of £1.34 million before the 

addition of a section 95 company would need to be explored. 

3.5 It is proposed that the company would be established to start 
trading by April 2017.  External advice from Grant Thornton 

suggests an ideal implementation period of 18 months. 

3.6 During the first couple of years of trading, the strategy would be 

to deliver good quality services to the two councils within budget 
and establish the reputation and track record of the company.  
From the perspective of the public, Members and staff, services 

would continue to be delivered and received as usual.  This will 
then allow the company to use this track record of delivering 

services to bid for work from other organisations.  Winning 
external contracts will improve the economies of scale within the 
company thus reducing the cost of the services delivered to South 

Hams and West Devon and provide additional income for the 
company and a profit for the shareholders.  Initially it is proposed 

the shareholders will be South Hams and West Devon. 

3.7 Traditionally councils have provided the services that the company 

will be offering in-house.   However, as the effect of the budget 
settlements are felt over the next 4 years this will become less 
sustainable and other ways of delivering services will need to be 

found.  It is this opportunity to provide services to other councils 
and organisations at a lower cost that the company will seek to 

exploit.   As financial pressures bite, some councils may no longer 
be viable, but services will still need to be provided to their 
communities.  This is the type of opportunity the company will be 

able to exploit and it is anticipated that the Government will be 
interested in such solutions when faced with failing councils. 

3.8 Another way to achieve growth, economies of scale and further 
efficiencies within the company would be for other public sector 
organisations to buy shares in the company, thus allowing them to 

commission services through the company using the Teckal 
exemption described above. 

3.9 To understand the size of the market available we can calculate 
the cost of services delivered by District Councils in any particular 
area from their published statements of accounts.   It should also 

be noted that there are some services, particularly those of a 



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 6 

transactional nature, which can be delivered for other councils 
nationally as the use of IT means that the geographic location of 

an organisation is not important.  Most of these services are 
currently delivered in-house and this is the market that the 
company would target.  For example, Devon District and Unitary 

Authorities spend approximately £60m on the services within 
scope of the proposed company.   Therefore every 1% of the 

market that is won represents £600k business for the company.  
This reasoning could be extended to Somerset and beyond and will 
be further explored thorough the detailed business case.   

3.10 It is not anticipated that the company would win significant 
contracts within the first couple of years of business and it must 

be stressed that this proposal should not be seen as the entire 
solution for ensuring future financial sustainability.   The intention 
is to position the councils to take advantage of the future 

opportunities in this market, thus affording prospects to generate 
income and profit through the company for the benefit of the 

councils.  In addition it will be possible to find further efficiencies 
for the delivery of the council’s services through the company.  

3.11 It is also relevant to note that should the structure of the current 

two-tier system of local government in Devon change, then the 
ownership of the company would transfer to any successor 

organisation along with the contracts for the delivery of services.   
This would provide a good degree of protection to the level and 
quality of the services provided to our communities and to the 

staff employed by the company. 

3.12 The success of the company will be measured through:  

o how well it delivers the contracts that it will hold with the 
councils (i.e. within budget and to the quality specified);   

o savings that it makes on the delivery of these services;   

o the income that it generates through winning and delivering 
work to other organisations; and  

o the long term growth of the company. 

3.13 The company would expect to be bidding for contracts from its 

second year of operation.  It would also expect to be achieving 
further efficiencies on the delivery of the councils’ services during 
the second year of operation. 

3.14 There are also opportunities to maximise efficiencies and/or find 
economies of scale from operations such as the Lower Dartmouth 

Ferry and the extension of the waste collection service to other 
authorities. 

3.15 The current out-sourced waste contract for West Devon expires in 

April 2017, therefore the councils’ decision on the establishment of 
a company from which to deliver this service is critical in order to 

achieve the required timescale for company implementation and 
the transfer of services.  This was the reason for a supplementary 



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 7 

report to be commissioned which gives more specific financial 
information to Members in relation to the waste and cleansing 

services for West Devon and South Hams.  Whilst the focus of the 
supplementary report concerns the transfer of the West Devon 
waste collection and street cleansing service, it provides some 

useful analysis of the South Hams service and should help inform 
the decision of the South Hams Members.  (Members can find this 

report at Appendix C, however due to the financial information this 
report contains it is exempt from publication). 

3.16 The ability to carry out our waste services across more than one 

council supports the municipal waste strategy for Devon which 
looks to align collection materials and supports the previous work 

of the Executive Waste board which hoped to further the 
implementation of services being carried out in clusters. A LACC 
solution would allow us to offer services to others in line with the 

countywide intention, and may well be more politically acceptable 
than previous proposals. 

3.17 There will be significant challenges in meeting a start date of April 
2017 for the transfer of all services including the West Devon 
waste collection service and to that end FCC Environmental (the 

current West Devon waste contractor) could be requested to 
extend the existing arrangements. Early indications are that they 

would be willing to negotiate an extension, though this would come 
at a cost to West Devon Borough Council. 

4.0  Options available and consideration of risk  

4.1. A variety of approaches have been reviewed when considering the 
future organisational and delivery structures for the council 

including: keeping the current “as-is” arrangements (combination of 
outsourced and in-house); further outsourcing of services; a joint 

venture with a private sector partner; establishing a co-operative/ 
mutual/charity/trust to deliver services; establishing a Teckal type 
Local Authority controlled company (LACC), and; establishing a 

section 95 Local Authority controlled company. 

4.2. These have been considered against the following criteria:   

o Degree of control and flexibility retained by Councils 

o Ability to generate further savings/efficiencies 

o Ability to make a profit and generate income for the Councils 

o Ability to passport work without procurement 

4.3. Consideration has also been given to the ability to maintain the 

level and quality of services, the impact on staff and the 
implications of the changing Local Authority landscape. 

 

 

 



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 8 

Comparison of Alternative Service Delivery Models Available to 
WDBC / SHDC  

 
 
4.4. Following consideration of the options against the criteria, officers   

have refined the options down to two for further consideration and 
these are the focus of this report:   

 
Option A - continue with the current arrangements (the “as is” 

option), or;  
 
Option B - establish a Teckal type LACC with the option to add a 

section 95 company at a later date. 

4.5. The critical reason for discounting the other options is that none of 

them allow for the pass-porting of work without procurement.  This 
would prevent the council passing services across to the company 
to deliver, thus establishing a track record in trading these services.  

There were also limitations to flexibility, control, generation of 
income for the councils, and future efficiency savings that were 

considered when narrowing the options. 

4.6. Staff, Trade Unions and Members have been consulted on the 
possibility of a LACC being implemented and the impact that this 

would have on staff, service delivery and governance.  All 
stakeholders have been open to the changes and will continue to be 



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 9 

consulted as plans develop.  There has not been an adverse 
reaction to the proposals. 

4.7. The staff working within Commercial Services, Customer First and 
Support Services would transfer directly into the new company and 
TUPE would apply.  The company would gain ‘admitted body’ status 

to the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) so that staff could 
continue to access the benefits of that scheme.  The company may 

decide to make different pension arrangements for new staff joining 
the company.  Any difference between, or changes to, terms and 
conditions for staff would be carefully considered and negotiated to 

ensure the most beneficial arrangements for both the business and 
the affected staff.  It is in the interest of the business to be known 

as a good employer. 

4.8. The councils’ relationship with the new company would be twofold: 
as the clients commissioning services from the company; and as 

the owners and shareholders of the company.   Control over the 
delivery of services would be exerted through the contract and 

through the annual service delivery plan, to be agreed by the 
Council and monitored by Overview and Scrutiny.  Control over the 
company would be exerted through the Board of Directors and a 

Joint Shareholder Committee made up of Members of both Councils. 

4.9. The risks associated with Option A concern the limitations of the 

Council to generate additional income in the future and to be able 
to maintain services, resulting in a potential loss of service or 
potential outsourcing of services. 

4.10. Option B does give the opportunity to make further savings and 
generate additional income, however there is the risk that the 

company may fail to do this, that the predicted market may not 
materialise or that the company does not attract the business 

required to generate sufficient income. 

4.11. To aid the evaluation of the proposals contained in this report, 
officers commissioned the accounting and consultancy company 

Grant Thornton to provide an independent review.  They were also 
commissioned to provide a financial appraisal of the options for the 

waste contract.   Their reports are attached as Appendix B – 
Options appraisal for the establishment of a local authority 
controlled company, and Appendix C – Waste report.   

 
Appendix C is exempt from publication. The public interest test has 

been applied and it is considered that the public interest lies in not 
disclosing this report because it contains financial information which 
could prejudice the Councils if the information was disclosed at this 

time. 

4.12. In relation to the options to continue with the current arrangements 

or for the establishment of an LACC to provide services (Options A 
and B), the Grant Thornton report concludes that:  
 

“Option A – ‘as is’ has been successful and enabled the Councils to 



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 10 

develop new ways of working and begin to develop a commercial 
culture.  The key risk of this option is that existing service levels 

would have to change to meet future financial challenges and that 
existing arrangements would be unable to meet the recently 
identified budget funding gap. 

 
Option B – a LACC, will provide greater longer term opportunities to 

reduce cost and generate additional income from outside the 
Councils from other public sector bodies and the private sector.  
However, it will take at least two years before it will become 

profitable, 2019 at the earliest”. 

4.13. In their report Grant Thornton have set out projected income and 

expenditure for the first year of trading and this identifies a budget 
deficit for the company of £360k.  However, 90% of this deficit 
(£330k) is due to depreciation cost of assets transferred to the 

company.  A different approach to the treatment of assets could 
take out the depreciation costs altogether and the associated 

deficit. 

4.14. If the Councils decide to progress with the establishment of the 
LACC then a detailed business case will need to be prepared which 

will give further consideration to key features including: 

o The financial business case from the perspectives of both the 

councils and the company 

o Governance arrangements 

o Tax considerations 

o Pension considerations 

o Assets and depreciation 

o Terms and conditions of new LACC employees 

o Market Analysis and potential income streams 

 
4.15. In October 2014 the Councils agreed to set up a company for the 

purposes of generating income.  This company has been dormant to 

date.   It would be possible to use this as the basis for the new 
companies (either the Teckal LACC or the Section 95 Company) or 

to start afresh.   The detailed business case would assess the best 
option. 

 

5.0   Proposed Way Forward  
5.1. If the councils decide to progress with the LACC then officers will 

need to procure professional support to complete the detailed 
business case and implementation plan.  This work will be subject 
to a value-for-money procurement exercise.  It is estimated by 

Grant Thornton that a budget of £328,500 will be required and this 
will need to be split 50:50 between the two councils subject to both 

councils agreeing to proceed. Currently each Council has a budget 
provision of £150,000 identified in their budget reports.  Grant 



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 11 

Thornton’s estimate is broken down on page 31 of their report 
attached at Appendix B (see below for extract) and further detail 

is given on page 32 of their report.   

 
 

It should be stressed that these are initial estimates from Grant 
Thornton to be used as a guide for budgeting purposes. 

5.2. Officers will continue to engage with Staff, Members and Trade 
Unions to ensure that all stakeholders are appraised of 

developments and progress.   

5.3. If agreed, it is anticipated that the full business case and 
implementation plan will be presented to Members in June 2016 for 

a decision on whether or not to proceed. 

 

6.0 Implications  
 
Implications 

 

Relevant  

to  

proposals  

Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/ 

Governance 

 

 The Councils can only trade for commercial purposes 

through a company. In order to do this, the Councils 
must approve a business case.  
 

Local Authority trading powers as contained in Local 
Government Act 2003, Localism Act 2011, Local 

Government (Best Value Authorities) (Power to Trade) 
(England) Order 2009 have been considered and there 

are no known legal risks to the Councils in proceeding 
with this option. However, more detailed legal advice 
will be required should the Council adopt the report and 

agree to the setting up of a controlled company on 
matters such as, pensions, tax, incorporation, 

shareholder agreement, TUPE. Incidental powers to 
participate in external organisations (Local Government 
Act 1972) have also been considered and again, no 

legal risks to the Council have been identified. 
 

This report makes it clear that if the recommendation is 
adopted a detailed business case will need to be 



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 12 

prepared and brought back before the Councils for 
approval.  

 
Detailed governance arrangements and constitution of 

the company will need to be agreed between the 
councils. The constitutional documents will need to be 
clearly drafted so that the newly formed company can 

satisfy the Teckal requirements as codified in the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015. 

 
In relation to waste, Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
will need to be complied with should the need to re-

procure or extend the term arise.   
 

Appendix C is exempt from publication because it 
contains information about the Council’s financial affairs 
as defined in Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Local 

Government Act 1972. The public interest test has been 
applied and it is considered that the public interest lies 

in not disclosing this Options Appraisal because it 
contains financial information which could prejudice the 
Council if the information was disclosed at this time. 

Financial 

 
Y One-off Investment costs of setting up a Local Authority 

Controlled Company of £328,500 have been identified. 

(This is set out on Page 31 of Grant Thornton’s report, 
Appendix B). Each Council has made a budget provision 

of £150,000 in their Revenue Budget reports for 2016-
17 to meet these costs. 
 

Grant Thornton’s Executive Summary (Page 7, Appendix 
B) on the Local Authority Controlled Company (LACC) 

states that they have not identified any significant 
hurdles that would prevent a LACC being established, 
conversely neither have they identified any distinct 

benefits that make a LACC the preferred option. 
 

A LACC will provide greater longer term opportunities to 
reduce costs and generate additional income from 

outside the Councils from other public sector bodies and 
the private sector. However, it will take at least two 
years before it will become profitable, 2019 at the 

earliest. Its profitability will be dependent on it 
generating additional income, how this income will be 

generated is currently unclear. 
 
In their report Grant Thornton have set out projected 

income and expenditure for the first year of trading and 
this identifies a budget deficit for the company of 

£360k.  Over 90% of this deficit (£330k) is due to 
depreciation cost of assets transferred to the company.  
A different approach to the treatment of assets could 



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 13 

take out the depreciation costs and the associated 
deficit. 

Risk  A key risk is the capacity to get everything in place for 
April 2017, particularly given that the organisation is 

still undergoing significant change from the 
implementation of the T18 programme.  A consideration 

could be to phase the transfer of services into the new 
company.  However, this would be much more complex 
and very unlikely to yield the economies of scale and 

other efficiencies due to the way in which the 
organisation is now structured following T18 and the 

cost of implementation would be as much, if not more, 
therefore this is not recommended. 
 

If the West Devon waste contract is to be included then 
the councils will need to work to a timetable of setting 

up and getting the new company operational by April 
2017 so that the contract can be transferred to the new 
company.  

 
If West Devon Borough Council at their Council meeting 

on 16th February 2016 were to opt not to establish the 
LACC, SHDC will be unable to pursue this option and the 
officer recommendation would be rescinded.  A fresh 

review and benefit analysis would need to be prepared 
in order to determine the best course of action. 

 
See also page 65 of Appendix B for a summary of the 
key risks identified by Grant Thornton. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 
Equality and 

Diversity 
 N/A   

Safeguarding 

 
 N/A 

Community 

Safety, Crime 

and Disorder 

 N/A 

 

Health, Safety 

and Wellbeing 
 N/A 

Other 

implications 
 N/A 

 

 

Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 

 
Appendix A – LGiU Policy Briefing 10th December 2015 Local Authority 

Trading Companies: A Policy in Practice Briefing 
 



 
Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company  

 
 

Page 14 

Appendix B – Grant Thornton Options appraisal for the establishment of a 
local authority controlled company 

 
Appendix C - Grant Thornton Waste Review (exempt from publication) 
 

Background Papers: 
• Agenda Item 4 entitled “Transformation Programme 2018” 

presented to SHDC Special Council on 31st October 2013 

• Agenda Item 11 entitled “Torridge and the Future Operating Model” 
presented to SHDC council on 2nd October 2014 

 
Approval and clearance of report 

 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted 

Yes 
(Appendix C only) 

 



POLICY BRIEFING
!

Local Authority Trading Companies: a Policy in 
Practice briefing  

10 December 2015  

Alan Weaver LGiU associate  

Summary 

• Local authorities are becoming more interested in Local Authority Trading Companies 
(LATCs), particularly for income generation purposes 

• Local authorities can set up LATCs providing Teckal exemptions, and other statutory 
requirements are met 

• LATCs are developing rapidly, particularly in areas like social care and housing 
• There have been LATC successes, failures, and challenging circumstances, 

particularly for social care LATCs 
• A useful methodology to apply to the setting up and development of LATCs is Grant 

Thornton’s ‘Spreading the Word’ model 
• Major issues or sticking points when developing LATCs include: strategic fit of the LA 

and the LATC; business planning; governance and staff. 

Briefing in full 

Background 

As councils have come under financial pressure, they have considered how to reduce costs, 
generate income and improve efficiency by developing commercial approaches to their 
services. Two recent briefings have dealt with commercial activity and income generation in 
local government. This briefing specifically deals with Local Authority Trading Companies 
(LATCs).  

LATCs are bodies that are free to operate as commercial companies but remain wholly 
owned by the parent local authority. As trading bodies, they can provide their services to a 
much wider market than a council department. Part of the reason for the growing interest in 
LATCs is local government’s desire to generate income to protect other services. But there 
are also secondary drivers including: 

• the need for certain services to compete in a wider geographical area to be sustainable; 
• a view that greater commercialisation will drive efficiency; 
• a view that non-essential services would be better managed separately; 

© Local Government Information Unit, www.lgiu.org.uk, Third Floor, 251 Pentonville Road, London N1 9NG. Reg. 
charity 1113495. This briefing is available free of charge to LGiU subscribing members. Members are welcome to 
circulate internally in full or in part; please credit LGiU as appropriate. You can find us on Twitter at @LGiU



POLICY BRIEFING
!
• a view that a different statutory and service environment will provide more flexibility and 

impact, eg housing development, social care.  

Local authorities are also attracted to the fact that less bureaucratic organisations like 
LATCs may be able to react more quickly and sensitively to changes in markets. Also, unlike 
with outsourcing, the scope to retain control of the company and reverse their decision if 
things go wrong appeals to some local authorities. 	

This year, many local authorities have taken decisions to adopt LATCs. For example, 
Newcastle has established ‘Newco’ a new trading body to help the council expand its current 
trading ventures. East Cambridgeshire District Council is currently recruiting a Chairman of 
the Board to provide independent leadership and a strategic vision to its LATC.  

Legislation  

The Local Government Act 2003 enables local authorities to establish LATCs to trade in a 
wide market. The General Power of Competence under The Localism Act 2011 allows local 
authorities to expand their trading activities into areas not related to existing functions. It also 
removes geographical boundaries to local authority activity so that they can set up a trading 
company that can trade anywhere in the UK or elsewhere.		

If trading is to be done in the wider commercial market with a view to generating a profit 
(rather than just on a broad cost recovery basis) the council must establish a company. This 
can be a company limited by shares, a company limited by guarantee or an industrial and 
provident society The 2009 Trading Order requires that a business case (‘a comprehensive 
statement’) be prepared and approved before exercising trading powers. Local authorities 
cannot trade in services they are already statutorily required to provide.  

Teckal  

When councils want to sell goods or services to other councils or public bodies, they will only 
be dealing with each other and not operating in a wider market. These are ‘shared services’ 
or public-public partnerships. They do not have to put the work out to competitive tender, are 
still able to generate a profit and are not restricted to cost recovery – as long as they only 
trade with each other. This avoids the downside of a company status, including the need to 
pay VAT and corporation tax. If a local authority wishes to set up a company the EU 
procurement regulations usually require them to undertake a prescribed competitive 
tendering process before they can award work to the company.  This poses a problem as 
there is no guarantee that the trading company will win the tender. However, local authorities 
can set up a company without competitive tendering provided they undertake not to trade 
significantly with external organisations. This is known as the ‘Teckal’ exemption from 
procurement rules.   

The tests for whether a local authority owned company qualifies for the Teckal exemption 
are: 

• The council(s) must control the company and its activities in the same way as their 
own departments and activities (control test); 

© Local Government Information Unit, www.lgiu.org.uk, Third Floor, 251 Pentonville Road, London N1 9NG. Reg. 
charity 1113495. This briefing is available free of charge to LGiU subscribing members. Members are welcome to 
circulate internally in full or in part; please credit LGiU as appropriate. You can find us on Twitter at @LGiU

https://www.newcastle.gov.uk/news-story/city-council-sets-trading-company-save-services-and-jobs
http://ely.org.uk/2015/11/chairman-required-for-new-local-authority-trading-company/


POLICY BRIEFING
!

• The company must predominantly undertake work for its controlling council(s) – any 
activity undertaken for external bodies is minimal (function test). 

The council must have decisive influence and control over all decision making. A Teckal 
company cannot focus on trading commercially in the wider market. If councils are seeking 
to do this, they must put any work out to tender. A limit of 20% of turnover from external 
trading activity is now applied. In practice, an early decision the council should make is 
whether it wishes to use the company for commercial trading, or as a vehicle primarily for 
delivering the council’s own services.  

Development of LATCs  

Leading LATCs - LACTS have been around for over many years in the form of large, 
standalone bodies such as airports, and also organisations like Commercial Services 
(formerly Kent Commercial Services)- described in a recent briefing. LATCs have developed 
more recently into areas such as highways, housing and social care. 

The best examples of recent successful LATCs include Norse Group, Kingstown Works 
Limited, and CORMAC. 

 Norse Group is by far the largest LATC in the country and has an annual turnover in excess 
of £250 million.  It is a holding company owned by Norfolk County Council and the Group 
brings together three local authority trading companies concerned with: facilities 
management; property design and management consultancy; and providing residential care 
homes and ‘housing with care’ schemes. Collectively, the group employs over 10,000 people 
nationwide and have good relations with their staff and unions. UNISON has signed a 
recognition agreement with them and praised them for their staff training and development 
programme, apprenticeship schemes, staff morale and low turnover rates.  

Kingstown Works Limited (KWL) is a LATC delivering building maintenance and repairs work 
to Hull City Council, but they also trade with other local councils and housing associations. 
Created in 2006, by 2012 it had returned over £3 million to Hull City Council in the form of 
surpluses. It employs 390 local people and has recruited 107 apprentices in the period 2007 
to 2015.  

CORMAC are two wholly owned companies of Cornwall Council which has been trading 
since 1982, and using the CORMAC brand since 1992. In 2012, two companies were 
formed into a Teckal company for the work passported from Cornwall Council; and a trading 
company. Since then CORMAC has increased its turnover by an additional £35m per year; 
increased staffing numbers by 16% and returned benefits to the Cornwall Council to the tune 
of £20m over three years through productivity improvements and from profit on external 
work. The vast majority of the work is in highways maintenance and construction. From April 
2016, it will manage a 10 year joint venture company responsible for highways and fleet 
management services for Nottinghamshire County Council. CORMAC is a living wage 
employer and the majority of the 690 highways staff currently employed by Nottinghamshire 
CC will transfer to the new company with existing terms and conditions.  

Social Care  

Social Care LATCS have become prevalent in the last six or seven years as demographic 
changes, continuing funding cuts, constraints on in-house service provision, and new Care 
Act responsibilities have increased pressures on local authorities. A key issue has been the 
barrier on service provision to those receiving direct payments – the principal customers for 
care and support and upon which the viability of community based provider services are 
© Local Government Information Unit, www.lgiu.org.uk, Third Floor, 251 Pentonville Road, London N1 9NG. Reg. 
charity 1113495. This briefing is available free of charge to LGiU subscribing members. Members are welcome to 
circulate internally in full or in part; please credit LGiU as appropriate. You can find us on Twitter at @LGiU

http://www.commercialservices.org.uk/about.aspx
http://www.lgiu.org.uk/briefing/income-generation-charging-trading-policy-in-practice-briefing/
http://www.ncsgrp.co.uk/about_norse.htm
http://kingstownworks.co.uk/about
http://www.cormacltd.co.uk/who-we-are/


POLICY BRIEFING
!
based. It has been estimated that about 20 social care LATCs are now trading in England 
and Scotland with many more in the pipeline. Examples of the more prominent social care 
LATCs are Buckinghamshire Care, ECL (formerly Essex Cares), Optalis (Wokingham), 
Olympus Care Services (Northampton), Your Choice (Barnet) and Tricuro (Dorset).  

The sector has developed rapidly but it has not been without problems. Chelsea Care was 
set up by Kensington and Chelsea Council in 2008 as a wholly owned trading company to 
provide home care and brokerage services in the borough. After running into significant 
financial problems, Chelsea Care was put into liquidation in May 2011, when the council 
refused to inject further capital into the business to enable it to keep trading. ISSK was set 
up as a trading company owned by Stockport Council in 2009, with a view to making adult 
social care and support services more cost effective. However by 2012 the council had 
serious concerns about both the value for money and quality of care of the company. A 
period of consultation led to a decision to take back in-house some of the key services that 
had gone out to the company – reablement, intermediate care and night support teams. The 
council cited significant changes in the focus of services which meant that the trading 
company was no longer appropriate: 

Essex Care became England’s first successful social care LATC when it was launched in 
2009 and quickly became a cash cow for the council. In 2010-11, it made a profit of £3.5m, 
but in 2012-13, the profit, though still healthy, had dropped to £1.5m and last year the 
company made a pre-tax loss of £828,000. The result has been a ‘reshaping’ of the 
organisation, with new multi-skilled community teams and cuts in administration and 
management. The company also acquired a new name ECL. ECL employs 900 staff and 
supports more than 50,000 mainly older or disabled people at home or in activity centres. Its 
services remain popular with high levels of customer satisfaction. It offers a wide range of 
workplace training and also has a contract with West Sussex County Council, providing 
reablement services to people who are regaining independence.  

By the beginning of 2014, Optalis Ltd had been trading successfully for three years, 
increasing turnover to £12m and reaching savings targets. However, Optalis reported an 
operating profit of just £5K in year ending March 2014, a drop from £143K the previous year.  
Another social care LATC, Your Choice Barnet, set up in 2012 and projected to make a 
surplus of £500K by 2015-16, has also run into trouble. Staff salaries were recently reduced 
by 9.5% and a Care Quality Commission report earlier this year branded the company’s 
supported living services inadequate. 

Tricuro, launched in July 2015, is the first cross boundary social care LATC. The original 
plan was to set up a single plan for Dorset County Council but it was quickly realised that 
county wide company taking in Bournemouth and Poole would offer significant economies of 
scale. Its services include residential care, day services and catering and it is also the 
largest social care LATC, with a budget of more than £38 million and 1,200 staff.  

Housing  

There has also been a proliferation of housing LATCs. A survey published in August 2015 
indicated that more than 50 councils in England have either set up or are considering setting 
up their own housing company. This has been particularly attractive for those authorities who 
do not have sufficient borrowing headroom within their Housing Revenue Account (HRA) or 
who want to explore other funding opportunities to develop housing outside the HRA. The 
most common approach is the creation of a 100% council owned subsidiary or council 
owned company, usually constituted as a company limited by shares with council officers 
acting as directors and company secretaries. Purposes include the provision of new build 
private sale, mixed tenure and affordable homes; the purchase and repair of affordable 
homes; the provision of affordable rented property by leasing empty property, etc. However, 
not all local authorities are attracted to the idea. A common reason is that the expected 

© Local Government Information Unit, www.lgiu.org.uk, Third Floor, 251 Pentonville Road, London N1 9NG. Reg. 
charity 1113495. This briefing is available free of charge to LGiU subscribing members. Members are welcome to 
circulate internally in full or in part; please credit LGiU as appropriate. You can find us on Twitter at @LGiU

http://www.buckinghamshirecare.co.uk/who-we-are/
https://www.ecl.org/about-us/
http://www.optalis.org/about-us
https://www.olympuscareservices.co.uk/about-us
http://www.yourchoicebarnet.org/about-us/
http://www.tricuro.co.uk/about-us/
http://socinvest.co.uk/report.pdf


POLICY BRIEFING
!
revenue is not high enough to make a business case for such a company. This is often the 
case where house prices are very low. Uncertainty also arises from a lack of clarity over the 
government’s position and the threat to take measures against council owned housing 
companies that circumvent Right to Buy legislation.  

There are also LATCs set up to provide DLO housing maintenance work or to include it 
within their proposed work, eg. Kingstown Works Limited.  

Thurrock Council set up a wholly owned housing company, Gloriana Thurrock Ltd. Gloriana 
will enable the Council to kick start house building through directly developing around 1,000 
new homes. It aims to accelerate housing delivery over the next five years and support 
regeneration objectives in growth locations. Council land is sold to the company at a 
commercially valued rate and Gloriana borrows prudentially against the council general fund 
to fund the housing development. Gloriana pays the interest on the loan through its rental 
income and the debt can be repaid when the homes are sold. The design of the first 
Gloriana development at the St Chad’s scheme in Tilbury for over a hundred homes has 
secured a top national award 

Nuneaton and Bedworth Council set up its trading established trading arm, named Nuneaton 
and Bedworth Community Enterprises LTD (NABCEL) in March 2014. The first business 
stream chosen for NABCEL was the purchase of properties to rent out at full market rent. As 
well as generating income, this also helps address the local need for affordable rented 
properties. A capital budget of £1m was approved as part of the 2014/15 budget. This has so 
far secured seven properties and with a further two to three being planned. Forecast income 
generation for 2015/16 is £50k, which will go towards protecting services and jobs.  

 Ashford Borough Council has set up a council owned housing company to build new homes 
for rent because its housing market is not keeping pace with demand for privately rented 
accommodation or providing alternatives for people without sufficient income to buy their 
own homes. The council is seeking to target this gap in the housing market through a new 
trading company to provide additional housing capacity. The new property company will be 
council owned and funded initially by council borrowing. The company will offer homes to 
rent and sale, with a mix of rent levels. It will also provide an income stream for the council 
through the borrowings.  

South Cambridgeshire District Council set up Ermine Street Housing in 2014 and invested 
£7 million in property to rent as an “ethical commercial landlord”. During the pilot Ermine 
Street Housing generated £100,000 of income for the Council. The company now owns 34 
properties worth a total of £6,837,970 providing homes for people who cannot get an 
affordable housing tenancy. South Cambridgeshire District Council have now expanding a 
Council owned housing company investing £100 million to acquire a property portfolio of 500 
homes over the next five years.  

Approaches to LATCs  

A useful ‘Spreading Their Wings’ model to consider LATCs has been developed by Grant 
Thornton. Its three stage process and comprehensive range of steps model is listed below 
together with a link.   

SPREADING THEIR WINGS MODEL 

© Local Government Information Unit, www.lgiu.org.uk, Third Floor, 251 Pentonville Road, London N1 9NG. Reg. 
charity 1113495. This briefing is available free of charge to LGiU subscribing members. Members are welcome to 
circulate internally in full or in part; please credit LGiU as appropriate. You can find us on Twitter at @LGiU

http://www.theguardian.com/society/2015/jun/23/thurrock-model-council-housebuilder
https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/news/council-tenants-and-leaseholders/gloriana-scheme-lifts-award
http://districtcouncils.info/casestudies/nuneaton-and-bedworth-community-enterprises-ltd/
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/content/leading-councillors-back-%25C2%25A3100-million-housing-company-expansion
http://www.grant-thornton.co.uk/Global/spreading-their-wings-LATC-report-2015.pdf


POLICY BRIEFING
!

Each of the steps in developing a LATC merits careful examination or problems will be 
experienced. In addition, there are a range of major issues or sticking points which cause 
problems across most LATCs and these warrant closer attention.  

Strategic Fit of the Company Vision with the Local Authority Vision – This is sometimes 
overlooked by local authorities because income generation usually overwhelms other 
considerations. But the strategic fit needs to be examined in far more detail. The council and 
the LATC need to have clarity about how the LATC will fit with the council’s longer term 
strategic priorities and how the company will grow. A failure to properly address this can and 
will cause tensions between the council and the LATC, particularly over company growth 
and expansion and the redistribution of profits. In addition, it is almost inevitable that the 
vision and strategy will need to be refreshed as the company develops.  

Grant Thornton feels that most problems arise when council and company are not on the 
same wavelength and where councils set ‘heroic’ savings targets. CORMAC appear to have 
negotiated this issue ‘well’. The council was clear it was not just about achieving savings. It 
was about increasing its client base and offering increased job opportunities for the people 
of Cornwall. CORMAC sees commercial opportunities and partnerships with other councils 
as the future, while the council describes the current position as a” nice little corridor 
between the public and private sector”.  

Business Planning - Business planning is a key element. The lack of a business plan for the 
transfer of council services into the company is a common failing.  
Buckinghamshire Care saw the first step as developing a business case as it enabled the 
council to determine whether the business would be a success but also gave a clear 
objective in the first year of trading.  
For more details of LATC business planning, please access publicly available reports and 
models produced in respect of Tricuro. The report considered in October 2014 anticipated 
that the LATC would save £6.8m over five years or around £1.4 million per year from the 
base budget. The report contains a high level options appraisal and detailed business plan 
and a risk assessment, equality impact account, a five year profit and loss and balance 

1.DECIDING TO SET UP 
A LATC 

2.SETTING UP A LATC 3. BUILDING A SUCCESSFUL 
LATC 

• Consider the 
strategic fit of the 
company with the 
council’s vision 

• Appraise options 
• Develop an outline 

business case 

• Obtain the right 
professional advice 

• Company registration 
• Trading 
• People 
• Pensions  
• Governance 
• Financing and Taxation 
• Transfer of assets and 

support service costs 
• Performance 

Management and 
contracting

• Put the right leadership team 
in place 

• Create the right culture 
• Reconsider reward 
• Build a customer focus 
• Build an appropriate vision 

and gain the commitment of 
the local authority 

• Prepare for the future 
• Creating and promoting the 

brand 
• Get to grips with costs 
• Build appropriate risk 

management and group 
governance 

© Local Government Information Unit, www.lgiu.org.uk, Third Floor, 251 Pentonville Road, London N1 9NG. Reg. 
charity 1113495. This briefing is available free of charge to LGiU subscribing members. Members are welcome to 
circulate internally in full or in part; please credit LGiU as appropriate. You can find us on Twitter at @LGiU

http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/case-study/2015/09/setting-buckinghamshire-care-local-authority-trading-company
https://www.dorsetforyou.com/article/417406/Tricuro---Local-Authority-Trading-Company-LATC-overview


POLICY BRIEFING
!
sheet forecast is presented. Details of staff consultation arrangements and results, market 
research, implementation and programme management sections are also available.   

Governance – LATCs need appropriate governance, including board chairship and 
composition, and appropriate procedures, protocols and systems to support human resource 
and risk management and service planning and associated monitoring and reporting 
arrangements. How these are developed, managed and balanced within the context of a 
new relationship with the local authority can be fraught with ambiguity, controversy and 
problems.   

Effective governance is key to protecting Norse and the councils working with Norse. Over 
time, Norse has established a clear governance structure that supports the business and 
provides surety to Norfolk County Council in risk management. Key factors are: 

• The two council appointees on the board have double votes and therefore control of 
company decisions; 

• A shareholder committee has oversight pf the company and receives a quarterly 
report; 

• Each group company has a liaison board that holds the company to account.  

For Buckinghamshire Care, the council felt that it was important to give Buckinghamshire 
Care directors sufficient space and control to drive the growth and develop the company. 
They also wanted to maintain strong links with the company – through the shareholders’ 
scrutiny group – ensuring the company's direction was in line with the council's objectives. 
They wanted to have the flexibility to incorporate additional services in the future. To achieve 
this, Buckinghamshire Care's shareholder scrutiny group includes two council members, the 
Section 151 officer, the director of adult services, the commissioning director and contracts 
manager. The group meets quarterly and aims to hold the company directors to account for 
the quality and value of the services provided to the council. This group is an essential 
component for the council to exert influence over the company and therefore meet the 
requirements of the Teckal exemption1. The structure aims to balance the council's need for 
control with the space the company needs to achieve the council's aims. The council 
remains 100% shareholder, thereby retaining a role in scrutiny and a level of control. 
KWL is a company controlled by Hull City Council which is the sole shareholder. Democratic 
accountability is ensured through the Kingstown Works Limited Shareholding Committee 
which receives reports from the board of KWL, which is itself made up of eight elected 
members from Hull City Council. The organisational model developed by KWL prioritises 
tight financial controls ensuring that the company has the freedom to innovate and bid for 
work as it arises within an overall framework of democratic accountability. Indeed, one 
important condition of its success, as recognised by its Business Leader, is that the board 
offers an effective challenge and scrutiny to senior management. 

Arrangements for social care and highways LATCS can be contrasted with some of the 
housing LATCs where service provision is more focused on discrete strategic outcomes with 
a small number of staff, and therefore less critical.  For NABCEL, concerned with trading and 
the purchase of housing for rent in the private rental sector market, governance issues are 
slightly different.  

For NABCEL, the company board structure comprises two non-executive directors – the 
council’s director of finance and director of housing – and three executive directors who are 
councillors. NABCEL has an AGM which takes place at a full council meeting, as the council 
is the only shareholder in the company. NABEL has board meetings but there is no review 
by the council’s scrutiny or audit committee.  

© Local Government Information Unit, www.lgiu.org.uk, Third Floor, 251 Pentonville Road, London N1 9NG. Reg. 
charity 1113495. This briefing is available free of charge to LGiU subscribing members. Members are welcome to 
circulate internally in full or in part; please credit LGiU as appropriate. You can find us on Twitter at @LGiU

http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/case-study/2015/09/setting-buckinghamshire-care-local-authority-trading-company
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/buckinghamshire-care--a-case-study-in-social-care/#fn1
http://www.apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/research/current-research-programme/municipal-entrepreneurship/municipal-entrepreneurship/


POLICY BRIEFING
!
In general, Grant Thornton believes shareholders committees are the most effective means 
of council governance.  

People - The motivation and development of staff transferring to the LATC is a recurring and 
vital theme. Most LATCs cite this as a key factor in creating a successful company and it 
appears to have been a key feature of the success of successful companies like CORMAC, 
Kingstown Works Limited, Kent Commercial Services and Norsk Ltd.  

LATCs have to find a way of winning the hearts and minds of the staff transferring into their 
LATC, and to tap into their creative potential and talents at a time when many may be feeling 
anxious, battered and bruised by threats of redundancy, a lack of information, and poorer 
terms and conditions.  

Poorer terms and conditions are real tangible problems, often involving changes to sick pay, 
holiday entitlement, and pensions, although pension liabilities are often resolved by local 
authorities retaining responsibility for past and future pension liabilities associated with 
transferred staff.  

Many LATCS have embraced organisational development interventions to help culture 
changes designed to build trust and flexibility within staff. Change agents or professional 
trainers are often engaged to develop commercial mindsets within their staff, when people 
are encouraged to develop and strengthen the business, and where they are trained, 
supported and developed.  

At Ashford, taking a more entrepreneurial role in housing has enabled staff to develop new 
skills and services in house. The council now has its own architects for example. 

Changing terms and conditions can provide opportunities to improve on some element eg 
reward mechanisms and improved rates of pay. At CORMAC, the initial TUPE transfer of 
staff to CORMAC gave employees the opportunity to move to CORMAC contracts. Key 
changes were on the sickness policy, with CORMAC not paying the first three days of 
sickness. This was mitigated with increases in rates for overtime pay and unsocial hours, 
where the council was struggling to offer competitive industry rates. In addition, a small 
bonus based on the profit share of the company was also part of the new CORMAC 
contracts. Take up of the CORMAC contracts was significant. 

Comment  
LATCs are interesting developments in the local government world. Many members and 
officers may perceive LATCs as one of the more positive developments at a time when there 
appears to be little light at the end of the tunnel for local government resourcing and service 
delivery.  

However, LATCS are not excluded from the prospects of a bumpy ride, not least because of 
continuing changes to the public service environment driven by central government, 
particularly in respect of housing and social care. That aside, when contemplating and 
planning the role of LATCS, local authorities need to think beyond shorter term public 
service environment, income generation, and Teckal considerations to the long term 
implications i.e. on the local authority side – to the acceptance of likely long term loss of 
direct control over discretionary service provision, on the LATC side to exposure to the 
vagaries to a commercial environment where growth or survival is dependent on the ability 
to adapt and develop new ways of delivering services, and where no safety net exists.  

© Local Government Information Unit, www.lgiu.org.uk, Third Floor, 251 Pentonville Road, London N1 9NG. Reg. 
charity 1113495. This briefing is available free of charge to LGiU subscribing members. Members are welcome to 
circulate internally in full or in part; please credit LGiU as appropriate. You can find us on Twitter at @LGiU



POLICY BRIEFING
!
Within this context, the development of LATCs may present a way forward in many areas 
and some grounds for optimism.  

Related briefings 

Income Generation – Charging & Trading: Policy in Practice Briefing 

Income Generation – General: Policy in Practice Briefing 

LGiU and Mears report  

Under Construction 

Sources of information 

Grant Thornton – Spreading their wings – Building a successful local authority trading 
company (LACT) 

Highlights key principles and details in developing successful LACTS. Considers TECKAL 
issues. Considers a range of detailed case studies.  

Grant Thornton – External Audit Update for the Corporate Governance and Standards 
Committee of Guildford Borough Council 

Contains a summary of the above and other relevant Grant Thornton financial reports but 
also a summary of existing local authority trading companies.  

LGA - Supporting housing – A Case Study Guide 

Provides examples of entrepreneurial activity led by councils to provide new homes in 
response to the demands of their local housing market and housing pressures and shares 
some of the learning from these councils. Considers a whole range of housing delivery 
options and case studies plus issues to consider in selecting the investment and delivery 
model, including those involved in council owned housing companies eg. Ashford – Housing,  
Thurrock - Housing.  

LGA – Enterprising Councils – getting the most from trading and charging Guide designed to 
help councillors and senior officers to navigate their way through difficult choices to be made 
about engagement in trading activities. Includes 3 case studies (The South West Audit 
Partnership; Norse Group, Essex Cares, Kent County Council).  

Branch Unison Guide to local authority trading companies A different perspective looking at 
LACTS and procurement rules, how they can be challenged and case studies. 

Capita – Creating council commercialism – A conversation – The purpose of the paper is to 
unpack the notion of ‘commercialism’ applied to councils and to offer some observations 
about how the councils that wish to pursue a degree of commerciality potentially achieve it.  

Localis - Commercial Councils – The rise of entrepreneurialism in local government – The 
report outlines how local government can secure its finances and boost local growth 

© Local Government Information Unit, www.lgiu.org.uk, Third Floor, 251 Pentonville Road, London N1 9NG. Reg. 
charity 1113495. This briefing is available free of charge to LGiU subscribing members. Members are welcome to 
circulate internally in full or in part; please credit LGiU as appropriate. You can find us on Twitter at @LGiU

http://www.lgiu.org.uk/briefing/income-generation-charging-trading-policy-in-practice-briefing/
http://www.lgiu.org.uk/briefing/income-generation-general-a-policy-in-practice-briefing/
http://www.lgiu.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Under-construction.pdf
http://www.grant-thornton.co.uk/Global/spreading-their-wings-LATC-report-2015.pdf
http://www2.guildford.gov.uk/councilmeetings/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=3666
http://www.local.gov.uk/publications/-/journal_content/56/10180/5956672/PUBLICATION
http://www.local.gov.uk/publications/-/journal_content/56/10180/3584042/PUBLICATION
https://www.unison.org.uk/content/uploads/2013/06/On-line-Catalogue212753.pdf
http://www.capita.co.uk/~/media/files/pdf/creating%20council%20commercialism%20final.pdf
http://www.localis.org.uk/images/localis%20-%20commercial%20councils%20final.pdf


POLICY BRIEFING
!
prospects by developing entrepreneurial approaches. It has a range of case studies dealing 
with local authority traded services. (Civic Enterprise Leeds, Kent Commercial Services, 
Barnet and Capita Joint Venture).  

Localis – Policy Platform – Trading Councils: How Local Authorities can innovatively use 
commercial powers. A range of local government leaders consider local authority capacity to 
trade and reap the rewards of commercial opportunities.  

Other Sources  

West Lindsey District Council Commercial Plan 2015 to 2020 

South Hams District Council – Creating a LACT  

Folkestone – Regeneration and Housing Company – Purpose and Options 

Guardian – Gloriana Thurrock – Is this the future of council house building 

AgendaNi – Service and Savings: the ALMO model  

www.dorsetforyou.com  Tricuro – LATC – Adult and Community Services in Dorset 

Wokingham BC – range of LACTS  

Range of articles and publications relating to the Barnet Group  

Range of LGA Case studies 

For more information about this, or any other LGiU member briefing, please 
contact Janet Sillett, Briefings Manager, on janet.sillett@lgiu.org.uk  

© Local Government Information Unit, www.lgiu.org.uk, Third Floor, 251 Pentonville Road, London N1 9NG. Reg. 
charity 1113495. This briefing is available free of charge to LGiU subscribing members. Members are welcome to 
circulate internally in full or in part; please credit LGiU as appropriate. You can find us on Twitter at @LGiU

http://www.localis.org.uk/images/trading%20councils.pdf
http://www.dorsetforyou.com
mailto:janet.sillett@lgiu.org.uk


South Hams District Council and West Devon 

Borough Council  
Options appraisal for establishment of  a local authority 

controlled company 

 

Final report 

 

13 January 2016 



Chartered Accountants 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston Square, London NW1 2EP. 

A list of members is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms.  

GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.  

Please see www.grantthornton.co.uk for further details. 

Our Ref SHWD/GC/GB 

 

South Hams District Council and West 

Devon Borough Council 

both of: 

Follaton House 

Plymouth Road  

Totnes 

TQ9 5NE 

 

14 January 2016 

Grant Thornton UK LLP  

Hartwell House 

55-61 Victoria Street 

BS1 6FT 

 

T +44 (0)117 3057600 

E @grant.thornton.co.uk 

www.grantthornton.co.uk  

We have pleasure in enclosing a copy of our report (the ‘Report’) containing the 

findings from our review in relation to South Hams District Council and West 

Devon Borough Council's (the ‘Councils’) proposal for establishing a local 

authority controlled company (‘LACC’).  The scope of this review was agreed in 

the Letter of Engagement dated 20 November 2015. 

Notwithstanding the scope of this engagement, responsibility for management 

decisions will remain with the Councils and not with Grant Thornton UK LLP.  

Context 
The Councils have worked closely together for a number of years, providing a 

range of shared services to the residents of South Hams and West Devon. The  

Councils have made a decision to consider setting up a jointly owned local 

authority controlled company to reduce costs further and generate income.   

The Councils are therefore seeking advice to assist them to understand the likely 

costs and benefits to be gained from introducing a LACC to deliver services. 

The findings for this work will enable the Councils and their elected members 

(Members) to understand if a local authority controlled company will meet the 

strategic objectives of the Councils. 

Limitation of  liability 
We draw the Councils' attention to the limitation of liability clauses in 

paragraphs 3.1 to 3.9 contained in our engagement letter dated 20 November 

2015. 

Forms of  report 
For the Councils' convenience, this report may have been made available to the 

Councils in electronic as well as hard copy format, multiple copies and versions 

of this report may therefore exist in different media and in the case of any 

discrepancy the final signed hard copy should be regarded as definitive. 

Dear Sirs 

Option appraisal for proposed set up of  a local authority controlled company 

Consultation Draft 



 
Grant Thornton UK LLP 

Confidentiality and reliance 
This report is for sole use of the Councils. We stress that our report and other 

communications are confidential and prepared for the addressee(s) only. They 

should not be used, reproduced or circulated for any other purpose, whether 

in whole or in part without our prior written consent, which consent will only 

be given after full consideration of the circumstances at the time. We agree 

that an addressee may disclose our report to its employees, officers, Members, 

directors, insurers and professional advisers as required by law or regulation, 

the rules or order of a stock exchange, court or supervisory, regulatory, 

governmental or judicial authority without our prior written consent but in 

each case strictly on the basis that we owe no duties to any such persons. 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 

responsibility to anyone other than the addressee(s) for our work or for our 

report and other communications. 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept any responsibility for 

any loss or damages arising out of the use of the report or other 

communications by the addressee(s) for any purpose other than in connection 

with the Purpose. 

 

General 
The report is issued on the understanding that the management of the 

Councils have drawn our attention to all matters, financial or otherwise, of 

which they are aware which may have an impact on our report up to the date 

of signature of this report. Events and circumstances occurring after the date 

of our report will, in due course, render our report out of date and, 

accordingly, we will not accept a duty of care nor assume a responsibility for 

decisions and actions which are based upon such an out of date report. 

Additionally, we have no responsibility to update this report for events and 

circumstances occurring after this date. 

We would like to thank the Councils' officers for making themselves available 

during the course of the review. 

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

 

 

- 2 - 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

4 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Contents 

Section Page 

Executive Summary 5 

Option A – 'As Is' 11 

Option B – Local Authority Controlled Company 16 

Appendices 

1 Scope of Services 27 

2 Investment costs 30 

3 Strategic fit and drivers for change 33 

4 Income and Expenditure forecast 36 

5 Accounting and asset considerations  39 

6 Market analysis 42 

7 Tax considerations 47 

8 Pension considerations 57 

9 Strengths and weaknesses 62 

10 Key risks 64 



Executive summary 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

6 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Executive summary 

Background 

South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council (the Councils) have 

worked closely together for a number of years, providing a range of shared services. 

Through the transformation programme, T18, the Councils have brought teams and 

services together into the following service blocks: 

• Customer First 

• Commercial Services  

• Support Services. 

The Councils have demonstrated their ability to be agile and have delivered new ways of 

working achieving a Gold Award for 'Delivering through Efficiency' and the Silver 

Award for 'Council of the Year at the Improvement and Efficiency Social Enterprise 

Awards (iESE). Through the transformational programme they plan to deliver £2.1m in 

savings by 31 March 2016.  

The Councils are now considering the next stage of joint working and are looking to 

establish a local authority controlled company (LACC). All services will transfer to the 

LACC, with only a small number of people remaining with the Councils; the Strategy 

and Commissioning function. Within this report we have considered the following two 

options, as requested by the Councils: 

• Option A -  'as is' position – continuation of the current arrangements 

• Option B - establishment of a Teckal exempt, LACC (the proposed company) to 

deliver all services. 

 

Other alternative delivery models have not been considered as they are outside the 

scope of this review. The setting up of the LACC would result in the Councils no longer 

directly delivering services and the Councils functioning as commissioning Councils. 

Options for waste services delivery 

Grant Thornton have been commissioned  by the Councils to produce cash flow 

projections for the Councils' waste services and to quantify the potential risks and 

benefits posed by the options available to the Councils going forward from expiry of the 

FCC Environment contract.  

Therefore waste services for both Councils are outside the scope of this review and have 

been reported separately by Grant Thornton. 

Approach 

Our approach included: 

• stakeholder meetings (officers and key Members), to understand the risks and 

benefits 

• documentation review and analysis, in relation to relevant information such as staff, 

accommodation and service costs 

• an income and expenditure forecast for the first year of operation for the LACC, 

based on information and assumptions provided by officers. This has enabled us to 

take account of the savings and income generating opportunities that might arise, 

such as staff costs, economies of scale and increased revenue. 

 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

7 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Executive summary 

Purpose 

We were engaged to identify the risks and benefits of the two options and  in particular 

to consider the risks and implications for the Councils if they were to establish a LACC. 

Summary findings 

We have not identified any significant hurdles that would prevent a LACC being 

established; conversely neither have we identified any distinct benefits that make a 

LACC the preferred option. 

Option A – 'as is' has been successful and enabled the Councils to develop new ways of 

working and begin to develop a commercial culture.  The key risk of this option is that 

existing service levels would have to change to meet future financial challenges and that 

existing arrangements would be unable to meet the recently identified budget funding 

gap.   

Option B - a LACC, will provide greater longer term opportunities to reduce costs and 

generate additional income from outside the Councils from other public sector bodies 

and the private sector.  However, it will take at least two years before it will become 

profitable, 2019 at the earliest.  

Its profitability will be dependent on it generating additional income, how this income 

will be generated is currently unclear.  In order to generate additional income the 

proposed company will need to develop its commercial skills and  ensure its culture is 

aligned to being a commercial entity. This can be achieved by building on the changes 

began through the T18 transformation programme and investing in cultural change 

within the LACC.  

The Council should consider the most appropriate time to establish the LACC taking 

into account how the investment costs will be funded and the lead time required before 

it will be able to generate additional income. Based on our  review we have not identified 

any clear indications as to whether it would be more beneficial to phase the transfer by 

service block.  

 

 

The Councils are proposing a LACC which will include over 400 members of 

staff TUPE transferring as well all services transferring to the proposed 

company. This may result in services transferring to the LACC which may be 

subsidised by the Councils.  However, these services could still be provided by 

the LACC to other councils and provide additional income for the proposed 

company. 

The first year will be a transitional year, as the new company adapts and identifies 

its potential market. As a result we have assumed that no additional income will 

be generated in the first year, but some savings will be made as a result of 

restructuring; this is shown in the summary Income and Expenditure forecast, set 

out overleaf. 

The opportunities are likely to increase as other councils look for others ways to 

meet the financial challenge. These opportunities could be maximised if the 

LACC was able to demonstrate its competitiveness in the relevant markets. 

Public sector organisations are also more likely to commission services from 

other public sector organisations than  commission the private sector, but this 

will vary between organisations.   

Within the proposed company the Councils should satisfy themselves that 

existing staff have the appropriate skills and capacity to drive the change in 

culture from the beginning. In our experience, successful LACCs have invested 

considerable amounts in staff consultation, change management and commercial 

leadership to ensure the development of its commercial acumen from the outset. 

Delaying this aspect is likely to extend the time it will take for the LACC to 

become commercially successful. 

The Council should be aware that neither option A or B will enable the Councils 

to meet their short term funding gaps identified as a result of the recent spending 

review. If successful the LACC will provide a longer term solution, for the short 

to medium tern alternative solutions will be required.  

 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

8 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Executive summary 

Summary income and expenditure forecast 

The table below sets out the expected income and expenditure for the proposed 

company in its first year of operation.  A deficit is forecast in the first year of 

operation. 

LACC forecast income and expenditure account 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: The Councils' 2015/16 budget 

Investment costs 

There are one-off investment costs involved in establishing the LACC.  We 

estimate that based on discussion with officers these could be in the region of 

£329,000. These costs are important to ensure the transition is effectively 

managed, the LACC is set up appropriately, both from a financial and legal 

position and the LACC is able to effectively operate in a commercial 

environment.  Further details are set out in Appendix 2. 

In our experience other councils have incurred expenditure in the region of 

£400,000.  

The Council should consider how these costs are to be funded and if this has an 

impact on when the LACC should be established. 

 

 

 

Strategic fit 

The future for local authorities is uncertain, both as a result of financial constraints and 

as English authorities begin to consider devolution. Both Councils recognise that change 

is inevitable and have begun to develop their vision and strategic direction within their 

corporate plans. These are at differing stages of development and are consistent with the 

Councils' objectives for transformation:  

• financial sustainability 

• maintain and protect front line services 

• provide quality services. 

Both options are not able to guarantee financial stability,  although the proposed 

company would provide greater opportunities with more possibilities to generate 

income from outside the Councils. The LACC offers longer term solutions which 

existing arrangements are unable to provide without having an impact on existing 

service provision. 

More detailed information can be found in Appendix 3. 

 

£m 

Income (6.67) 

Expenditure 7.12 

Savings (0.0.9) 

(Surplus)/deficit 0.36 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

9 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

In order to assess the two options for the direct delivery of services we have compared the two options below using the following considerations: governance, financial, people and 

tax. 

Key features  Governance  Financial People Tax 

A
s 

is
 

•  All services are directly 

controlled by the councils 

• Members are able to affect 

changes through their 

committee structure as set 

out in each individual 

constitution 

• Future uncertain as a result 

of devolution 

• More difficult to identify 

further savings 

• Elected Members within 

each council are 

accountable and the key 

decision makers 

• Slow decision making 

process in comparison to 

commercial 

organisations  

• South Hams: 

- net budget - £8.7m 

- Total budget gap over five 

years to 2020/21 is £1.4m 

• West Devon: 

- net budget - £7.3m 

- Total budget gap over five 

years to 2020/21 is £1.1m 

• Limited external revenue 

generation opportunities 

• No significant changes, 

employees will remain 

employed by the councils on 

the existing terms and 

conditions 

• The culture is likely to remain 

the same 

• Employees will remain in the 

Devon County Council 

Pension Fund (DCCPF) 

• There will be no impact 

L
A

C
C

, 
w

it
h

 t
e
c
k

a
l 

e
x

e
m

p
ti

o
n

 

•  Wholly owned company 

Councils being equal 

shareholders 

• Greater freedom to make 

quicker commercial decisions 

• Greater risk and potentially 

greater reward  

• Potential to reduce costs and 

increase income 

• Preferred cultural fit in 

comparison to other models 

eg. outsourcing or joint 

venture 

• Control through LACC 

Board and shareholder 

committee 

• Development of 

stronger commissioner 

side in the Councils 

• Financial and reputation 

risk of failure 

• Exit strategy required 

 

• Turnover in the region of £6.7m 

with a £0.36m deficit 

• Will take at least two years to be 

profitable 

• Investment costs - £329,000 

• Market – limited unlikely to 

deliver benefits for two years 

• Separate accounts required 

 

• Over 400 people will TUPE 

transfer 

• Potential to revise T&Cs 

• Cultural change required 

• Pensions – agreement on past 

deficit and admission of LGPS 

required 

 

 

• Subject to corporation tax 

(currently 20%; 19% from 2017 

and 18% from 2020) 

• Potential to apply to HMRC for 

dispensation from CT where 

trading solely to the Councils 

• VAT registration required 

• The activities will be regarded as 

business activities and the 

normal VAT rules will apply, but 

important to understand the 

nature of the LACC activities 

and to model precise tax impacts 

on the Councils 

Executive summary 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

10 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Executive summary 

Next steps 

The establishment of a LACC is complex and will require at least 18 months to 

set up.  The Councils are aware of this are considering operating shadow 

arrangements prior to becoming fully operational.  

The proposed timeline is as follows: 

• February 2016 – Councils decide if  a detailed business case for a LACC 

should be developed 

• June 2016 – Councils decide if a LACC should be established 

• April 2017 or April 2018  - the LACC would be operational 

If the Councils agree to proceed then we consider that the following should be 

undertaken: 

• strategic business case 

• outline business case 

• detailed business case, which should include detailed market analysis. 

Detailed legal advice has not been provided as part of this report and we 

recommend that it should be obtained to support the next stage of this process. 

Structure of  this report 

During the remainder of the report we set out our detailed findings in relation to the 

two options that have been considered.  

For both option A 'as is' and option B 'LACC' we have considered the following key 

features: 

• governance 

• financial 

• people  

• tax considerations. 

The appendices that provide more detailed information on: 

• scope of the services 

• investment costs 

• strategic fit and drivers for change 

• LACC income and expenditure forecast 

• account and asset considerations 

• market analysis 

• tax considerations 

• pension considerations 

• strengths and weaknesses 

• key risks. 

 



Evaluation of  Option A:   

‘As-is’ 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

12 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Option A:  ‘As-is’ 

Summary 

Existing partnership arrangements between the two Councils have delivered new ways of working and transformational savings.  Further savings are planned in the short term, but 

the savings required to meet the budget gap in the medium to long term require further development. The Councils need to consider if there are still other opportunities within the 

existing arrangements that are not yet explored to reduce costs, or whether the opportunities have been exhausted. 

In order to establish the continued fitness for purpose of the direct delivery of services we have compared this option to a LACC using the following criteria: governance, 

financial, people and tax considerations.  This should help the Councils to identify the model that best meets their future requirements 

 

 Key features  Governance  Financial People Tax 

A
s 

is
 

•  All services are directly 

controlled by the councils 

• Members are able to affect 

changes through their 

committee structure as set 

out in each individual 

constitution 

• Future uncertain as a result 

of devolution 

• More difficult to identify 

further savings 

• Elected Members within 

each council are accountable 

and the key decision makers 

• Slow decision making 

process in comparison to 

commercial organisations  

 

• South Hams: 

- net budget - £8.7m 

- Total budget gap over five years 

to 2020/21 is £1.4m 

• West Devon: 

- net budget - £7.3m 

- Total budget gap over five years 

to 2020/21 is £1.1m 

• Limited external revenue 

generation opportunities 

 

• No significant changes, 

employees will remain 

employed by the councils on 

the existing terms and 

conditions 

• The culture is likely to remain 

the same 

• Employees will remain in the 

Devon County Council Pension 

Fund (DCCPF) 

 

• There will be no impact 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

13 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Option A:  ‘As-is’ 

Governance 

Structure 

The elected Members within each Council are the key decision makers.  In West Devon 

Borough Council a committee structure is in place and issues will be discussed first by 

the 'Hub' committee, before decisions are made by full council.  Whereas in South 

Hams District Council an 'Executive ' decision making process is in place.  Both systems 

result in a slow decision making process in comparison to a commercial organisation. 

The Councils do not have robust contract management controls in place. These are not 

considered necessary for in-house services, as a result service level agreements are not in 

place.  Service delivery is monitored against key performance indicators, but the level of 

monitoring varies.  At present the Councils' contract management arrangements are 

focused on outsourced services, such as leisure and waste services (West Devon).  These 

arrangements are considered adequate by the Councils. 

Exit Strategy 

An exit strategy is not required for this option. 

 

 

Key Features 

Type of  delivery vehicle 

The majority of  services are delivered directly by the Councils, although leisure and 

West  Devon waste services are outsourced.  Members are able to effect change 

through their committee structure as set out in each individual constitution. Members 

are involved and good relationships exist between officers and Members. 

Accounting requirements 

Councils in the United Kingdom are required to prepare their statutory financial 

statements in line with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 

United Kingdom (the Code) which is based on International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS), except where these are inconsistent with specific statutory 

requirements.  This will remain unchanged. 

Assets and transfer arrangements 

No asset transfers are required for the continuation of in-house service. Further 

information can be found in Appendix 5. 

Market analysis 

Local authorities are able to generate additional income and do so by charging for 

services which they provide, such as car parking and licensing and regulation 

services.  Evaluation and looking at ways of maximising their income is outside the 

scope of this review.  

The Councils are able to trade with other public bodies without setting up a 

company. They can do this under Section 1 of the Local Authorities (Goods and 

Services) Act 1970, which enables local authorities to sell certain goods and services 

to other  "public bodies" at cost. However, few take advantage of this option as it 

does not enable them to make a profit. 

 

Further information on the market analysis can be found in Appendix 6. 

 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

14 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Option A:  ‘As-is’ 

South Hams DC 
2015/16: Net budget – £8.7m 

West Devon BC 
2015/16:  Net budget – £7.3m 

Financial Case 

The charts below illustrate the net budget for each Council in 2015/16. The Councils need to deliver  £2.5m in savings by 2020/21. The Councils are currently looking to identify 

how this budget gap will be met.  The Councils will have to identify how these funding gaps will be achieved, which ever option is selected. 

Customer First

Commercial Services

Strategy and
Commissioning

Support Services

Customer First

Commercial Services

Strategy and
Commissioning

Support Services

Total budget gap over the five years to 2020/21 - £1.4m. Total budget gap over the five years to 2020/21 - £1.1m. 

Financial 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

15 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Pension contributions by Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tax  

VAT 

The existing VAT arrangements are VAT efficient and the Councils will not suffer any 

irrecoverable VAT in its provision of services. 

Corporation tax 

The Councils, as local authorities are exempt from corporation tax on any surpluses 

arising from the provision of services.   

Employment taxes 

As there would be no change existing arrangements would continue. 

Further information can be found in Appendix 7. 

Key risks 
A significant risk  for this option is that it will be unable to meet the planned budget gap 

without having to change or stop the delivery of some services.  Further risks are 

identified in Appendix 10.  

 
 

 

 

Option A:  ‘As-is’ 

There is no impact on people as they will continue to be employed by either South 

Hams District Council or West Devon Borough Council.  

Savings could be achieved through changes to the terms and conditions, such as 

changes to sickness absence, travel expenses and redundancy benefits. 

Staff savings have been delivered through the T18 programme and will continue in 

2016.  

Culture 

Through the transformation T18 programme the Councils have begun to change and 

develop a more commercial culture.  This has begun through  the recruitment process 

with both new and existing staff being recruited by behaviours, which include 

commercial attributes. Going forward the Councils need to consider how cultural 

change could be further stimulated. 

Pensions 

Both Councils participate in the Devon County Council Pension Fund (DCCPF), also 

know as the Peninsula pension fund. The contribution rates differ between the two 

Councils as identified opposite and would continue for the foreseeable future. 

Further information can be found in Appendix 8. 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 
% £ % £ % £ 

WDBC 12.2 417,000 12.2 432,000 12.2 452,000 

SHDC 14.1 141,000 14.8 146,000 14.8 153,999 

People 



Evaluation of  Option B:   

A local authority  

controlled company 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

17 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Option B:  A local authority controlled company 

Summary 

The establishment of a LACC will require significant change across the Councils. The LACC has the ability to generate additional income from other public sector bodies 

and the private sector, but needs to develop its commercial skills to ensure this opportunity is realised. 

 

 

 

Key features  Governance  Financial People Tax 

L
A

C
C

, 
w

it
h

 t
e
c
k

a
l 

e
x

e
m

p
ti

o
n

 

•  Wholly owned 

company Councils 

being equal 

shareholders 

• Greater freedom to 

make quicker 

commercial 

decisions 

• Greater risks and 

potentially greater  

rewards 

• Potential to reduce 

costs and increase 

income 

• Preferred cultural fit 

in comparison to 

other models such as 

outsourcing. 

• Control through LACC 

Board and shareholder 

committee 

• Development of  stronger 

commissioner side in the 

Councils 

• Financial and reputation 

risk of  failure 

• Exit strategy required 

 

• Turnover in the region of  

£6.7m with a £0.36m deficit 

• Investment costs - £329,000 

• Market – limited unlikely to 

deliver benefits for two years 

• Separate accounts required 

 

• Over 400 people TUPE 

transfer 

• Potential to revise T&Cs 

• Cultural change required 

• Pensions – agreement on 

past deficit and admission 

of  LGPS required 

 

 

• Subject to corporation tax 

(currently 20%; 19% from 

2017 and 18% from 2020) 

• Potential to apply to 

HMRC for dispensation 

from CT where trading 

solely to the Councils 

• VAT registration required 

• The activities will be 

regarded as business 

activities and the normal 

VAT rules will apply, but 

important to understand 

the nature of  the LACC 

activities and to model 

precise tax impacts on the 

Councils 

 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

18 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Option B:  A Local authority controlled company 

Key Features 
Type of  delivery vehicle 

The proposed vehicle is a  local authority wholly owned company, limited 

by shares with Teckal exemption. The proposed company would have equal 

share ownership between the two Councils and have limited liability. 

A LACC would enable the Councils to retain control and where there is a 

commercially viable proposition, to trade separately through a commercial 

vehicle. They have become increasingly popular, as authorities need to 

reduce costs and look to how they might generate additional income.  The 

range and type of services they provide is also becoming more diverse.  

This type of legal entity enables profits to be both retained by the proposed 

company and to be shared by the Councils.  It also offers greater flexibility 

in how the profits will be shared, between the two Councils and across 

different services. 

At present the profit share is uncertain, but is likely to reflect the same 

proportion as resources invested into the proposed company. 

The main purpose of the proposed company will be to deliver existing 

Council services, whilst it develops its commerciality and ability to trade. 

The Teckal exemption allows the Councils to award contracts directly. The 

contracts with the Councils would be protected and have legal exemption 

from European procurement laws. It also gives the proposed company 

freedom to trade up to 20% of its turnover,  in the region of £1.33m in the 

first year.  It should be noted that this figure is indicative only and detailed 

work will be required to understand the level of activity and turnover for 

each service provided by the proposed company. 

  

In order to meet the Teckal requirements, the proposed company has to satisfy the 

control and function test.  The Councils have to exercise control over the proposed 

company similar to that which it exercises over its own departments, the control test. 

The function test requires that the majority (80%) of activity undertaken by the 

proposed company should be undertaken for the controlling Councils.  

Accounting requirements 

Implications for the proposed company 

In the UK, the Companies Act 2006 allows companies, other than charities to prepare 

their accounts in accordance with either  the International Financial Reporting Standards  

(IFRS) or the Companies Acts and UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practices 

(UKGAAP). The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has issued three new accounting 

standards, FRS 100-102, which will replace all existing FRS's, SSAPs and UITFs. The 

new financial reporting framework will be applicable on a mandatory basis for the 

majority of UK entities for reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2015.  

Implications for the Council 

The Councils will be required to prepare their statutory financial statements in line with 

the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code) 

which is based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), except where 

these are inconsistent with specific statutory requirements.   

The Code requires Councils to prepare group accounts in accordance with IFRS10 

Consolidated Financial Statements and that Councils with interests in subsidiaries, 

associates or joint arrangements may need to prepare Group Accounts in addition to 

their single entity financial statements, unless their interest is considered not material.  

Each Council will need to consider whether the company is a subsidiary, associate or 

joint arrangement before establishing how to account for the proposed company. The 

Councils will need to account for any initial investment in the proposed company in its 

single entity accounts. 

 

 

 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

19 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Option B:  A Local Authority controlled company 

Assets and transfer arrangements 

The Councils have a number of options relating to the use of assets: 

• retain ownership and lease to company, either operational of finance lease 

• sell the assets 

• transfer the assets to the proposed company 

It is likely that the Councils will use a combination of the above.  Within the Income 

and Expenditure forecast we have assumed that land and property have remained 

with the Councils and that other assets would transfer to the proposed company. 

This would have the effect of putting value into the company's accounts. However, 

legal advice should be taken to ensure  the proposed company is not given an unfair 

advantage and state aid is not being provided. 

Further details can be found in Appendix 5.  

Market analysis 

The proposed company will need to develop and build on its existing commercial 

expertise and as a result will require at least two years to develop its skills and 

understanding of the market before it can expect to generate additional income.  

Therefore we have not included any additional income within the company's income 

and expenditure forecast. 

 

Currently there is no clear market for which the proposed company should focus, but a 

range of possible opportunities which will require significant development before the 

company might win new business.   

In the potential market areas we explored we found that the most successful traders 

were private companies such as Capita or joint venture companies, where the local 

authorities had established a company with an experienced private sector partner.  

The indications are that demand across Devon and Somerset is limited as a large 

proportion of services are provided in-house, where services have been outsourced the 

proposed company will have to compete with these experienced commercial companies. 

However, opportunities are likely to increase as other councils look for others ways to 

meet the financial challenge. These opportunities could be achieved  if the LACC was 

able to demonstrate its competitiveness in the relevant markets.  Public sector 

organisations are also more likely to commission services from other public sector 

organisations than commission the private sector, but this will vary between 

organisations.  This may give the proposed company an advantage over the private 

sector if the other councils have a limited appetite to trade with the private sector in the 

South West.  

Therefore the Councils have made the assumption that  as other councils in the south 

west look for ways to reduce costs then a far wider range of service contracts may 

become available to the proposed company.  They have assumed that  if the proposed  

company was able to win 1% of the net budget from the Devon districts, this could 

generate£600,000 in additional income. If this assumption is correct then similar 

benefits would be possible from within Somerset and Cornwall.  However, the cost for 

the LACC to deliver this service is unknown at the stage, so the likely profit is also 

unknown.  

More detailed information can be found in Appendix 6.                   



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

20 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Option B:  A Local authority controlled company 

Governance  

Structure 

Appropriate governance arrangements are essential and important to both the Councils 

and the proposed company. 

The proposed company requires a Board of Directors with clear roles and 

responsibilities to drive and develop the LACC's purpose, culture and values in order to 

achieve success. The Board requires a chair and membership from both Councils, to 

enable it to influence the activity of the company but also in order to retain control – a 

Teckal requirement. This can be achieved by appropriate membership on the Board or 

through a shareholder committee, also members of the board can have double voting 

rights to achieve this.  

Membership of the Board requires further consideration, the following is a possible 

option and the additional costs have been taken into account within the Income and 

Expenditure forecast in Appendix 4: 

• Independent Chair (part time) – recruitment of a suitable candidate required 

• Managing Director – post to be filled by the Executive Director, employed by the 

LACC 

• Councils' Representative (possible 2 votes) – Executive Director, employed by the 

Councils 

• Other Councils' representative members to be identified. 

The role of elected members also needs to be considered.  Elected Members could be 

members of the Board or members of the joint share holder committee, which is 

discussed below. 

A critical success factor for establishing a successful LACC is the ability to create a 

commercial culture and to develop commercial skills across the workforce. The 

proposed company Board has to be commercially aware and lead the cultural change.  

The Managing Director should have the skill set to drive the change required, to enable 

it to compete and generate additional income.  Local authority experience will be 

beneficial in the transition period as the company moves from a local authority culture 

to a competitive commercial focus, but is not essential. 

The Council should also consider the benefits of other councils joining the proposed 

company and becoming a shareholder, once it has been established.  This is possible for 

a LACC and the governance arrangements should be future proofed when the company 

is being established, such as the company's article of association. Legal advice may be 

required to ensure the Councils' future requirements are met and potential shareholders 

are not excluded.  

Shareholder/Commissioner relationship 

To begin with the proposed company will be focused on its formation, but needs to 

ensure its relationship with the shareholders and the commissioner/client function is 

developed and effective.  The Councils will have to hold both these roles.  

At this stage only one LACC is being considered; the business case should consider if 

more than one LACC would be beneficial. 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

21 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Option B:  A Local Authority controlled company 

Shareholder/Commissioner relationship 

Shareholder committees are an effective means of council governance as they provide: 

• an effective focus for contact between the LACC Board and the Councils 

• a mechanism for the shareholders to communicate their views to the LACC 

• the ability to evaluate the effectiveness of the Board in line with its agreed strategic 

objectives without becoming involved with the operational detail. 

In order to provide oversight, avoid duplication between the Councils and prevent 

members becoming involved in the operational detail we suggest that the proposed 

company should have a shareholder committee.  It would include elected members and 

should operate as a sub-committee of both Councils in order to be effective and ensure 

timely decisions are made.   

The shareholder committee would need to have delegated authority and be able to make 

decisions relating to the proposed company.  The proposed company could loose its 

competitive edge and not be able to react quickly enough if decisions have to be passed 

to the Executive in South Hams DC and to the hub committee in West Devon BC. 

Although reserved matters could be identified for decisions by the Executive or the hub 

committee, we recommend that due consideration is given to these to ensure an 

effective approach is adopted. 

The Councils anticipate having a strong commissioner/client side role with the 

proposed company which will be distinct and clearly separate from its shareholder role.  

The Councils intend to have clear contract management arrangements in place.  At 

present a soft approach is taken and robust procurement controls are not maintained 

over the Councils' in-house services.  The Councils consider that these capabilities and 

skills require development, as a result they intend to invest in these skills and incur 

additional cost to the Councils. 

In our experience having strong contract management arrangements in place is highly 

contentious and strongly resisted by LACCs.  In some instances such arrangements were 

considered to have had an impact on service delivery and stifled the LACC's commercial 

freedom. 

Exit Strategy 

An exit strategy is a pre-agreed approach which would be followed if the LACC was no-longer 

beneficial and beginning to make significant losses. It should be agreed when the LACC is set up 

and not be consider when things begin to deteriorate. It should be a contractual agreement. 

The Councils should be clear as to the level and extent of support they would provide and how this 

might differ for separate aspects of the service.  Although the LACC is limited by shares, and limits 

the Councils' liability, the Councils will need to take into account their reputational risk and their 

statutory responsibilities. 

Consideration should also be given to whether all services would be brought in-house or an 

alternative supplier identified should the LACC fail.  We are not aware of any Councils which have 

not met their liabilities when their LACC failed, but clarity is required and should be set out in the 

exit strategy. 

The treatment of and transfer of assets and leases should be included.  Any leases which will 

transfer to the LACC should have a defined length and should allow for transfer back to the 

Council. 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

22 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Option B:  A Local Authority controlled company 

Financial 

In the first year of trading, the LACC is expected to generate a deficit of £0.36m. The 

deficit position after one year of trading is in line with expectation given that the cost of 

service delivery is not expected to reduce and additional costs associated with operating 

as a commercial entity are anticipated. 

Income and expenditure forecast for the proposed LACC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A detailed income and expenditure forecast is set out in Appendix 4. 

 

Investment costs 

There are one-off investment costs involved in establishing the LACC.  We estimate 

that based on discussion with officers these would be in the region of £329,000.   

 

 

The main costs associated with setting up a LACC are: 

• Legal costs – registration of the company and associated documents e.g. 

memorandum of understanding  

• Staff consultation and change management 

• Creation of service contract between the Councils and the Company and agreement 

of associated key performance indicators 

• Establishment of a governance structure – to manage the transfer and to effect the 

cultural change necessary for increased commerciality 

• Project management and implementation 

Further detail on the investment cost can be found in Appendix 2 

What will remain with each Council? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Hams 

• Net budget – £1,358,000 

• 16% of  the council's 

original budget 

• 15 FTE 

West Devon 

• Net budget – £820,651 

• 11% of  the council's 

original budget  

• 14 FTE 

£m 

Income (6.67) 

Expenditure 7.12 

Savings 0.09 

(Surplus)/deficit 0.36 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

23 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Option B:  A Local Authority controlled company 

People 

We would anticipate that the transfer of undertakings (Protection of Employment) 

Regulations 2006 (TUPE) would apply and that staff would transfer under these 

regulations.  This is complex legislation and legal advice should be sought to ensure 

compliance.  

If all service blocks including the South Hams waste services were to transfer the 

proposed company then over 435 people, equivalent to approximately 410 FTEs would 

transfer. 

The transfer of people would be a key stage in establishing the company and would 

require careful consideration to ensure the process is effectively managed to ensure 

everyone is fully engaged.   

A significant number of Councils are able to deliver efficiencies and savings through the 

introduction of a LACC.  These are achieved through changes to the terms and 

conditions, scale economies as well as redesigning services.  

The Councils are not anticipating delivering  significant efficiencies through the 

establishment of the proposed company as efficiencies have been delivered through the 

T18 programme.  Some management re-structuring is possible and this has been taken 

into account in the Income and Expenditure forecast in Appendix 4. 

Many LACCs have taken the opportunity to revise the terms and conditions to 

transferring people.  TUPE does not apply to new starters and some LACC have 

reviewed the terms and conditions for new starters.  

The Councils do not intend changing the terms and conditions in the early stages of the 

process. We are aware that any changes have to be considered against equal pay and 

other legal requirements but this is one area where savings might be possible and the 

Councils should ensure they do not miss this opportunity.  

 

The terms and conditions for individual services should be benchmarked against the 

market.  This would identify if existing services are competitive and whether they would 

be able to compete for commercial contracts. 

The Councils should also consider how best to communicate any changes to 

employment arrangements to employees with the aim of avoiding where possible a 

negative impact on employee morale. 

Culture 

The motivation and development of the people transferring to the proposed company 

will be a critical success factor and the development of commercial skills is vital. 

Through the transformation  T18 programme the Councils have begun to change and 

develop a more commercial culture. Further cultural changes will be required, but the 

scale of the transfer and the numbers involved are unlikely to result in positive changes 

without  clear specific focus on what is required and how this can be achieved.  

To begin with very few things will appear to have changed, everyone will continue to 

deliver the same work in the same location.  There is also the risk that some staff may 

not view the change as positive change and this could have negative impact on culture. 

As discussed earlier this change in culture needs to be driven and led by the Board, 

building on the work already undertaken.  

In our experience successful LACCs have invested in staff consultation, change 

management and commercial leadership to ensure development of its commercial 

acumen from the beginning. The Councils do intend to invest  in one-off set up costs, 

but should also satisfy themselves that existing staff have the appropriate skills and 

capacity to drive the change in culture from the beginning.  We consider that delaying 

these changes is likely to extend the time it will take for the LACC to be successful. 

 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

24 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Option B:  A Local Authority controlled company 

Skills and capacity gaps 

In order to win new work and generate additional income the proposed company will 

need to write bids and tenders.  These skills may exist within the proposed company, 

but if they do not or there is insufficient capacity, they can be achieved either by directly 

employing someone with those skills or by buying in those skills as required. During the 

transition period the proposed company will develop existing skills, up-skill its 

workforce and will buy in these services as required. 

Training is also likely to be required. 

We do not anticipate that there would be any redundancy costs within the first year of 

operation of the proposed company. 

Pension considerations 

Whilst there are hurdles and some costs to overcome there should be no major issues 

associated with jointly setting up a local authority controlled company, whose employees 

have continuous membership of the Devon County Council Pension Fund (DCCPF).   

The potential hurdles and costs are likely to relate largely to agreement over the 

treatment of any past service deficit associated with current employees, and with the 

completion of an admission agreement into the DCCPF. 

We anticipate that the past service deficits for all employees of West Devon Borough 

Council and South Hams District Council are likely to be in the region of £7.0m and 

£3.1m respectively as at 31 March 2013.   These figures are indicative only and will need 

to be recalculated, but provide a basis for discussion between the Councils and the 

proposed company. Agreement should be sought as to whether these deficits should 

remain with the Councils or transfer to the proposed company and how the deficits will 

be funded.   

 

In our experience LACCs see pension costs as a significant hurdle and the cost of 

funding the deficit as prohibitive.  In the majority of instances the pension deficit 

remains the responsibility of the council; or the council issue a guarantee indemnifying 

the LACC.   

If the Councils were to retain the responsibility of the pension deficit then the contract 

rates could be increased to compensate.  However, the proposed company needs to 

ensure it remains competitive wherever the responsibility for the deficit lies. 

An admission agreement will need to be entered into with DCCPF.  The Councils could 

offer open or closed membership for new starters. Although if the proposed company 

opted for closed admission this  could provide an opportunity to control or reduce 

pension costs going forward. A revised contribution rate for the employees of each 

Council would be calculated and could be higher or lower than the current rates.  

Pension arrangements are complex and will require both legal and actuary advice going 

forward and will contribute to the set up costs of the proposed company. 

The Income and Expenditure forecast for the proposed company has not taken into 

account the cost of the pension deficit for the new arrangements, but does include 

existing pension deficit costs. 

More detailed information is set out in Appendix 8. 

 

 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

25 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Option B:  A Local Authority controlled company 

Tax considerations 

VAT 

VAT registration is compulsory if the UK turnover of taxable goods and services (any 

sales that are not exempt from VAT) over the previous 12 months goes over the VAT 

threshold. The proposed company will need to register for VAT as its taxable income is 

likely to exceed the current VAT registration threshold (currently £82,000 per annum).  

If the Councils transfer services to the proposed company, these activities will be 

regarded as business activities and will not be subject to any Special Legal Regime. This 

means that normal VAT rules will apply. If the activities are fully taxable (standard, 

reduced or zero rated) there should be no restriction on the input tax recovery. If, 

however, there are exempt activities then there may be some input tax restriction. This 

will depend on the nature of the activities and services that the proposed company is 

planning to supply.  

Corporation tax 

Currently Councils are not taxed on the profits arising from the provision of services.  

In contrast, a LACC will be chargeable to corporation tax on these profits. 

A LACC can benefit from tax reliefs such as capital allowances. Further reliefs may also 

be available but these will rely on a holding company structure (reliefs could include 

group relief/consortium relief and capital gains tax relief). 

It may be possible to achieve tax exempt status by setting up the LACC as an Arms-

Length Management Organisations (ALMOs) in respect of some of the services to be 

undertaken by the LACC or by obtaining mutual trade status.  These tax exemptions are 

only available when the services are provided wholly to Councils and not to third parties. 

(These are discussed in more detail in the corporate tax section in Appendix 7). 

Employment taxes  

There should not be any major employment tax pitfalls in setting up the proposed 

company, although this should be reviewed to confirm the position once draft 

arrangements are agreed.  

The proposed company will need to set up a new payroll and ensure employment tax 

governance processes such as an expenses policy and system are in place. It might be 

possible to use the Councils' existing systems and processes in respect of this. 

The proposed company should review what its approach will be to employee reward 

and benefits in the context of the governance requirements and design its benefits and 

(if applicable) incentive offering accordingly.  



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

26 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Option B:  A Local Authority controlled company 

Outline timeline 

A number of possibilities exist depending on whether the outsourced waste services 

transfer into the proposed company.  The timeline opposite is scenario one and two: 

1. all services including West Devon waste services transfer when the existing contract 

expires on the 31 March 2017 

2. as above but the waste contract would be extended for one year 

 

If waste services do not transfer to the LACC then the timeline would be the same as 

scenario two. 

 

 

Key decision/milestone Deadline Deadline 

Scenario one Scenario two 

Discussions began with people 

and trade unions 

November 2015 November 2015 

Councils in principle agree to 

establish a LACC 

January and 

February 2016 

January and 

February 2016 

Full Business case developed April 2016 April 2016 

Councils agree to establish a 

LACC 

June 2016 June 2016 

Planning implementation stage July 2016 to March 

2017 

July 2016 to March 

2018 

LACC established January 2017 

Shadow run of LACC begins 1 April 2017 

People and services transfer into 

the proposed company 

1 April 2017 1 April 2018 



Appendix 1: 

Scope of  Services 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

28 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Scope of  Services 

Background 

The Councils have worked closely together for a number of years, providing a range of 

shared services. Through the transformation programme T18 the Councils have brought 

teams and services together into the three service blocks. We have set out below the 

services that are expected to transfer to the proposed company within the three service 

blocks.   

The 2015/16 budgets include those services that might transfer to the proposed 

company and exclude leisure services which are outsourced. 

The FTE figures have been based on the employing authority, it should be noted that 

staff may work across both Councils. 

Customer first 
• Field based customer contact teams 

• Customer Contact Centre/Reception 

• Planning & Building Control 

• Licensing & Enforcement 

• Strategic Planning/Development Management 

• Housing Advice 

• Revenue & Benefits 

• Environmental Health 

• Assets & Civil Engineering 

• Economic Development (technical advice). 

Planned budget and FTEs for customer first 

 

Commercial Services 

• Waste Management Function (South Hams waste services are provided in-house, 

whereas West Devon services are currently outsourced)  

• Transport 

• Environmental Services 

• Grounds Maintenance 

• Estates Maintenance 

• Street Cleansing 

• Car Parks & Park & Ride 

• Management of Salcombe Harbour 

• Management of Dartmouth Lower Ferry 

 

Planned budget and FTEs for commercial services 

2015/16 South Hams West Devon 

Budget £3,229,691 £3,292,825 

FTE 119 49 

2015/16 South Hams West Devon 

Budget £2,648,058 £2,076,869 

FTE 160.18 3 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

29 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Scope of  Services 

Support Services 

The third service block includes back-office services.  These services would provide 

support to the LACC and the Councils should a LACC be established.  

The budget for West Devon includes an element of cost for the pension deficit for all 

West Devon employees. 

• HR 

• ICT 

• Finance 

• Legal 

• Payroll 

• Project Management  

• Print & Design 

• Post / Logistics 

Planned budget and FTEs for support services 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Hams West Devon 

2015/16 Budget £275,200 £324,280 

FTES 39 17 



Appendix 2: 

One off  investment costs 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

31 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

South Hams 

 LACC  

West Devon 

 LACC Total Reference 
Estimates 

Staff Change Management 10,000 10,000 20,000 Note 1 

Pension Administration                   8,500                  8,500                     17,000  Note 2 

Legal Advice 44,500 44,500                    89,000  Note 3 

Finance Support & Advice                 22,500                22,500                     45,000  Note 4 

IT system & resource                   5,000                  5,000                     10,000  Note 5 

Recruitment                 11,250                11,250  22,500 Note 6 

Project Management & Implementation                 25,000                25,000                     50,000  Note 7 

Cost of full business case and implementation plan                 37,500                37,500                     75,000  Note 8 

Total 164,250            164,250                  328,500  

Estimated one off  investment costs 

Source: The Councils and Grant Thornton 

• We anticipate that an additional cost in respect of  branding and marketing will be incurred as part of  this investment, however, this will be 

at the discretion of  the Councils. 

• The Councils anticipate that there will also be some contingent costs which have not been factored into these estimates. 

• There are potential savings to be made should the Councils decide to bring the West Devon waste and ground maintenance services in 

house, the Councils estimate that these savings will be in the region of  £50k and £20k, respectively. 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

32 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Assumptions of  one off  investment costs 

 Assumptions 
General  
• One off investment costs have been allocated 50:50 between South 

Hams and West Devon. 

 

1. Staff  Change Management 
• This is based on our research of the appointment of 0.5 FTE salary 

of an external change management specialist over a period of 12 

months. Change management will focus on cultural change for staff. 

 

2. Pensions Administration 
• This is based on the advice provided by our pensions experts. We 

have prudently assumed the higher allowance of £10,000 for actuarial 

costs for calculating and discussing the deficit allocation and 

calculating a contribution rate for a new body and £7,000 of 

consultancy costs for guidance of setting up a new admitted body 

and liaison with legal advisors, the DCCPF and actuarial advisers. 

 

3. Legal Advice 
• This is based on our experience of working with legal firms and 

includes £10,000 of legal costs associated with  pensions,  £15,000 

for governance arrangements within the LACC, £6,000 for an 

options report, £10,000 for the incorporation of the company, 

£14,000 for the service delivery contract, £25,000 for the provision 

of the legal document for ten leases and £9,000 for the establishment 

of six Service Level Agreements. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

4. Finance Support & Advice 
• This is based on 30 days of external financial support for a fee of 

£1,500 per day.  

 

5. IT System & resource 
• This is based on information provided by the Councils' support 

services.  It is anticipated that Civica will charge a one off fee of 

£6,000 and there will also be a requirement for internal resource for 

the initial process of £4,000. 

 

6. Recruitment 
• This is based on a recruitment fee of 25% of the anticipated external 

appointments' salary, including the NED, change management 

specialists and project manager. 

 

7. Project Management & Implementation 
• This is based on our research of an average salary for an external 

project manager over a period of 12 months.  The project manager 

will focus on implementation of the trading company. 

 

8. Cost of  full business case and implementation plan 
• For external support, in our experience, business cases for LACC's 

range from £50,000 to £100,000, we have therefore included a cost 

of £75,000 as an indication of what the Councils might expect to 

pay. 



Appendix 3: 

Strategic fit and 

drivers for change 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

34 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Strategic fit 

Strategic fit  

The future for local authorities is uncertain, both as a result of financial constraints and 

as English authorities begin to consider devolution. Both Councils recognise that change 

is inevitable and have begun to develop  their vision and strategic direction within their 

corporate plans.  These are at differing stages of development and are consistent with 

the Councils' objectives for transformation:  

• financial sustainability 

• maintain and protect front line services 

• provide quality services. 

The table opposite compares how these the Councils' strategic principles can be 

achieved by the existing arrangements and the proposed company. 

 

 

 

Principle 'As is' LACC 

Financial stability  Further transformational 

change required.  Both 

Councils have yet to 

identify how MTFP  

funding gaps will be met 

Other opportunities in 

addition to T18 to reduce 

costs.  Ability to generate 

additional income from the 

wider public and private 

sector 

Maintain and 

protect frontline 

services 

Services can be protected 

to a point through 

transformational change, 

decisions may then have 

to be made to reduce or 

stop some services 

Offers longer term solutions 

and acts as a catalyst to 

reduce costs and generate 

new income 

Provides a commercial 

environment 

Provide quality 

services 

Achieved through 'soft' 

service delivery 

monitoring 

The Councils intend to 

introduce more robust 

contract management 

arrangements to ensure 

quality is maintained 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

35 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Drivers for change 

Both Councils have faced (and will continue to face) significant financial pressures for 

the foreseeable future. The Councils have demonstrated their ability to be agile and have 

delivered news ways of working.  Through the transformational programme T18, they 

have delivered £450,000 in savings in 2015/16 and plan to deliver £2.1m in savings by 

31 March 2016.  

Both Councils recognise that the financial pressures will continue and consider that 

opportunities within the existing arrangements are becoming more limited.  As a result, 

they are exploring alternatives that will enable them to continue to focus on protecting 

their workforce and current service levels.   

The key drivers for change are: 

• financial pressures, the need to reduce costs and generate additional income 

• protecting existing level and quality of service 

• protecting the Councils' existing workforce 

• to position the Councils where they can be flexible and more responsive to a rapidly 

changing environment and able to take advantage of any opportunities that the 

market may offer. 



Appendix 4: 

Local Authority controlled company 

income and expenditure forecast – 

Year 1 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

37 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

South Hams West Devon Total 

Income 

Contract Income (4,044,359)         (2,624,004)             (6,668,363) 

Total Income (4,044,359)         (2,624,004)             (6,668,363) 

Services (inclusive of support services) 

Customer First           2,156,638          2,914,799 5,071,437 

Commercial Services           1,258,711         1,792,081             3,050,792 

Waste (outsourced (WD)) (2,348,955)  (2,348,955) 

Recurring expenses 

Customer First Rent             449,884              195,830                  645,714  

Commercial Services Rent            179,126              70,249 249,375 

NED (Independent Chair)                10,000                 10,000                       20,000  

Procurement/bid expert 7,500 7,500                    15,000  

Audit & Tax advice                 20,000                20,000                     40,000  

FD/Financial support                   12,500  12,500                    25,000  

Depreciation              305,386                31,750                  337,136  

IT (system and licencing) 6,500 6,500 13,000             

Total expenditure           4,406,245 2,712,254 7,118,499 

Savings 

Savings - Restructuring     (45,786)   (45,786) (91,571) 

Total     (45,786)   (45,786) (91,571) 

(Surplus)/deficit 316,100  42,464 358,565 

Local authority controlled company  
income and expenditure forecast – Year 1 

Source: The Councils  2015/16 budgets and Grant Thornton 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

38 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Local authority controlled company  

income and expenditure forecast – Year 1 

Assumptions 

Contract Income 

• We have assumed that rental charges will be included in the contract income. 

Rent 

Rental costs have been allocated based on the current market rates as estimated by the 

Councils under the following assumptions: 

• This has been undertaken as a desk top exercise 

• No measurements have been checked 

• Rental Valuations are based on best estimates, no specific comparisons have been 

sought at this stage 

• Split for HQ buildings has been based on a study of floor plans and assumptions of 

staff number splits. 

Depreciation 

• Depreciation has been calculated based on a listing of assets to be transferred to the 

trading company as provided by the Councils. 

Pensions 

• The current pension deficit costs for both Councils £583k have been included in the 

income and expenditure forecast, we have not included a revised estimate for the 

pension deficit should the LACC be established.   

• We have assumed that the pension contributions will remain consistent. 

 

FD/Financial Support 

• This estimate is based on the Councils' assumption of the level of additional support 

required. 

Procurement expert 

• This estimate is based on the Councils' expectation that the majority of 

procurement/bid work will be performed using in-house expertise.  We estimate that 

£15k will provide support for up to three bids. 

General 

• The total cost of services has been included on a net basis.  For example for South 

Hams, car and boat parking income and expenditure totals£2.9m and £1.4m 

respectively.  In our income and expenditure forecast this has been included as a net 

figure of £1.6m 

• The contract income has been calculated on a net basis and assumed to be the cost 

of providing the service 

• Costs have been allocated 50:50 between South Hams and West Devon where this 

has yet to be confirmed 

• We have excluded waste from the cost of services for West Devon which totals 

£2.3m and therefore the associated contract income as this has been considered in a 

separate report. 

• We have excluded leisure from the cost of services (South Hams £1.2m and West 

Devon £0.7m) and therefore contract income as this is currently outsourced. 

• The total income and expenditure relating to housing benefits has been included in 

the income and expenditure forecast, however, as this is shown as an income and  

expenditure, it has a nil net impact. 

• We have assumed on-costs of 40% for restructuring savings. 

 



Appendix 5: 

Accounting and  

asset consideration 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

40 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Accounting and asset considerations 

Introduction 

In this section we set out the advice relating to local authority accounting implications 

and requirements in relation to the establishment of the proposed company. This 

includes our consideration of the accounting issues based on the Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16 and any relevant statutory 

provisions in force at the date of the report. In particular, The Local Authorities (Capital 

Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 (as amended) provides specific 

statutory accounting requirements with regards to share capital.   

Accounting frameworks for the Councils 

Accounting framework and requirements 

Councils in the United Kingdom are required to prepare their statutory financial 

statements in line with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 

United Kingdom (the Code) which is based International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS), except where these are inconsistent with specific statutory requirements.   

Accounting requirements for the proposed company 

Accounting framework and requirements 

• In the UK, The Companies Act 2006 allows companies, other than charities to 

prepare their accounts in accordance with either the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) or the Companies Acts and UK Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practices (UKGAAP). The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has 

issued three new accounting standards, FRS 100-102, which will replace all existing 

FRS's, SSAPs and UITFs. The new financial reporting framework will be applicable 

on a mandatory basis for the majority of UK entities for reporting periods starting 

on or after 1 January 2015.  

• It should be remembered that the statutory over-rides for items such as depreciation, 

pension costs, asset revaluations do not apply to companies, therefore the 

presentation of financial information is very different. Similarly there is no 

requirement for a company to revalue its assets, it can show at initial valuation or 

historic cost. 

Assets 

Options for transferring assets 

The Councils need to consider how they would want to account for the assets used by 

the proposed company. Three options are available: 

1. retain ownership and lease to the company 

2. sell the assets to the company 

3. transfer the assets to the company 

1. Retain ownership and lease to the company  

This option would mean that both Councils retain the legal ownership but transfer the 

right to use the asset to the proposed company for a rental income. This rental should at 

a comparable market value to avoid a risk of a claim of state aid.  

These assets would be leased to the LACC and either be leased as an operating or 

finance lease, depending on the terms of the agreement. An accounting analysis will 

need to be undertaken to for each lease to determine the accounting treatment. 

If the leases were operating leases, the proposed company would recognise rental 

expenditure.  The Councils would retain the assets on their balance sheet and account 

for the assets as they currently do, considering whether these should be classified as 

investment property, and recognise rental income over the lease period.  

 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

41 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Accounting and asset considerations 

If the leases were finance leases, the proposed company would recognise the assets.  

The Councils would derecognise the assets on their balance sheet and recognise a 

finance lease receivable, treating the lease payment as principle repayment and interest 

charges. Principal repayments will need to be accounted for as capital receipts.  

2.   Sell the assets to the company 

The Council's could sell the assets to the proposed company at market value. Thus 

making the assets from both Councils the property of the proposed company. 

The proposed company would need to pay, or establish a debtor, to the parent Councils. 

The cash would need to be generated through loans or the issue of share capital. 

Both these options have legal implications that would need to be considered further, i.e. 

there are rules over councils making loans. 

3.  Transfer the assets to the proposed company 

The owning Councils dispose of the assets at nil or nominal value and ownership is 

transferred to the proposed company.  The proposed company on purchase of the 

assets, revalues them to market value.  Thus negating the need for related party loans. 

 In holding this property, plant and equipment on the balance sheet LAAC will need to 

account for depreciation charges in profit or loss. Where a policy of revaluation is 

adopted, upward revaluations will be recognised in the revaluation reserve. Downward 

revaluations and impairment losses will also need to be accounted for in profit or loss 

(to the extent that revaluation reserves balances are not sufficient). Any gain or loss on 

disposal will need to be recognised in profit or loss when the item is derecognised. 

This would have the effect of putting value into the proposed company balance sheet 

and giving the responsibility of the asset to the proposed company using the asset. 

LACC would account for acquisition as it would any other capital purchase, by an 

addition to Property, Plant and Equipment. 

 

 

 

 

    

The Councils would account for the disposal of assets in the normal way showing the 

effects of disposal in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and 

reversing the capital effects through the Movement in Reserves statement (Adjustments 

between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations), including any loss that 

might occur. 

Legal advice should be taken to ensure  the proposed company is not given an unfair 

advantage and state aid is not being provided. 

Investment in companies 

Accounting for interests in LACCs 

The Councils need to consider: 

1. whether the LACC is a subsidiary, a joint arrangement or an associate by assessing 

the Councils' control over the company.  This will depend on how the company is 

established and voting and other decision making rights 

2. this will then lead to consider whether group accounts need to be prepared, whether 

the arrangement should be accounted for as a joint operation in the single entity or 

alternatively that there is no impact other than third party transactions 

3. accounting for the interest in the company will depend on the form of initial 

investment in the company, ie loan or share capital.  This interest will need to be 

accounted for in the single entity accounts and the investment held at cost (if group 

accounts are prepared) or otherwise at fair value. 

Further work 

Each council will need to consider whether the company is a subsidiary, associate or 

joint arrangement, before establishing how to account for the company. 

 

 



Appendix 6: 

Market analysis 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

43 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Market analysis 

Background and approach 

We have explored potential markets in which the Councils could compete and identified 

competitors locally and nationally. We have considered services provided in-house and 

externally among local authorities in Devon and Somerset. We have looked at ten 

district Councils across Devon and Somerset, Torbay Council and Plymouth City 

Council as well as both county Councils. 

In the following areas, we have established both the public and private sector markets in 

the UK, with a focus on Devon and Somerset: 

• Customer First 

• Commercial Services 

• Support Services. 

Where possible, we have attempted to estimate the income that could be generated from 

these activities. 

The following sources have been used to inform our work: 

• Fame (companies database) 

• Standard Industrial Classification of Economic Activities (SIC) codes. 

In addition, we have identified LACCs and other alternative delivery models across the 

UK competing in these markets to provide an indication of potential returns. 

Overall potential market  

The Councils have made the assumption that as other councils in the south west look 

for ways to reduce costs then the majority of services may become available to the 

proposed company.  They have assumed that if the proposed company was able to win 

1% of the net budget from the Devon districts, this could generate £600,000 in 

additional income. However, the cost for the LACC to deliver this service is unknown at 

the stage, so the likely profit is also unknown.  

Customer First 

Customer Contact Centre 

While Councils in Devon run their contact centres in house, three Councils in Somerset 

have outsourced this service.  

As part of a wider support service contract, Capita provides contact centre services to 

Mendip District Council, in common with many other Councils around the UK. 

Taunton Deane Borough Council and Somerset County Council commission this 

service to South West One, a joint venture between these Councils and Avon Police 

Authority, in partnership with IBM.  

There are a large number of private sector providers of call and contact centre services – 

11 based in Devon and Somerset and 960 nationally. 

It is a largely unexplored market by public sector bodies and we have not identified any 

LACCs in the UK providing this service. Birmingham City Council set up Service 

Birmingham, a joint venture in partnership with Capita.  Service Birmingham did run the 

Council's call centre but this proved unsuccessful and the call centre has since been 

brought back in-house.  

We have been unable to quantify the value of this potential market. While research 

suggests that there are opportunities to provide these services to others, it is a highly 

competitive market in the context of both the public and private sector. 

Planning and building control 

We have considered the market for a fully outsourced planning service as well as looking 

specifically at planning application services and building control. 

Few Councils in the UK deliver their entire planning service through outsourcing, 

although we have identified that Capita offers this service and is engaged to do so by 

three Councils in the UK. We anticipate that the likely level of income that could be 

generated from the running of planning services for a council in Devon and Somerset 

would be £6m per annum. However, it is unlikely that a LACC would deliver a 

comprehensive planning service to Councils and we have not identified any nationally. 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

44 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Market analysis 

 
Planning and building control continued 

Planning application services in Devon and Somerset are provided in-house, with the 

exception of South Hams District Council for which IP&E provides a planning 

application report service at £160 per application. Another private company in this 

market is TerraQuest whose services include planning application validation, quoting 

£50 per application. The proposed company is more likely to be able to offer this type 

of service. In order to generate £10,000, this would require 63 applications at £160 per 

unit, or 200 applications at £50 per unit. In addition it would also need the skills and 

capacity necessary to compete, which are not currently available. 

Building control services in Teignbridge, West Devon and South Hams are currently 

provided by Devon Building Control Partnership, a partnership set up by these Councils 

in 2005. Similarly, five Councils in Somerset and Dorset are in discussions over the 

formation of a Somerset Plus Building Control Partnership. Although it would be 

difficult for private companies to compete with the level of expertise and experience 

held by these partnerships, the nationally picture suggests there is an available market .  

The market share held by private sector practitioners certified as 'approved inspectors' 

(therefore capable of providing building control services) has gradually increased 

nationally. While there are only two approved inspectors held on the Construction 

Industry Council register that are based in Devon and Somerset, there are 90 listed 

elsewhere in England and Wales. 

A LACC competing in this market is Acivico Building Consultancy, set up by 

Birmingham City Council in 2012 to provide design and construction, facilities 

management and building control services across the public and private sector. It has 

reported small losses in its first two years of operation.  

In Devon and Somerset  we identified that the average spend on building control  is 

£700,000. Therefore, if a LACC was successful and won a contract to deliver the 

building control services for  a council in Devon or Somerset we anticipate the 

additional  income might be in the region of £700,000.  

 

 

 

  

 

However, the cost for the LACC to deliver this service is unknown at the stage, so the 

likely profit is also unknown. It should also be noted that there is likely to be strong 

competition from both local public sector partnerships and national private approved 

inspectors. 

Licensing, enforcement, environmental health and strategic 

planning 

These services are provided in house among Councils in Devon and Somerset. The 

market for these service areas is small but with the potential to grow as an increasing 

number of Councils in the UK are considering plans to outsource regulatory services.  

We have not identified any LACCs in the UK which provide these services. In terms of 

alternative providers, Capita is essentially the only competitor. It has set up a joint 

venture with a Barnet Council to set up a company delivering licensing, strategic 

planning, environmental health and development management services to the Council. 

It has been in operation since 2013 and reported a £2.4m profit in 2014. 

There is a potential market for these services in Devon and Somerset, if local authorities 

feel there would be a benefit to outsource these, although the proposed company could 

be competing with a joint venture. 

Housing management and advice 

These services are run in-house in Devon and Somerset, with the exception of 

Sedgemoor District Council. Homes in Sedgemoor, a LACC providing a housing 

management and advice service to the Council since 2007, has recorded a profit every 

year averaging £500,000. The management fee paid by the Council for 2014/15 was 

£8.5m. Although it does not currently offer its services to other local authorities, it has 

the potential to do so due to its high level of expertise transferred from the Council's 

previously in-house team managing its housing stock 

Although there is a market for these services – five Councils in Devon and Somerset 

own housing stock – any competing LACC would need to acquire similar skills in order 

to compete. 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

45 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Market analysis 

Revenues and benefits 

Although all but one council in Devon and Somerset keep this service in-

house, many Councils across the country outsource this function to the 

private sector. This is a competitive market in which many well established 

companies are providers, including Capita, Civica and Liberata. There are no 

LACCs in the UK offering this service. 

There is limited potential to compete in this market – any new entrant 

would require a unique selling point that sets it apart from its highly skilled 

and experienced competitors. 

Commercial services 

Grounds maintenance 

District Councils in Somerset provide this service themselves, while the 

County Council uses South West One. In Devon, however, private 

companies are the main providers. ISS Facility Services Landscaping is 

contracted until 2021 to provide services to North Devon Council, Torridge 

District Council and Devon County Council. Teignbridge District Council 

buys services from Quadron Services, with which it has a five year contract 

to 2020 worth £543,000 per annum. 

The private sector market is competitive locally and nationally. There are 

226 companies offering grounds maintenance services in Devon and 

Somerset, and 9,096 nationally.  

A LACC operating in this area is Streetwise, set up in 2014 by Rushcliffe 

Borough Council to provide grounds maintenance services to businesses in 

addition to the Council. The annual cost of the contract to the Council is 

£1.3m. 

There are opportunities to offer this service to public sector clients after any existing 

contracts expire, but it is a highly competitive market. A LACC operating in Devon and 

Somerset could expect to generate annual income of £500,000, if it was able to break 

into the market. 

Car park management 

The majority of district Councils in Devon and Somerset manage their own car parks, 

while Exeter and Plymouth city Councils and local businesses either do the same or buy 

services from car park management companies, for example Devon based Premier 

Parking Solutions and Premier Park provide services for Plymouth City Council and 

Exeter City Council respectively. 

There are 21 companies that manage car parks in Devon and Somerset and 1,438 

nationally.  

Glasgow City Parking, a LACC set up by Glasgow City Council in 2007, provides off-

street and on-street parking management services to the Council. It has reported losses 

in each year of operation including £300,000 in 2014/15. 

A LACC offering this service would face strong competition since the preferred 

provider is generally within the private sector, and would need to able to convince local 

Councils of the benefits of outsourcing this service. 

Transport 

Community transport services in Devon and Somerset are provided by voluntary 

organisations and charities therefore no private companies compete in this market. 

Buses are operated by First Group in Somerset and Stagecoach in Devon. Several 

authorities in other regions have set up LACCs to operate buses and other passenger 

transport, including Swindon Borough Council, which set up Thamesdown Transport in 

1986. The company's recent financial history is mixed, with profits reported between 

2009-12 and losses in the past two years (of £1.3m in 2014). 

While there are opportunities to explore this area, competition with large national 

companies operating in the local area would be tough. 

 

 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

46 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Market analysis 

Support services 

ICT services 

In Devon, most support services are provided in-house. ICT services for three local 

authorities are delivered via a local authority wholly owned joint venture, Strata Service 

Solutions. Strata Ltd was formed in 2014 to provide ICT services to East Devon District 

Council, Exeter City Council and Teignbridge District Council. The company reported a 

£2.5m loss in 2014-15. ICT services for Plymouth City Council are provided by DELT a 

joint venture owned by Plymouth City Council and NEW Devon CCG. 

 In Somerset, Capita are the providers for Mendip District Council and South West One 

for Somerset County Council. 

While there is scope to explore offering ICT services, a LACC would face competition 

from well established private sector providers and the two ADMs already operating in 

the region. 

 

Finance, payroll, HR 

In Devon, these services are provided in-house. In Somerset, South West One provides 

support services including finance, payroll and HR to Somerset County Council and 

Taunton Deane Borough Council. There is an opportunity to compete for these services 

when the contract with South West One expires in 2017. The annual charge for the 

services they provide is £5m.  

 

Mendip District Council contracts many of its support functions to Capita, including 

ICT, finance and payroll, in addition to revenues and benefits. Other large private sector 

companies offering these services to Councils include Serco and Arvato. 

The market for a comprehensive back office function is highly competitive due to the 

scale, expertise and experience of private sector providers. 

 



Appendix 7: 

Tax considerations 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

48 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Tax considerations 

VAT  

If its services are transferred to the proposed company it will need to consider whether 

any of its services are likely to be exempt and could create an irrecoverable VAT cost. It 

is recommended that this is reviewed in detail once the final provision is agreed. 

If the Councils transfer their services to a separate LACC, this will be a separate legal 

entity from the Councils. The LACC would also provide flexibility to provide services to 

third parties should it decide to trade more widely. 

The current VAT position 

For VAT purposes, Councils are section 33 bodies which means that they have a Special 

Legal Regime and all VAT that they incur on the provision of non-business activities 

can be recovered. However, Councils also provide business supplies which are, in the 

main, subject to VAT, so the Council can recover all VAT incurred in relation to such 

business activities, subject to the normal rules.  

Unlike other taxable persons, section 33 status also enables them to recover any VAT 

that they incur in connection with VAT exempt business activities provided certain 

conditions are met. 

In fact, a local authority can recover any input tax (VAT on purchases) that it incurs that 

is attributable to VAT exempt business activities provided the total of such 'exempt 

input tax' is less than 5% of the total amount of VAT incurred by a local authority on 

business activities and non-business activities in a financial year. 

Thus, the existing arrangements are VAT efficient and the Councils should not suffer 

any irrecoverable VAT in its provision of services. 

Transfer of  activities and assets into a LACC 

The transfer of trade and assets to the proposed company will be subject to VAT unless 

the transfer can qualify as a Transfer Of a Going Concern (TOGC). When these rules 

apply, the transfer to a LACC will be treated as outside the scope of VAT. There are 

special rules which apply to a TOGC when it includes property, so should this be the 

case, we will advise you separately. 

Transfer of  services 

If the Councils transfer services to the proposed company, these activities will be 

regarded as business activities in the LACC and will not be subject to any Special Legal 

Regime. This means that normal VAT rules will apply. If the activities are fully taxable 

(standard, reduced or zero rated) there should be no restriction on the input tax 

recovery. If, however, there are exempt activities then there may be some input tax 

restriction. This will depend on the nature of the activities and services that the 

proposed company is planning to supply.  

It is advised that the proposed company should consider the VAT liability of its supplies 

and seek advice on how to maximise its taxable income. For example, if there is a 

transfer of commercial property to the proposed company, then it should opt to tax 

these properties.  

The Councils will also incur additional VAT due to receiving these services, we would 

recommend a modelling exercise is undertaken to determine whether their 5% 

deminimis will be breached. 

Also the proposed company could inadvertently make exempt supplies if its meets the 

conditions of the Cost Sharing Exemption, these are listed on the next page. If this were 

the case the proposed company may become exempt so it will incur irrecoverable VAT. 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

49 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Tax considerations 

VAT registration 

The proposed company will need to register for VAT as its taxable income is likely to 

exceed the current VAT registration threshold (currently £82,000 per annum). VAT 

registration is compulsory if the UK turnover of taxable goods and services (any sales 

that are not exempt from VAT) over the previous 12 months goes over the VAT 

threshold.  

Technically the proposed company could VAT group with one of the Councils. It 

cannot VAT group with both Councils as one of them needs to control the company. 

This is rarely done as it deprives the grouped Council from the benefit of the partial 

exemption 5% 'test of insignificance' rule.  

Cost Sharing Groups (CSG) 

Definition of a CSG 

Where two or more organisations, with exempt or non-business activities, join together 

on a cooperative basis, to form a separate independent entity to supply themselves with 

certain qualifying services at cost, these supplies are exempt from VAT. 

Criteria to be met if the supplies are to fall under CSG exemption 

A CSG is a separate taxable person from its members, as a separate entity it is able to 

make supplies for VAT purposes to its members, these supplies will be exempt from 

VAT if the relevant conditions are met. 

 

 

 

A ‘member’ of the CSG is defined as a business or organisation that is capable of jointly 

owning and controlling a CSG as well as receiving supplies from the CSG. Therefore, 

the Councils should enter into a joint agreement to form a new CSG entity. Both 

members will receive supplies from the CSG. Both entities will need to consider if there 

are other tax implications in respect of setting up this CSG entity. 

The exemption applies to services provided to members, and not to third parties outside 

of the CSG.  

The exemption will only apply to goods where they are ancillary to the main supply of 

services.  

Exemption is mandatory for all supplies of services made by the CSG to its members 

that meet ALL of the following five conditions: 

1. An independent group of persons (CSG) supplying services to persons who are its 

members 

It must be a separate entity, but can take a number of different forms eg a 

partnership, or a limited company either by shares or guarantee. the proposed 

company would need to agree on the type of entity to be set up and there may be 

other tax implications that each member needs to consider. This condition could be 

met. 

2. All the members must carry on an activity that is exempt from VAT or one which is 

not a business activity for VAT purposes 

Both Councils carry on exempt and/or non-business activities. HMRC’s guidance 

indicates that an entity would be eligible for CSG membership if 5% or more of its 

total supplies were exempt or non-business. It is considered that this condition could 

be met. 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

50 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Tax considerations 

3. The services supplied by the CSG must be ‘directly necessary’ for a members exempt 

and/or non-business activity 

If the supplies are not ‘directly necessary’ the exemption would not apply and the 

supplies would be subject to normal VAT rules. HMRC’s guidance indicates the 

methodology which can be considered as outlined below; although there is an option 

for the CSG to suggest an alternative method if it is more appropriate: 

Supplies of services received from the CSG, that can be directly attributable to the 

members exempt and/or non-business activities, will be regarded as ‘directly 

necessary’ and therefore qualify for exemption. If the CSG incur expenditure on 

services that are attributable to taxable and exempt/non-business activities these 

would not qualify as ‘directly necessary’, as they are not linked exclusively to exempt 

or non-business activities of the CSG. 

Where a member of the CSG has wholly exempt and/or non-business activities or 

low levels of taxable activity, all the supplies they receive from a CSG will be 

regarded as ‘directly necessary’ for the exempt/non-business activities. HMRC 

consider that a low level of taxable is less than 15% of the members' total activities. 

It is understood that the Councils would meet this condition.  

4. The CSG only recovers from its members, the members’ individual share of the 

expenses incurred by the CSG in making the exempt supplies to its members 

Not all members have to receive the same services. Members can receive different 

volumes of service, but the CSG must only recover from its members, at cost, their 

share of the costs and expenses incurred by the CSG. 

There should be no profit in the charges made by the group to its members. If 

supplies to members of the CSG by the CSG do include a profit element the 

exemption will not apply, and those supplies will be subject to the normal VAT rules. 

It is understood that there is a clear audit trail of the services each member uses and 

the recovery calculation that the CSG undertakes. 

5. The application of the exemption to the supplies made by the CSG to its members is 

not likely to cause distortion of competition 

A CSG is a cooperative self-supply arrangement. It is not a commercial outsourcing 

arrangement therefore it does not exist or compete in a market. As long as all the 

conditions of the exemption are met, particularly that it can only supply its members 

on a ‘direct reimbursement’ basis, that is, it self-supplies at cost, distortion of 

competition is unlikely to occur. 

It is considered these conditions could be met. 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

51 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Tax considerations 

Corporation tax 

Under the current arrangements, the Councils have worked closely together to provide a 

range of services under Customer First, Commercial Services and Support Services.  As 

the Councils are local authorities, they are exempt from the charge to corporation tax on 

any profits arising from the provision of services.   

Corporation tax implications – trading company 

The creation of a LACC to carry out all of the above services will mean that it will be: 

• chargeable to corporation tax on all its UK and worldwide profits.  The rate of 

corporation tax from 1 April 2015 is 20% (and this is set to reduce to 19% from 

2017 and 18% from 2020) 

• required to file a CT600 tax return (electronically) within 12 months of the 

accounting date 

Corporation tax liability 

Depending on the level of profits in the company, and any associated companies, the 

LACC will either pay its tax either nine months and 1 day after the end of the 

accounting period or by quarterly instalments. This could have a significant impact on 

the cash flow of the LACC.  If trading losses arise in a respective period, they can be 

carried forward in that company and offset against the first available taxable profits of 

the same trade in future periods.  It is also possible to carry losses back and offset 

against profits of the previous 12 months.  

Capital allowances  

Should LACC acquire any equipment or other fixed assets of its own, any new assets 

would be accounted for accordingly with depreciation charged to LACC's accounts 

which would not attract corporation tax relief. Instead, capital allowances should be 

available in either the main or special rate pool (receiving tax relief on a writing down 

basis at 18 per cent or 8 percent respectively, depending on the assets acquired). The 

company must also own the plant or machinery as a consequence of incurring the 

expenditure. We will need to explore further how assets currently owned by the 

Councils are to be 'owned' and used by the LACC. 

Group structure – losses and group relief 

As the LACC will be a joint venture company wholly owned by the Councils, it will not 

be possible to pass on any trading losses incurred to either Council or any other 

companies owned by the Councils.  However, if the company were associated with 

other companies in a group structure and it qualified as a group relief group, then 

broadly, current year losses in one company can be surrendered to shelter current year 

taxable profits in the other group company. For a 'group relief 'group to exist in the 

structure, the ownership condition must be met, where:  

• either one company has to be a 75% subsidiary of the other (i.e. indirect ownership 

must be at least 75%), or  

• both have to be 75% subsidiaries of a third company 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

52 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Tax considerations 

Group structure  - losses and group relief  (cont.) 

If the proposed LACC and any other future planned trading companies were separately 

owned by the Councils then group relief may not be available. This is because the 

relevant legislation states that a "company" does not include "a partnership, a local 

authority, or a local authority association". Therefore, a holding company should be 

considered within the proposed structure so that any future planned trading entities 

within the structure are still ultimately owned by the Councils but via a holding 

company. In this way, eligibility for group relief will be maintained. However, if a 

company is limited by guarantee it cannot qualify for group relief. (This may be in point 

further to the comments made under the section below regarding special tax status). 

Consortium relief 

Consortium relief is an alternative to group relief where current period losses of a 

consortium company can be transferred to consortium members and vice versa.  

However, a LACC jointly owned by the two Councils will not qualify for consortium 

relief as 75% of its ordinary shares will not be owned by companies. 

Capital gains group 

A capital gains group means that where assets are transferred from one company to 

another no capital gain or loss is triggered subject to certain conditions. Currently the 

Councils will not be able to achieve this capital gains group structure due to the 

percentage holding requirements. However, where a holding company wholly owns the 

trading company (and any future companies) the relevant requirements for a capital 

gains group should be met.  

Special tax status 

It may be possible for the LACC to mitigate its corporation tax liabilities through a 

special tax status.  These may include: 

• Local authority exemptions 

• Mutual trade status 

• ALMO tax status 

We have provided a very high level overview of these.  In addition, we will discuss, at a 

high level, the rebate system option and how we have seen this work in practice.  

ALMO status 

There are some circumstances when a company is not subject to corporation tax on all 

or some of its activities. 

This is when HMRC agree that the nature of its activities lack the necessary element of 

commerciality to amount to trading, and therefore the activity is not subject to 

corporation tax.  HMRC have agreed this treatment with Arms-Length Management 

Organisations (ALMOs). ALMOs manage, repair, improve and maintain the council's 

housing stock. The council remains the legal landlord. They also undertake a range of 

services; for example, collecting rents, dealing with arrears, tenancy enforcement, for 

which transactions with its council members are not viewed as taxable by HMRC. 

 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

53 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Tax considerations  

Almo Status (cont.) 

HMRC takes account of a number of factors, including the fact that the company is 

usually a company limited by guarantee without share capital.  The ALMO is funded by 

a management contract fee which is usually designed to break even and in the event of 

the ALMO being wound up, the surplus remaining is required by the articles to be paid 

back to the council.   

We have recently seen HMRC grant ALMO status to the following activities carried out 

in separate companies including waste management of community and businesses, 

grounds maintenance, street cleaning, technical advice regarding transport and planning, 

and services to the council in respect of the acquisition of land and property, and the 

development of council owned sites including planning, development, marketing and 

disposal of land for housing and corporation use.  The response from HMRC 

determined that these transactions were not trading and therefore not taxable however, 

the LACC would still be liable to corporation tax in respect of transactions with third 

parties or any other group companies.  

HMRC have not explained the factors that were critical in determining this position but 

the companies were not companies limited by guarantee which is typical for ALMO 

status but limited by share capital. We would be happy to explore how this position may 

apply to this LACC if appropriate in terms of the Councils longer term planning and 

strategy for the LACC.  In order to consider this further, it would be necessary to 

consider the following matters: 

• how the Councils will control the governance of the company 

• how the Councils will monitor/control the approved activities and what service level 

agreements will be in place 

• what arrangements will be in place to manage the pricing of services, the budgeting 

process and the surplus generated by the company on these activities and how this 

will be ring-fenced for these activities in the future 

Mutual trade status 

Mutual trading is a concept where a company is not liable to tax on any profit arising 

from the mutual trade. There is no statutory definition of mutual trade, however HMRC 

consider that certain criteria should be fulfilled in order that an entity qualifies as a 

mutual trading company. 

The key principles are that: 

If a group of people join together for a common purpose their transactions with the 

umbrella body can be seen to be mutual trade if: 

• the entity's transactions are with its customers who are also members 

• the legal framework for the entity passes the tests for mutual trading 

• the immunity from tax only applies to transactions in the nature of trade with the 

entity's members 

• the founding principle as set out in case law if the trade between the two parties is 

identical i.e. mutual is that there can be no taxable profit on a surplus from trading 

with yourself 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

54 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Tax considerations 

Key characteristics 

There are four essential requirements for mutual trading status as set out by HMRC: 

• Complete identity as a class between the contributors to the mutual surplus and the 

participators in it 

• Arrangements which ensure that the surplus ultimately finds its way back to the 

contributors and no arrangements for it to go to anybody else 

• A reasonable relationship between the amount a person contributes to the surplus 

and the amount distributed to them on winding up 

• The members must control the common fund 

Strictly this falls within self-assessment, however, our expectation and experience to date 

is that mutual trading status would need to be agreed with HMRC and we can provide 

assistance in liaising with HMRC. 

HMRC is not always consistent in their approach to mutual status.  We are aware of one 

circumstance where mutual status was granted to a Teckal company and then 

subsequently withdrawn.  From experience, HMRC will also challenge the situation 

where a company has share capital and technically a dividend could be returned to a 

shareholder.  This conflicts with the concept that the surplus must be returned to the 

contributors to the trade. 

Rebate system 

Other local authorities have established commercial trading subsidiaries and have 

implemented a rebate structure with regards to passported revenue with their local 

authority parent. 

If you were to pursue this option, the arrangements would need to be on arms-length 

terms to meet the tax requirements under UK transfer pricing rules.  Our transfer 

pricing team could research and identify an arms-length range of operating margins 

earned by comparable independent companies performing similar services.  The rebate 

paid, if appropriately structured, could be deductible for corporation tax purposes. 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

55 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Tax considerations 

Employment taxes  

There should not be any major employment tax pitfalls in setting up the proposed 

company, although this should be reviewed to confirm the position once draft 

arrangements are agreed.  

The proposed company will need to set up a new payroll and ensure employment tax 

governance processes such as an expenses policy and system are in place. It might be 

possible to use the Councils' existing systems and processes in respect of this. 

The proposed company should review what its approach will be to employee reward 

and benefits in the context of the governance requirements and design its benefits and 

(if applicable) incentive offering accordingly.  

The Councils should also consider how best to communicate any changes to 

employment arrangements to employees with the aim of avoiding where possible a 

negative impact on employee morale. 

The Construction Industry Scheme (CIS) position should be reviewed if any 

construction work is going to be carried out by or subcontracted by the LACC.  

New payroll set up 

We understand that employees will be TUPE transferred in from the Councils to the 

proposed company. On this basis, the the proposed company will become a new 

employer for PAYE/NIC operation purposes, and a new PAYE scheme will need to be 

set up for this entity.  

 

Depending on how the proposed company is structured, there might be more than one 

legal employer, in which case further PAYE registrations with HMRC are likely to be 

required. 

Registration as a new employer online is likely to be the most efficient way for the 

proposed company to set up the new PAYE scheme(s). 

PAYE Filing obligations for previous employers  

(the Councils) 

The first step in determining the filing obligations for the previous employers (the 

Councils) is to establish whether the change in circumstances should be regarded as a 

‘succession’ for PAYE purposes or a ‘cessation’. In the case of a succession, the new 

employer takes over the pay records of the old employer and no form P45 is necessary. 

In the case of a cessation, form P45 needs to be issued and the new employer does not 

take over responsibility for the old employers' records.  

On the basis that the LACC will be a jointly owned company set up between two parties 

transferring staff into a new PAYE scheme, it is likely that the TUPE transfer of staff 

from the previous employers should be treated as a cessation. 

The employees leaving should be marked as leavers in the previous employers' RTI 

returns and forms P45 will need to be issued to the transferring employees by the 

previous employers. It is advisable to warn employees that this is the case and explain to 

them that it is only a consequence of the TUPE transfer and nothing to be concerned 

about. 

 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

56 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Tax considerations 

PAYE Filing obligations for new employer (the LACC) 
Once the new PAYE schemes have been set up, the employees being TUPE transferred 

in should be marked as new starters in the new PAYE schemes and the information 

from the P45 input into the system. 

PAYE/NIC should be operated and submissions made as required and amounts 

remitted to HMRC by the due dates. 

Incentivising employees and employee benefits offering 
Subject to governance requirements, there might be an opportunity to implement 

employee and management incentive plans with the objective of rewarding high 

performance from employees that would not be available within the traditional Local 

Authority environment. Such plans could be based on business profit targets or 

individual performance metrics.  

Furthermore, (depending on what is currently being offered by the current employers) it 

may be possible to make increased use of salary sacrifice arrangements to maximise the 

value given to employees whilst making savings in employment costs for the employer. 

Salary sacrifice for cars, holiday buying and selling, mobile phones, bike to work and 

computer equipment are examples of possible schemes that may be considered. 

Expenses and benefits 
We recommend that in the new entity a written expenses policy is used to govern the 

incurring and reimbursement of employee expenses, and a system is put in place to 

control, check and authorise employee expenses.   

P11Ds will need to be produced and filed with HMRC by 6 July following the end of 

the tax year for any benefits in kind that are not 'payrolled' in accordance with the 

legislation and HMRC guidance. However, any benefits or expenses covered by a tax 

exemption or a PAYE Settlement Agreement (see below) will not need to be payrolled 

or reported on P11Ds.  

If the proposed company wishes to payroll benefits, the current position is that the 

benefits should be registered via HMRC's online Payrolled Benefits in Kind (PBIK) 

service. The rules are developing in this area, so this area should be reviewed again 

before the arrangements go live and the benefits offering is established. 

The proposed company might provide taxable expenses or benefits to employees on 

which they wish to protect the employees from incurring a tax liability. Examples of this 

would be gift vouchers provided as an incentive for high performance, or teambuilding 

events that are 'fun' in nature. If this is the case, the new entities may wish to apply to 

HMRC for a PAYE Settlement Agreement (PSA) which will allow the employers to 

meet the cost tax and NIC on benefits and expenses included on behalf of employees. 

Employment law position 
We recommend that employment law advice is sought on any employment law issues 

(e.g. TUPE) that may arise in relation to this transaction as we are not employment 

lawyers and therefore cannot comment on any employment law implications. 

Construction Industry Scheme (CIS) 
We understand that it is unlikely that the proposed company will carry out any 

'construction operations' and it should therefore not be within the CIS as a mainstream 

contractor. However, it may be necessary to register as a 'deemed contractor' as set out 

below. The proposed company will be required to register as a CIS 'deemed contractor' 

if it does not carry on a construction business but still spends an average of £1million 

per annum over a three year period on construction operations, calculated by reference 

to the accounts.  

We recommend that the CIS position is reviewed if any construction work is going to be 

carried out by or subcontracted by the proposed company, whether in connection with 

the Councils or otherwise. 



Appendix 8: 

Pension considerations 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

58 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Pension considerations 

Summary 

Whilst there are hurdles and some costs to overcome there should be no major issues 

associated with jointly setting up a local authority controlled company, whose employees 

have continuous membership of the Devon County Council Pension Fund (DCCPF).   

The potential hurdles and costs are likely to relate largely to agreement over the 

treatment of any past service deficit associated with current employees, and with the 

completion of an admission agreement into the DCCPF. 

Background 

Both Councils participate in the DCCPF.  The contribution rates following the Actuarial 

Valuation of the DCCPF as at 31 March 2013 are set out below 

 

 

The difference in the '% pay' (the future service contribution) is due to the differing 

demographics and salaries within each Council for current employees.  The difference in 

the '£' contributions (past service deficit cost) is due to the differences in accrued 

liabilities for each council since starting to accrue benefits within the DCCPF.  In 

addition the deficit recovery period for WDBC is 20 years, with 27 years for SHDC. 

A summary of relevant active membership data for the Councils as at 31 March 2013 is 

set out below. 

 

 Number 

Annual pay 

(£000) Average age 

WDBC 117 2,944 45 

SHDC 392 8,452 48 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 
% pay £ % pay £ % pay £ 

WDBC 12.2 417,000 12.2 432,000 12.2 452,000 

SHDC 14.8 141,000 14.8 146,000 14.8 153,000 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

59 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Pension considerations 

Past service deficit 

The past service deficit represents the excess of the value of the members' benefits 

(liabilities) built up in the fund, over the assets held in the fund.  It is the responsibility 

of the employing body to meet this deficit over time (the recovery period).   

When setting up a new body, the question arises as to who will take on the past service 

deficit for the employees being transferred.   

  a)Will the transferring company keep responsibility for all or part of the liability to 

enable the new body a "clean slate" start?   

  b) Alternatively, will the new body have to take on some or all of this liability itself?   

The past service deficits for all employees of WDBC and SHDC were calculated as 

approx. £7.0m and £3.1m respectively as at 31 March 2013.    

This could be complicated further when the new body is being formed from a 

combination of 2 transferring companies, with differing past service deficits.  If a "clean 

slate" start is not used then careful agreement of how the past service deficits are funded 

in the future must be reached and clearly documented.  If not then the transferring 

company with the smaller deficit would be subsidising the other.  

Future service costs 

A revised contribution cost would be calculated for the employees of each organisation 

transferred into the new employer.  Depending on the average age and salary level of 

these members this may he higher or lower than the current future service contribution 

rates. 

In addition, as mentioned above, altering the membership of any organisation will 

change the demographics of the Fund membership and will affect the contribution rate 

required.  Removing a section of the membership from both WDBC and SHDC will 

consequently also affect their contribution rates, likely to apply following the results of 

the next actuarial valuation the Fund as at 31 March 2017. 

Guarantees 

On the admission of a new body into the Fund, the DCCPF will carry out an 

assessment of the basis on which it views the risks of admission.  It is common for a 

Fund to subsequently ask for a guarantee or a bond to be put in place to guard against 

the risk of failure of the admitted body.  This is generally negotiable. 

In this case it could be argued that the new body is backed by WDBC and SHDC and so 

there is no reduction in security and so no further guarantees are needed. 

Admission agreement/Documentation 

An admission agreement will need to be entered into with DCCPF to document the 

admission of a new employing body.  The new body must satisfy certain criteria to be 

included and it may be necessary to negotiate over or document any guarantee. 

In addition, when an employer enters into a Local Government Pension Scheme it must 

also set out a policy in relation to the exercise of a number of discretions on issues such 

as redundancy and early retirement policies, which could have an impact on funding 

calculations. 

Legal advice should be sought on the above in due course. 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

60 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Pension considerations 

Open or closed admission  

WDBC and SHDC could take this opportunity to only offer membership of the 

DCCPF to current members and to set up an alternative pension scheme for any 

subsequent new starters.  This could be used to better control or even reduce pension 

costs for new employees in the future, compared to current employees.  This may be 

more relevant when considering the pending increase in employment costs for members 

of Local Government Pension Schemes due to the cessation of contracting out due in 

2016. 

Care would need to be taken however as this could affect the short term contribution 

rate payable on behalf of those remaining in the DCCPF.  The deficit recovery period 

would reduce, as the membership grows older, and the pace of meeting deficit recovery 

payments would increase as a result.  In addition, an older average membership would 

also lead to higher future service contribution rates, albeit for a reducing membership. 

New plan implementation  

If it is decided to no longer offer membership of the DCCPF to new starters then an 

alternative, auto-enrolment compliant, pension plan must be set up.  It would be normal 

to also provide a group life insurance plan at the same time to replace life cover benefits 

associated with the DCCPF.  

Auto-enrolment re-enrolment 

Employees who opted out of the fund following the Councils' initial auto-enrolment 

Staging Dates will have to be re-enrolled approximately 3 years after the initial 

enrolment.  This is likely to add to the pension costs of a new shared service company. 

Potential costs 

Pension contributions 
Whilst the overall, long term costs of providing pensions for the employees of WDBC 

and SHDC will not change, the short term contribution rates may vary slightly due to 

the changes in the demographics of each employer and any agreement reached over  

the treatment of the past service deficit.  Actuarial calculations will be needed to 

determine this. 

Advisor costs 
Legal costs – legal advice may be required to assist with the initial admission agreement, 

negotiation over a guarantee and with the drafting of an agreement between WDBC and 

SHDC over the treatment of the past service deficit.  A reasonable allowance for such 

advice would be around £8,000–£10,000. 

Actuarial costs – The DCCPF will accrue actuarial costs in calculating and discussing the 

deficit allocation and in calculating a contribution rate for the new body.  A reasonable 

allowance for these costs would be in the region of £8,000 - £10,000. 

Consultancy costs – You may require assistance in guiding you through the processes 

involved in setting up a new admitted body and in liaison with legal advisers, the  

DCCPF and actuarial advisers.  Costs for this could be expected to be in the region of 

£5,000–£7,000. 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

61 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Pension considerations 

New plan implementation  

The minimum company contribution rates to a new pension plan once auto-enrolment 

is fully active would be around 3% of employees' salaries.  Companies can, and often do, 

offer higher contribution rates than this however, typically ranging from 3% - 10% of 

salaries. 

Life cover, again can be provided at a number of levels, ranging from 1 times salary to 6 

times salary.  Costs of cover depend very much on the demographic of the employees 

but an approximate cost would be around £1 for every £1,000 of cover. 

An adviser would expect to charge around £5,000 to set up a pension plan and £2,000 - 

£3,000 to set up a group life insurance plan.  On-going advice would then cost in the 

region of £3,500 per annum and £2,000 per annum respectively. 



Appendix 9: 

Strengths and 

weaknesses 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

63 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Strengths and weaknesses of  the options 

 LACC strengths 

 'future proof'- services delivered from a model that more is adaptable and responsive 

to change 

 may be able to protect staff as local authorities more towards devolution 

 maintain control by the Council, but slightly reduced in comparison to option A  

 able to generate additional income from other public bodies and the private sector 

 greater financial stability  

 build on T18 partnership working 

 services passport from the Councils to the proposed company 

 more responsive and rapid decisions making processes 

 opportunity to review staff terms and conditions 

 LACC weaknesses 

 income unlikely to be generated for one to two years 

 commercial skills and knowledge of existing staff may be insufficient to meet LACC 

requirements 

 lack of capacity to develop new market 

 individuals within the proposed company may lack the drive to  lead the cultural 

change 

 subject to complex legal, tax and financial requirements 

 ownership uncertain under devolution 

 

 

 

‘As is’ strengths 

 control maintained by the Council, members and officers 

 stability for people in short term, as the financial challenge prevents long term 

stability 

 tax efficient arrangements 

‘As is’ weaknesses 

 'as is' model is more likely to be slower to change and have innovation  

 future uncertain as a result of devolution/ possible combined authority 

 limited commercial skills and expertise 

 unable to generate income from private sector and public sector 

 unlikely to generate additional income from other public sector organisations 

 additional financial savings will be required, likely to require changes to people and 

service delivery in the short to long term 

Strengths and weaknesses 



Appendix 10: 

Key risks 



Options appraisal for establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company  |  Final  -  January 2016 

65 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Key risks 

Option B LACC 

The Councils Proposed company 

Unable to agree and resolve an equitable approach to share the profit and any 

liabilities 

Board not able to drive a change in culture, due to a lack of commercial expertise.  

Recruitment limited to part time chair. 

Financial and reputation risk should the proposed company fail Innovation and commercial development not able to develop due to rigorous 

procurement controls 

Deterioration in service delivery due to ineffective contract/performance 

management 

No market, unable to generate additional income 

Pension deficit does not enable the proposed company to be competitive in the 

market 

Failure to comply with legal requirements, such as tax and accounting requirements 

Wrong alternative delivery model selected for some services, one approach may not be 

suitable for all services 

Failure to effectively embed T18 and implement the LACC due to lack of staff 

capacity if full implementation is required by April 2017 

Staff dissatisfied and reluctant to embrace the change 

Elected Members too involved in operational  detail and stifle the proposed company 

The Councils 

Council no longer financially viable, unable to meet financial challenge and revised 

budget gap 

Services have to stop 

The Councils' services are outsourced or delivered by other LACCs 

Option A 'as is' 









 
Community Right to Build Orders – delegated procedure 

 
 

 

Report to: South Hams Executive 

 

Date: 4 th February 2016 

Title: Community Right to Build Orders – delegated 

procedure 

Portfolio Area: Place and Strategy  

  

Wards Affected: all 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee:      Internal 

 

 N  Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y  

Date next steps can be taken: 
(e.g. referral on of recommendation or 

implementation of substantive decision)      

Decision to be 
referred to 

Council on 11 
February 2016 

  

Author: Ross Kennerley 
and Graham Swiss 

Role: Lead Specialist Place and 
Strategy  

Specialist Place and 
Strategy 

Contact: Ross.kennerley@swdevon.gov.uk 

graham.swiss@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 

 

Recommendations:  That the Executive 

1. Recommends to Council that the authority to approve the Community 
Right to Build Orders Procedure set out in Appendix 2 be delegated to the 

Lead Specialist, Place and Strategy in consultation with the Lead Member 
for Business Development and Local Plan and the ward Member(s) for the 
relevant Neighbourhood area. 

2. Subject to approval of recommendation 1 above, recommends that the 
appropriate changes be made to the Council’s Neighbourhood Planning 

Protocol.  



 
Community Right to Build Orders – delegated procedure 

 
 

 
 
 

1. Executive summary  
 

Under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the Council has a 
statutory duty to assist communities in the preparation of Community 
Right to Build Orders (CRtBOs) which are a particular type of 

neighbourhood development order, and to take such Orders through a 
process of examination and referendum. CRtBOs may be applied for by 

community organisations for a specific site and are used to grant planning 
permission in full or outline for a particular type of development. 
 

The Localism Act 2011 (Part 6 chapter 3, schedule 11) sets out the LPA 
responsibilities as: 

 
• Designating the neighbourhood area 

• Advising or assisting communities in the preparation of a CRtBO 
• Checking a submitted Order meets the legal requirements 
• Arranging for the independent Examination of the Order 

• Determining whether the CRtBO meets the basic conditions and 
other legal requirements 

• Subject to the outcome of the referendum, bringing the Order in to 
force (confirmation of the Order). 
 

In addition and because a CRtBO is a type of Neighbourhood Development 
Order (NDO), the LPA is obliged under the TCPA 1990 S 61 E – Q, to 

provide advice and assistance to qualifying bodies (as the LPA considers 
appropriate) for the purposes of proposals for NDOs in its area.  
NB: There is no requirement to give financial assistance to the qualifying 

body. 
 

(Note: S 61 E – Q of the TCPA 1990 was inserted by Schedule 9 Part 1 of 
the Localism Act 2011). 
 

This report sets out the case for adoption of a delegated process to enable 
CRtBOs to be processed through delegation to lead officers with the 

relevant and necessary safeguards and referral to the lead Member for 
Business Development and Local Plan in consultation with the ward 
Member(s) as and when required.  

 
It is also recommended that the existing Neighbourhood Planning Protocol 

be updated. This has clear links to the recommendation made in relation 
to Our Plan to provide updated guidance to Neighbourhood Plan groups. 

 
The statutory process requires Examination of all CRtBOs by an 
independent expert followed by a public referendum. The 

delegated process simply takes the draft CRtBO as far as the 
independent Examiner and is not a substitute for the ultimate 

decision which is taken by public referendum.  If the referendum 



 
Community Right to Build Orders – delegated procedure 

 
 

 
results in 50% plus one vote in favour of the proposed Order, the 
Council MUST confirm the Order. 

 
2. Background   

 
1) South Hams District Council has received a draft CRtBO in Totnes 

from the Totnes Community Development Society (TCDS).  It follows 

that the Council must be ready to meet its statutory obligations to 
advise, assist and implement the process prescribed under the 

Localism Act 2011 (outlined above) and, if appropriate confirm the 
required Neighbourhood area (already designated) and Order.  

 

2) The TCDS published the draft Order for consultation last November 
and is currently revising the Order in light of the responses received. 

There will be a full consultation period with the statutory consultees 
and the public when the draft Order is formally submitted to the 

Council (at the time of drafting this report this was anticipated by the 
end of January 2016). 
 

3) The Council has the appropriate power to accept an application for a 
CRtBO under the Localism Act, but in order to meet the tight 

deadlines and in the interests of efficiency the process may be 
delegated to officers, provided that there is appropriate consultation 
with affected Ward Members, Lead Member(s) and the option to refer 

such an application to the relevant committee in difficult, contentious 
or high profile applications. 

 
4) All Councils need to be ready to comply with and embrace Localism 

in line with national policy as well as the statutory requirements. The 

CRtBO represents a direct interaction with community aspirations for 
the development they want to see in their own neighbourhoods. 

Being ready to accept and process these applications will 
demonstrate the Council’s commitment to achieving its stated 
priorities including ‘helping communities to help themselves’. 

 
5) The issues here are relevant to the Members, the relevant officers in 

Development Management, Place and Strategy, Legal and Support 
Services and the community at large. It is also important for the 
Council as a whole to be able to demonstrate to the wider public and 

to the DCLG that it can meet its obligations under Localism 
effectively and in a timely and cost effective manner. 

 
 
 

3. Outcomes/outputs  
 

Ideally, the Council should have a formal delegated process adopted by 
Full Council before a CRtBO or Neighbourhood Area application is 
submitted for Examination; this will enable the relevant officers to 



 
Community Right to Build Orders – delegated procedure 

 
 

 
scrutinise the application and check that it meets what the regulations 
describe as ‘the basic conditions’ (see definition below, Appendix 1). It 

will also enable the relevant officers to decline the proposed 
Neighbourhood Area or CRtBO proposal if it does not meet the 

requirements. Written reasons must be given if a proposed 
Neighbourhood area or CRtBO is declined. 
 

If the CRtBO application meets the basic conditions, the LPA must refer 
the application onwards for Examination. If there are difficult and 

outstanding issues about the planning merits or proposed conditions at 
this stage, officers may refer the application to the relevant Committee 
for a decision before Examination but this would need to take place 

within the statutory time limits (see Appendix 2). 
 

Success or otherwise cannot really be assessed until after the 
independent Examination. If the CRtBO application is acceptable to the 

Examiner in planning terms, this could be regarded as ‘success’.  
It is perhaps also worth mentioning that an application which does not 
meet the basic conditions will be returned to the qualifying body and 

they will have to decide whether to amend or withdraw the Order. This 
‘gate-keeping’ principle might also be described as another measure of 

‘success’ as it avoids the unnecessary expense and time of a futile 
independent Examination. 
 

Interestingly, if the proposed Order is accepted by the independent 
Examiner, the application will become the subject of a public 

referendum. At this point the community has to decide whether or not 
they accept the proposed development. A vote of 50% plus one vote in 
favour of the proposal will ensure that the LPA must confirm the Order 

– this is effectively permission to commence the development (subject 
to any conditions) without further recourse to the LPA. 

 
There is opportunity to seek additional funding from the DCLG for fixed 
payments at various trigger points namely; 

 
• Designation of Neighbourhood area (if needed) (£5,000) 

• Submission of the Order (£5,000) 
• Completion of a successful Examination (£20,000) 

 

These payments are to recognise the cost to the authority in supporting 
the CRtBO process, including the Examination and referendum fees.   

 
 
4. Options available and consideration of risk  

 
1) What alternative approaches could we take? 

 
a) Do nothing 



 
Community Right to Build Orders – delegated procedure 

 
 

 
b) Adopt an alternative procedure which relies on Member approval of 

the proposed Order at each of the key stages 

 
2) Assessment of potential impacts and risks of these options 

 
a) Referral to the Executive or Full Council, with attendant preparation 

and consideration of officer reports, would slow down a process that 

has a short statutory timescale and duplicate work that will be 
scrutinised by an independent third party in any event. (The referral 

to the independent Examiner is a mandatory requirement not a 
discretionary one). There is a role for the relevant committee should 
any applications touch on highly controversial issues or detail but 

the discretion to take the matter to committee when necessary 
should not detract from the thorough preparatory work, consultation 

and specialist consideration which will be required in every case. 
 

5.  Proposed Way Forward  
 
1) To adopt the proposed recommendations 

2) The justification for the recommendations is as set out above 
3) The identified risks can be mitigated by consultation with Members and 

referral to the relevant Council body when necessary.  
 
 

6. Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  

proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y  
• Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

• Localism Act 2011 
• Neighbourhood Planning (General) 

Regulations 2012 
 
 

Financial 
 

Y TCPA 1990 Schedule 4B para 7 refers to the LPA 
duty to arrange (and pay for) the independent 

Examination.  
 

The LPA will also be responsible for making the 
arrangements for a referendum when required. 
 

Fixed amount claims can be made to DCLG to 
assist with these ‘additional burdens’ at various 

stages of the process as set out above. 
 



 
Community Right to Build Orders – delegated procedure 

 
 

 

The process will not generate additional income 

through CRtBO applications within the district, but 
it does introduce the possibility of being asked to 
provide an independent Examination for another 

authority. Once we have been through a complete 
cycle it may be worth promoting this idea to other 

authorities so that we receive the Examination 
costs.  

Risk Y Delay to delivery of CRtBOs: The increased 
delegation seeks to streamline the ability of the 
Council to respond to the stages of CRtBO 

preparation in a proportionate manner. 
Reputation: These applications will by their nature 

always have a high profile in the community and 
delay or uncertainty by preparation and 
consideration of Council reports could slow the 

process and raise concerns over the authority’s 
commitment and support to the Neighbourhood 

Planning processes. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

 

Equality and 

Diversity 
 

Y Any application should support Equality and 

Diversity in the proposed Order   

Safeguarding 
 

N No specific implications 

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 

N No direct consequences 
 
 

Health, Safety 

and Wellbeing 

Y The proposed CRtBO should support health, safety 

and well-being  

Other 

implications 

N  

 

 

 
 

Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 

 
Appendix 1: PAS / LGA Guidance at  

http://www.pas.gov.uk/documents/332612/1099329/Legal+requirements
+guide+CRTBO.pdf/b01830df-89cf-4170-8e2a-031de6e9cfe2 
 

Or as attached. 
 

Appendix 2 attached.  
 



 
Community Right to Build Orders – delegated procedure 

 
 

 
 
Background Papers: 

 
CRtBO Guidance note 

 
Approval and clearance of report 
 

 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) report 

also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny) 

N/A 

 

 
 

 
Appendix 2: Community Right to Build Procedures 

 
No Relevant stage of the NP 

process 
Specific requirements of 
delegated authority 

1 Designate the Area Delegated authority to approve the 
Neighbourhood Area if not already 
designated. 

 

2 Regulation 21 Pre-submission 

publicity and consultation  
The Qualifying Body (the CRtB 

organisation) are required to 
consult on their draft plan by 
conducting a Reg 21 consultation. 

The Local Planning Authority is a 
consultee in this process and has 

the opportunity to assess the 
contents of the draft order to 
ensure compliance with local and 

national planning policy.   
 

 

Delegated authority to provide 

feedback to the Qualifying Body in 
response to the Regulation 21 

consultation that confirms that the 
basic conditions of Schedule 4B to the 
1990 Town & Country Planning Act 

have been met, or details of the 
matters that the LPA consider need to 

be addressed before the basic 

conditions can be met. 

3 Regulation 23 publication 

The Local Planning Authority is 
required to publicise a final draft of 
a Community Right to Build Order 

as submitted by the appropriate 
qualifying body. This consultation 

will run for no less than 6 weeks. 

Delegated authority to issue the Reg 

23 Order, to make further LPA 
comments as necessary and publicise 
all responses to the Regulation 23 

consultation, as required by 
Regulation 21.  



 
Community Right to Build Orders – delegated procedure 

 
 

 

4 Regulation 24 Appointment of 

Examiner and issuing of  
Examination report 
The LPA and appropriate qualifying 

body need to work together to 
appoint an independent Examiner.  

Regulation 25 Publication of 
Examiner’s report and decisions. 

No delegation necessary as this stage, 

as it is triggered by process. SHDC to 
approach the Neighbourhood Planning 
Independent Panel and Referral 

Service (NPIERS) to propose suitably 
qualified Examiners who can conduct 

an independent Examination of the 
draft Order and to appoint an 
Examiner in conjunction with the 

qualifying body.  SHJDC publish the 
Examination report and any proposed 

modifications along with a decision 
statement.  

5 Referendum 
The LPA is required to place the 
CRtBO (as revised in accordance 

with the Examiner’s report) to a 
local referendum. 

No delegation necessary as this stage, 
as it is triggered by process. SHDC to 
undertake a referendum, the terms of 

which are defined in Neighbourhood 
Planning (Referendum) Regulations 

2012 (as amended by the 
Neighbourhood Planning 
(Referendum) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2013 and 2014) and the 
Neighbourhood Planning (Prescribed 

Dates) Regulations 2012. 

6 ‘Making’ the Order (Regulation 26) 

The requirement lies with the LPA to 
make the Order (the legal process 
by which the Order becomes part of 

the development plan). 

Subject to retained approval by the 

Executive. 

 



 
Effectively Implementing SHDC DP11: Housing Mix & Tenure 

 
 

Report to: Executive 

Date: 4th February 2016 

Title: Effectively Implementing SHDC DP11: 

Housing Mix & Tenure 

Portfolio Area: Strategy & Commissioning 

Wards Affected: All Wards 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee:  Overview & Scrutiny Panel 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y  

Date next steps can be taken: 
 

 

11 February 2016 
after Council 

  

Author: Phil Baker Role: Specialist, Placemaking CoP 

Contact: Ext.1210 / Phil.Baker@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

 
 

 

Recommendations:   

That Council be RECOMMENDED that: 

1. When applying policy SHDC DP11: Housing Mix, use the following 
indicative housing size mix to inform housing proposals: 

     35% - 1 and 2 bed dwellings 
     35% - 3 bed dwellings 

     30% - 4 + bed dwellings 

2. Approve the use of Office for National Statistics (ONS) 
Neighbourhood Statistics to inform the mix of housing type for 

housing proposals. 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 



 
Effectively Implementing SHDC DP11: Housing Mix & Tenure 

 
 

 
 
 

1. Executive summary  
 

As a Local Planning and Housing Authority, South Hams District Council 
(SHDC) has a duty to ensure the various needs and aspirations of our 
communities are met through the provision of new housing.  Our duty 

as a planning authority is to create sustainable places for all, with 
resilient communities that can live near and provide support for their 

families. 
 

When proposals for new housing come to SHDC for planning 

permission, we need to be sure that the houses being proposed meet 
the varied needs of our communities.   

 
SHDC DP11 is a planning policy designed to ensure that new proposals 

offer an ‘appropriate mix’.  It requires up-to-date evidence to be used 
by developers, housebuilders and planning officers in order to suggest 
what would be ‘appropriate’ on a site-by-site basis.  DP11 was adopted 

in 2010, and informed by evidence obtained in 2006.  This has now 
been superseded by a 2013 assessment, and this report is guided by 

this more recent piece of work. 
 

SHDC continues to pursue a corporate objective of delivering more 

‘affordable’ housing, available in a mix of tenures, to provide a range of 
housing to meet different needs, and to support inclusive communities.  

None of these will be achieved by allowing a disproportionately high 
amount of detached dwellings with a large number of bedrooms.  The 
report proposes that the following mix is used to provide a guide to 

developers and housebuilders regarding the housing mix required by 
our communities: 

 
35% - 1 and 2 bed dwellings 
35% - 3 bed dwellings 

30% - 4 + bed dwellings 
 

This will allow us to make greater provision for young people, working 
age families and older people seeking to downsize.  This housing mix is 
expected to be delivered across tenure types.  It will not be acceptable 

for all the ‘affordable’ housing to be of the smaller size, whilst the open 
market are the larger, detached dwellings, as this will not meet the 

aims of the policy. 
 
If ONS Neighbourhood Statistics data shows that the settlement or 

parish has different than SH average for each housing type (38.5% 
detached, 25.5% semi-detached, 22% terraced or 14% flats) the 

Development Management (DM) and Placemaking Specialists may 
make a case for further adjusting the required housing mix.  This will 
be made clear to the applicant at the pre-application stage. 



 
Effectively Implementing SHDC DP11: Housing Mix & Tenure 

 
 

 
 
Using this methodology we are able to better supply what is needed by 

our communities, rather than what a developer wants to deliver, or 
what is considered to be most profitable in the open market.   

 
 
2. Background  

 
In 2010 SHDC adopted policy SHDC DP11 to achieve ‘an appropriate 

mix’ of new dwellings across all housing schemes.  The original policy 
suggested using the most up to date Strategic Housing Market Needs 
Assessment (SHMNA) as providing guidance as to what the mix should 

be. 
 

At the time policy DP11 was adopted, it was informed by a 2006 
SHMNA.  A new SHMNA was commissioned and received in 2013, but 

has yet to be fully interpreted to identify what housing mix would be 
appropriate.   
 

The lack of interpretation from the 2013 SHMNA has led to policy DP11 
not being applied as effectively as was intended.  It is proposed to use 

a combination of the 2013 SHMNA and Parish level Office of National 
Statistics (ONS) data to inform the housing mix required by the Council 
as part of a planning application.  

 
The 2013 SHMNA provides a useful examination of the housing stock of 

the South Hams.  For example there are more properties in the South 
Hams with 4 bedrooms or more (9,746), than 2 bedroom properties 
(9,577), and that 38% of all properties are detached, with 25% semi-

detached and 21% terraced.  The attached appendix provides more 
information taken from the 2013 SHMNA.   

 
This report seeks to provide a suggested house mix that SHDC would 
like to achieve on housing sites, in order to provide a mix of housing 

that meets the particular needs of young people, young families and 
older people.  The mix of housing sizes and types will be formulated on 

a parish by parish basis by using housing stock and demographic data 
from the ONS to better identify what is needed by communities across 
the District. 

 
The proposed methodology will increase the effectiveness of how DP11 

is applied, and is entirely consistent with national planning policy and 
the corporate objectives of the council. In recent months it has become 
apparent that new housing proposals are including a high proportion of 

large, detached dwellings that does not meet the broad needs of the 
communities of the South Hams.  Whilst there is undoubtedly a market 

for these properties, policy DP11 seeks to deliver an appropriate 
housing mix for all members of the communities of the South Hams, 
not only those who can afford to buy large detached dwellings. 



 
Effectively Implementing SHDC DP11: Housing Mix & Tenure 

 
 

The improved interpretation of policy DP11 will greatly benefit the 
communities of the South Hams, creating a more appropriate mix of 
housing that meets the needs of our communities, and an in particular 

helping to provide suitable housing for young families and older people. 
 

3. Outcomes/outputs  
 

More effective implementation of policy DP11 will result in a greater 

variety of house sizes, types, tenures and prices being delivered on 
housing sites within the South Hams. 

 
Policy DP11 will help the council meet its stated objectives of providing 
‘a range of housing to meet different needs’.  Policy DP11 also accords 

strongly with paragraph 50 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF): 

50. To deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, widen opportunities for 
home ownership and create sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities, 
local planning authorities should: 
●plan for a mix of housing based on current and future demographic 
trends, market trends and the needs of different groups in the community 
(such as, but not limited to, families with children, older people, people with 
disabilities, service families and people wishing to build their own homes); 
●identify the size, type, tenure and range of housing that is required in 
particular locations, reflecting local demand; and 
●where they have identified that affordable housing is needed, set policies 
for meeting this need on site, unless off-site provision or a financial 
contribution of broadly equivalent value can be robustly justified (for 
example to improve or make more effective use of the existing housing 
stock) and the agreed approach contributes to the objective of creating 
mixed and balanced communities. Such policies should be sufficiently 
flexible to take account of changing market conditions over time. 

 
Benefits will be achieved immediately with housing proposals needing 
to accord more closely with the prescribed housing mix from SHDC.  In 

recent months housing mix has tended to be influenced more by 
housing market data from estate agents than by objective data 

prepared by SHDC.  This report seeks to remedy the situation by 
providing much clearer guidance on what is expected to be achieved.  

 

4. Options available and consideration of risk  
 

Before policy DP11 was examined and adopted, alternative policies 
would have been considered by strategic planning officers.  The 
approach of DP11 was considered the best method of achieving an 

appropriate housing mix, providing that the right supporting evidence is 
used to justify the recommendations of planning officers.  The only 

other alternative is what has been happening in recent months, and 
that sees developers and agents justifying their proposed mix by 
looking at house sales and searches within a given area. 

 



 
Effectively Implementing SHDC DP11: Housing Mix & Tenure 

 
 

Allowing the market to dictate an appropriate mix will only perpetuate 
problems of an imbalanced housing stock and compound the issues 
around affordability for many members of our communities who are not 

in a position to buy a large detached dwelling. 
 

Policy DP11 was subject to public consultation prior to being adopted in 
2010, and also deemed to be a sound planning policy by a Planning 
Inspector.  The policy is still considered compliant with the National 

Planning Policy Framework.  This report seeks only to update and 
endorse the evidence used to apply the policy.  Members have been 

involved in discussing the correct evidence to use, as have specialists in 
the Development Management Community of Practice. 
 

Members and specialists from Place & Strategy and Development 
Management are confident that the 2013 SHMNA, ONS Neighbourhood 

Statistics and the judgement of DM Specialists will allow DP11 to be 
more effectively implemented. 

 
 
5. Proposed Way Forward  

 
Use the 2013 SHMNA to inform the preferred housing mix for future 

housing schemes.  ONS Neighbourhood Statistics to be used to further 
refine the mix if Development Management and Placemaking Specialists 
feel it is necessary to rebalance the housing mix and type in specific 

settlements and locations.  The preferred housing mix will be: 
 

35% - 1 and 2 bed dwellings 
35% - 3 bed dwellings 
30% - 4 + bed dwellings 

 
These will be provided in a mix of flats, terraced, semi-detached and 

detached dwellings.  A mix of tenure types will apply to all house sizes 
and types. 
 

If ONS Neighbourhood Statistics data shows that the settlement or 
parish has different than SH average for each housing type (38.5% 

detached, 25.5% semi-detached, 22% terraced or 14% flats) the 
Placemaking and DM Specialists may make a case for further adjusting 
the required housing mix.  This will be made clear to the applicant at 

the pre-application stage. 
 

A housing mix informed more by community need will meet a number 
of council objectives, including providing more affordable housing, a 
range of housing to meet different needs and promoting inclusive 

communities.  Without being able to apply the right evidence and 
justification, housing mix will be informed by the market and business 

plans of major housebuilders. 
 
 



 
Effectively Implementing SHDC DP11: Housing Mix & Tenure 

 
 

 
6. Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  

proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

N The proposed method for applying our adopted 
planning policy will have no legal implications. 

 
The policy has been subject to independent 
examination prior to approval.  The policy wording 

states that the most up-to-date evidence will be 
used to inform the policy requirement.   

 
This report simply clarifies what evidence will be 
used, and how. 

 

Financial 

 

N This recommendation will not have any financial 

implications for the council. 
 

The wording of the policy commits the council to 
ensuring that up-to-date evidence is available, but 
this is also required by national planning policy, so 

there is no additional financial burden created. 
 

Risk Y There is a risk that developers and housebuilders 
try to challenge the implementation of this 

methodology, as it may result in a housing mix that 
is not market-led. 
 

This risk is partially mitigated by taking this report 
to Executive, and being clear and transparent 

about SHDC intends to apply policy DP11 in the 
future.  All DM Specialists will provide an 
expectation of required housing mix during the pre-

application stage, allowing developers and 
landowners to provide a scheme that meets these 

needs.   
 

By providing a clearer expectation on housing mix, 
policy DP11 could result in impacting the overall 
viability of housing scheme, with potential 

consequences for affordable housing.  Viability is 
often an area of negotiation between the LPA and 

the applicant/developer.  However, by adopting a 
recognised starting position SHDC is in a stronger 
position from which to negotiate on all aspects of 

proposed housing schemes, and have more control 
over the agreed outcome. 



 
Effectively Implementing SHDC DP11: Housing Mix & Tenure 

 
 

 
DP11 is not a new policy, and developers and 

housebuilders should be aware of the need to 
provide a wide range of house types and sizes.   
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

Equality and 
Diversity 

 

N The recommendations of this report are intended to 
increase accessibility to housing for a wider cross-

section of our communities than we may otherwise 
achieve.    

Safeguarding 
 

N There are no safeguarding implications.   

Community 
Safety, Crime 

and Disorder 
 

N There are no community safety, or Crime and 
Disorder implications as a result of these 

recommendations. 
 
 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

Y The broader wellbeing of all communities in the 
South Hams relies in part on equitable access to 

housing.  This report will allow a more appropriate 
mix of house sizes, types and tenures to be 

provided in the future, improving access to housing 
for a broader cross-section of our communities. 

Other 
implications 

N  
 

 

 
 

Supporting Information 
 

Appendices: 
 
A report detailing the exact wording of Policy DP11, and relevant 

information regarding South Hams housing stock and demographic profile. 
 

 
Background Papers: 
 

None 
 

 
 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) report 

also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny) 

Yes 



 
Effectively Implementing SHDC DP11: Housing Mix & Tenure 

 
 

 



 

Housing Mix policy review 
Both SH & WD have policies that seek to inform an ‘appropriate housing mix’.  This briefing 
paper examines the status of these policies and the mechanism for applying them. 

 

Status of both policies and supporting evidence – are they even NPPF compliant. 

Both policies can be seen below.  The aim of both policies is broadly the same, and both 
policies rely on the Housing Market Needs Assessment as the evidence with which to inform 
housing mix. 

WDBC Strategic Policy 8 
Inclusive Communities 
Development should provide a mix of housing sizes and types to meet the needs of 
the Borough's communities. Provision should particularly be made for smaller homes 
to meet the needs of existing and new households. 
It is aimed to create a socially inclusive, balanced community with an adaptable 
environment suitable for a range of occupiers which meets the long term housing 
needs of all. When making spatial planning decisions and when determining 
planning applications the needs of the following groups must be addressed: 
i. an ageing population, providing appropriate housing and health care accessible to 
all people and which is capable of adaptation to reflect changing lifestyles; 
ii. young people, providing jobs, housing and lifestyle to enable them to stay in the 
area; 
iii. people whose circumstances make them vulnerable; 
iv. minority groups within the Borough. 
All new residential developments will maximise the potential to incorporate the 
principles of Lifetime Homes Standards where viable. 
 

SHDC DP11: Housing Mix and Tenure 
Residential and mixed-use developments will be permitted where they provide an 
appropriate mix of dwelling types, tenures and sizes. This should reflect the identified 
local need in South Hams, and may include flats, small family sized units and 
housing suitable for older people, demonstrated by the latest Housing Market Needs 
Assessment and other local evidence. 
 

The relevant National Planning Policy framework paragraphs relating to housing mix are: 

50. To deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, widen opportunities for home 
ownership and create sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities, local planning 
authorities should: 
●plan for a mix of housing based on current and future demographic trends, market 
trends and the needs of different groups in the community (such as, but not limited 
to, families with children, older people, people with disabilities, service families and 
people wishing to build their own homes); 
●identify the size, type, tenure and range of housing that is required in particular 
locations, reflecting local demand; and 
●where they have identified that affordable housing is needed, set policies for 
meeting this need on site, unless off-site provision or a financial contribution of 



 

broadly equivalent value can be robustly justified (for example to improve or make 
more effective use of the existing housing stock) and the agreed approach 
contributes to the objective of creating mixed and balanced communities. Such 
policies should be sufficiently flexible to take account of changing market conditions 
over time. 
 
Housing 
159. Local planning authorities should have a clear understanding of housing needs 
in their area. They should: 
●prepare a Strategic Housing Market Assessment to assess their full housing needs, 
working with neighbouring authorities where housing market areas cross 
administrative boundaries. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment should identify 
the scale and mix of housing and the range of tenures that the local population is 
likely to need over the plan period which: 
–– meets household and population projections, taking account of migration and 
demographic change; 
–– addresses the need for all types of housing, including affordable housing and the 
needs of different groups in the community (such as, but not limited to, families with 
children, older people, people with disabilities, service families and people wishing to 
build their own homes);34 and 
–– caters for housing demand and the scale of housing supply necessary to meet this 
demand; 
●prepare a Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment to establish realistic 
assumptions about the availability, suitability and the likely economic viability of land 
to meet the identified need for housing over the plan period. 
 
The NPPF is clear that the Local Planning Authority (LPA) should be using appropriate 
evidence to inform housing mix.  In this regard both policies can be considered NPPF 
compliant. 

Where there is an issue at present, is that both policies currently reference the 2006 HMNA 
as evidence.  The 2013 SHMNA is in the public domain, and the key messages for both LPA 
should be extracted and used to identify some key requirements with regard to housing mix. 

 

Position in SH where 5 year supply isn’t in place – impact of NPPF on weight and use 
of policy 

It is acknowledged that SHDC are currently unable to demonstrate a 5 year housing land 
supply. In paragraph 49 of the NPPF there are clear policy implications for LPAs that cannot 
demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply: 

“Housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing 
should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.” 

Neither WD Policy SP8 or SH Policy DP11 should be regarded as policies relevant to 
housing supply.  The housing mix is a consideration once the broad principle of housing has 
been established, and these policies do not relate to overall housing numbers or locations. 
Both policies should be considered up-to-date, and be applied with the full weight 
apportioned to an NPPF compliant policy. 



 

How we ensure Place Making and DM specialists work to apply policy in future 

Place Making specialists have prepared an up-to-date summary for both LPAs from the 2013 
SHMNA, shown below.  Also, key information regarding demographic change will be 
accessed from the Neighbourhood Statistic website to provide an additional layer of 
understanding – this will allow both Place making and DM Specialists to determine if the key 
messages from the SHMNA are applicable on a site-by-site basis, or if the housing mix 
requirements could be adjusted to suit locally specific needs. 

Clarification is required on the intent of the SH policy, what it is seeking to achieve. 

 
South Hams SHMNA summary of overall housing stock: 

 

 South Hams has a total of 43,245 dwellings, 6,387 of these are currently classified as 
properties with no usual residents2, equating to 14.8% of total stock3; 
 A total of 2,420 dwellings were been built within the South Hams during the 11 year 
period 2001/02 – 2011/12 4. This represents an average of 220 per annum. Despite 
the recession and housing market downturn from 2008, delivery levels in South 
Hams have remained relatively stable over the period. 

 

• The profile of the housing by type shows that around 38% of homes are 
detached, 26% are semi-detached, 22% are terraced, 14% are flats with the 
remainder being classified as other[1]. This profile is reflected in the size of 
properties, with the average number of rooms per household in 2011 being 5.8 
and the average number of bedrooms being 2.9.  

• Concentrations of detached property within the Plymouth Fringe and Kingsbridge 
sub market areas. 

• Smaller concentrations of semi-detached properties in the Ivybridge, Plymouth 
Fringe, Dartmouth and Totnes sub market areas. 

• Relatively small concentrations of terraced property in evidence in Kingsbridge, 
Totnes and Dartmouth. Flatted properties are concentrated in Dartmouth, Totnes 
and Kingsbridge sub market areas. 

• A large proportion of the South Hams local authority area is characterised by 
properties with relatively high numbers of bedrooms (above 3 per property). 
Notable exceptions, and evidence of smaller property sizes exist in parts of the 
Kingsbridge, Totnes and Dartmouth sub market areas. 

                                                           
[1] Other includes people living in an ‘unshared dwelling caravan or other mobile or 
temporary structure’ or a ‘shared dwelling’ 



 

• There is a relatively universal pattern of high levels of household spaces with no 
usual residents. This phenomenon is closely associated with second home 
ownership across a large area of South Hams. Relatively lower levels of 
household spaces with no usual resident are in evidence in the Plymouth Fringe 
sub-market area and parts of the Totnes sub market area. 

 

South Hams SHMNA summary of demographic changes: 

 

• The examination of the changing age profile of the population of the authority 
over this period showed that compared to the England and Wales profile South 
Ham’s population profile has a notably high proportion of older persons, those 
aged 60+. In particular comparing the pyramids of the two Census years shows a 
notable increase in the proportion of people aged 60 – 70 between 2001 and 
2011 in the authority. South Hams population profile also shows a sustained low 
proportion of people aged 20 to 30. This has been consistent historically with this 
low proportion of this age group in 2001 moving through to result in a notable 
decline in the proportion aged 30 – 40 between 2001 and 2011. The contraction 
of people aged 30 – 50 over the last ten years as a proportion of the population 
as a whole has also resulted in a reduction in the proportion of children in the 
authority; 

• The age group 18-29 years is relatively sparsely represented across the whole of 
the local authority area. There is a small concentration of this age group in 
evidence in the Dartmouth sub market area. 

• The 30-64 years age group is evident through concentrations of population in the 
Dartmouth, Totnes, Ivybridge and Plymouth Fringe sub market areas. 

• A large part of South Hams also exhibits concentrations of population aged 65+ 
years. The spatial pattern associated with this age group includes a “coastal” 
dimension. 

• As well as the age profile of the population the Census 2011 also provides a 
useful indication of the average size of households (number of persons per 
household). The SHMNA identified that in South Hams the average household 
size had changed from 2.29 in 2001 to 2.21 2011. 

 



 

 

 

West Devon SHMNA summary of overall housing stock: 

 

• The profile of the existing housing stock by type shows that around 43% of homes 
are detached, 25% are semi-detached, 21% are terraced, 10% are flats with the 
remainder being classified as other. This profile is reflected in the size of properties, 
with the average number of rooms per household in 2011 being 6 and the average 
number of bedrooms being 3. 

 

• Notable concentrations of detached properties in the Chagford sub market area. A 
different pattern of concentration of semi-detached properties in the Dartmoor 
Forest and Princetown sub market areas. 

 

• Notable concentrations of terraced and flatted properties in Chagford. 
 

• In terms of property size, the majority of the local authority area is characterised by 
properties with a relatively large number of bedroom spaces (over 3.1 spaces). 
 

West Devon SHMNA summary of demographic changes: 

 

• Comparing the 2001 and 2011 Census shows that the population of West Devon has 
grown by 4,800 people over these ten years. This represents a growth of 9.8% 
which is the highest across the five authorities comprising the SHMNA area; 

 

• Changes in the age profile of the population of the authority over this period show 
that compared to the England and Wales age profile West Devon’s 
population includes a notably high proportion of older persons, defined as those aged 
60 years +. In particular comparing the age profiles between 2001 and 2011 shows a 
notable increase in the proportion of people aged 60 – 70 between 2001 and 2011 in 
the authority.  

 

• West Devon’s population profile also shows a sustained low proportion of people 
aged 20 – 30, although the proportion of females aged 20 – 25 has increased 



 

between 2001 and 2011. The overall low proportions of people within this age group 
would appear to have existed over a longer period of time with the low proportion of 
this age group in 2001 moving through to result in a notable decline in the proportion 
aged 30 – 40 between 2001 and 2011. The contraction of people aged 30 – 45 over 
the last ten years as a proportion of the population as a whole has also resulted in a 
reduction in the proportion of children in the authority; 

 

• There are relatively low levels of population aged 18-29 years, with marginally 
elevated levels evident in the Dartmoor Forest and Princetown sub market area. 
 

• Working age population in the age group 30-64 years exhibits concentrations in the 
Dartmoor Forest and Princetown sub market area as well as Tavistock. 
 

• There are concentrations of population aged 65+ year in Tavistock, Okehampton and 
Chagford 

 
 
 
Specialists can source information at a Parish level from: 
http://www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk/dissemination/LeadHome.do?m=0&s=13893435
56899&enc=1&nsjs=true&nsck=false&nssvg=false&nswid=1280 
 
This will help to understand if changes in housing stock and demographic profile is broadly 
consistent with the average across the LPA, and if not, locally appropriate adjustment can be 
made that reflects the characteristics of the local area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk/dissemination/LeadHome.do?m=0&s=1389343556899&enc=1&nsjs=true&nsck=false&nssvg=false&nswid=1280
http://www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk/dissemination/LeadHome.do?m=0&s=1389343556899&enc=1&nsjs=true&nsck=false&nssvg=false&nswid=1280


 

Clarify intention of housing mix policies 
 
Using Parish data regarding housing stock and demographic profile, both LPAs will be 
seeking to achieve a more balanced profile of housing stock and demographic groups. 
 
In particular, each LPA will be seeking to deliver more housing that meets the needs of: 
 
An increasing older population 
2 bed properties  
Smaller garden sizes 
One or split levels 
Built with adaptability in mind 
Particularly in coastal areas to increase diversity of housing stock 
 
 
Young people 
1 bed properties 
Close to frequent public transport services 
Close to recognised employment centres 
 
 
Young families 
2 and 3 bed properties 
Larger garden sizes 
Well dispersed throughout the District/Borough 
Close to frequent public transport services 
Close to recognised employment centres 
 
 
Users with particular needs 
Dwellings designed to accommodate people with reduced mobility 
Dementia friendly dwellings and housing schemes 
Well dispersed throughout the District 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Proposed implementation of housing mix policies: 
 
Both SHDC & WDBC should be seeking the following mix on housing schemes over 5 units: 
 
35% - 1 and 2 bedroom properties 
35% - 3 bedroom properties 
30% - 4+ bedrooms 
 
 
Of the housing that is provided, the type will be guided by whether the parish and/or 
settlement has a housing stock that varies significantly from the average across the District: 
 
14% - flats 
22% - terraced  
25.5% - semi-detached 
38% - detached 
 
This information will be obtained using the ONS Neighbourhood Statistics data. 
 
Subject to viability, each LPA would expect to see an equitable proportion of each dwelling 
type made available as affordable housing. Each LPA will seek to resist development 
proposals that allocate the smaller dwelling types for affordable housing and larger 
properties as open market dwellings, as this does not support our aim of enabling more 
equitable access to housing types across each area. 
 
(Information regarding stock breakdown for WD to follow). 
 
 
 
 

 
 



Safeguarding Policy 
 

 
 

Report to: Executive  

Date: 4th February 2016 

Title: Safeguarding Policy 

Portfolio Area: Customer First  

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview & Scrutiny 

 

Urgent Decision:  N Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Louisa Daley 

Isabel Blake 

Role: Specialist  

COP - Housing, Revenues 

and Benefits 

Contact: Louisa.Daley@swdevon.gov.uk 

Isabel.Blake@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Recommendations:  

1. That the Executive Committee RECOMMENDs that Council agree to 
adopt the Safeguarding Policy 

 

 

 
1. Executive summary  

 
• This policy replaces the safeguarding policy last refreshed in 2013. 

The existing policy is no longer fit for purpose due to changes 

introduced as part of the Care Act 2014. This Safeguarding policy 
has been developed in partnership with the other Safeguarding 

Officers in Devon, who represent all of the District Councils.  If 
adopted this will provide a consistent approach across the County. 
 

 



Safeguarding Policy 
 

 
 

Aims of the Policy 
 
The aims of the policy are to:  

 
• Clarify the roles and responsibilities of all parties within scope of the 

policy. 
 
• Support the promotion of a safe working environment and a culture of 

care in which the rights of all children, young people and adults with care 
and support needs are protected and respected. 

 
• Promote best practice in how employees and associated workers interact 

with children, young people and adults with care and support needs while 

providing Council services.  
 

• Develop clear guidance and procedures for those employees working with 
children, young people and adults with care and support needs and ensure 

through training and support that they are aware of these and able to 
implement them. 

 

• Provide a framework for developing partnerships with appropriate external 
bodies e.g. Devon Safeguarding Children Board and Devon Safeguarding 

Adults Board, to ensure that the policy continues to reflect legal and best 
practice requirements in respect of the responsibility of care of children, 
young people and adults with care and support needs. 

   
 

2. Background  
 
This policy replaces the previous joint safeguarding policy, last updated in 2013. 

Since then a key piece of legislation – The Care Act 2014 has been introduced, 
increasing the responsibilities for local authorities around adults with care and 

support needs. Under this definition this is anyone over the age of 18 who; 
 

• Has needs for care and support (whether or not the local 

authority is meeting any of those needs) and; 
• is experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect; and 

• As a result of those care and support needs is unable to 
protect themselves from either the risk of, or the experience 
of abuse or neglect. 

 
It is important that this new safeguarding policy makes provision for both 

children and young people and for adults with care and support needs in order 
for it to be fit for purpose. 
 

The Council has previously had a safeguarding policy, and this underpins the 
statutory duty under section 11 of The Children’s Act 2004. In which key people 

and bodies, including district councils are required to make arrangements to 
ensure that in discharging their functions they have regard to the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  



Safeguarding Policy 
 

 
 

 
 The Policy clearly sets out what the public and other statutory and voluntary 
organisations can expect from the Council. It covers all the functions and 

services of the council, its elected members, staff and contractors. Working in 
partnership to develop a policy for the whole of Devon will ensure consistency 

and lessen any chance of confusion around roles and responsibilities for other 
organisation such as the police or Devon County who have dealings across the 
County and in the past have needed to know the very slight differences between 

10 local councils. 
 

 
3. Outcomes/outputs  
 

Since the Council’s safeguarding policy was last reviewed there have been 
several high profile safeguarding cases nationally. It is the intention that this 

policy will be complimented with comprehensive guides and training 
opportunities for staff and members and that safeguarding becomes embedded 

throughout the organisation as everyone’s responsibility rather than a few 
designated officers. This will ensure we are proactively and collectively working 
together to protect children and adults with care and support needs in our local 

area. Key staff have already undertaken some training in May and June of 2015 
towards these requirements. 

  
 
4. Options available and consideration of risk  

 
It is essential that we refresh the existing safeguarding policy to ensure it is fit 

for purpose following the introduction of the Care Act 2014.  
The Council is required to complete an annual audit for the Children’s 
safeguarding board. This is designed to monitor and challenge the effectiveness 

of our arrangements for the purpose of safeguarding and promoting the welfare 
of children. One of the key standards is that we are up to date with safeguarding 

legislation and that our in-house documentation aligns with this, also that we 
have effective safeguarding policies and procedures which are regularly 
reviewed. We would not meet the requirements of the audit if we could not meet 

this standard and would not easily be able to identify how we meet our statutory 
obligation under the Children’s Act 2004 to cooperate in safeguarding children 

and protecting their welfare.  
 
5.  Proposed Way Forward 

1) If this policy is agreed the intention is to roll out to officers and members at 
the earliest opportunity with a comprehensive guide and additional training 

opportunities. The Policy is clear that in the intention to make safeguarding 
the responsibility of all while supporting people to do this. This will help 
safeguarding to become firmly embedded in the ethos of the organisation  

 
2) The proposed way forward is for Members to adopt the Safeguarding Policy, 

understanding that the same policy will be adopted by the other Devon 
Councils. The operational document – Safeguarding Guidelines may have 



Safeguarding Policy 
 

 
 

some variation from other District Councils due to corporate alignment and 
working practises. 
 

  
6. Implications  

 

Implications 

 

Relevant  

to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y The Children’s Act 2004  
Section 11 places a statutory duty on key people 

and bodies, including district councils, to make 
arrangements to ensure that in discharging their 

functions they have regard to the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  
Section 10 outlines the duty to promote inter-

agency cooperation between named agencies - 
including district councils.  

 

Financial 

 

N There are no financial implications relating to 

adoption of this policy.  
 

Risk Y It is necessary to have a policy to protect staff, 
Members and the public.  
 

The policy sets out responsibilities and expectations 
for all concerned. 

 
 
  

 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

 

Equality and 

Diversity 
 

N This policy does have high relevance to equality 

and has a positive or neutral impact on all 
protected characteristics 

Safeguarding 
 

Y The policy is primarily concerned with safeguarding 
or children and adults with care & support needs 

Community 
Safety, Crime 

and Disorder 
 

Y  
This policy has high relevance on community 

safety, crime and disorder and will be used for the 
purposes of detecting crime. 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

Y  This policy has high relevance to health safety and 
wellbeing of children and adults with care and 
support needs 

Other 
implications 

  
 

 
 



Safeguarding Policy 
 

 
 

Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 

 
Appendix 1 – South Hams & West Devon Safeguarding Policy 2016 

 
The Care Act 2014 in particular Sections 42 to 46 related to 
safeguarding, further information can be found at: 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted  
 

The Children Act 2004, specifically Section 11 which places a duty on 
key people and public  
bodies, including district councils, to make arrangements to ensure that 

their functions are discharged with regard to the need to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children. Further information can be found at: 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents 
 

The Counter Terrorism Act section 26 which places a duty on certain 
bodies, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the need 
to prevent people from becoming terrorists or supporting terrorism. The 

Prevent Agenda is one of four strands which makes up the Governments 
counter-terrorism strategy.  Further information can be found at: 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/6/contents 
 
The Modern Slavery Act 2015.  Further information can be found at: 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/30/contents/enacted 
 

The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 in particular Part 
10 relating to forced marriage.  Further information can be found at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted  

 
 

The Serious Crime Act 2015 particularly Part 5 relating to female genital 
mutilation, child cruelty and domestic abuse. Further information can be 
found at: 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/9/contents/enacted 
 

The policy is written with reference to the principle of Think Child, Think 
Parent, Think Family.  Further information can be found at: 
http://www.publichealth.hscni.net/publications/think-child-think-

parent-think-family-0 
 

Approval and clearance of report 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny) 

Yes 



Safeguarding Policy 
 

 
 

 



1 
 

 

Safeguarding Policy 
Version 1 Jan 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



2 
 

 
 
1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 This policy is based on the district council responsibilities under: 

 
1.1.1 The Care Act 2014 in particular Sections 42 to 46 related to safeguarding, further information can 

be found at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted  
 

1.1.2 The Children Act 2004, specifically Section 11 which places a duty on key people and public  
bodies, including district councils, to make arrangements to ensure that their functions are 
discharged with regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. Further 
information can be found at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents 
 

1.1.3 The Counter Terrorism Act section 26 which places a duty on certain bodies, in the exercise of 
their functions, to have due regard to the need to prevent people from becoming terrorists or 
supporting terrorism. The Prevent Agenda is one of four strands which makes up the 
Governments counter-terrorism strategy.  Further information can be found at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/6/contents 
 

1.1.4 The Modern Slavery Act 2015.  Further information can be found at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/30/contents/enacted 

 
1.1.5 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 in particular Part 10 relating to forced 

marriage.  Further information can be found at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted  
 

 
1.1.6 The Serious Crime Act 2015 particularly Part 5 relating to female genital mutilation, child cruelty 

and domestic abuse. Further information can be found at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/9/contents/enacted 
 

1.1.7 The policy is written with reference to the principle of Think Child, Think Parent, Think Family.  
Further information can be found at: http://www.publichealth.hscni.net/publications/think-child-
think-parent-think-family-0 
 

1.1.8  
 
 
2.  Policy commitment 
 
2.1  Devon District Councils believe that all children, young people and adults have the right to be 

safe, happy and healthy and deserve protection from abuse.  The councils are committed to 
safeguarding from harm all children, young people and adults with care and support needs (see 
definition in point 4 relating to the Care Act 2014) using any council services and involved in any 
of their activities, and to treat them with respect during their dealings with the councils. 

 
 
3.  Aims of the Policy 
 
3.1 The aims of the policy are to:  
 

• Clarify the roles and responsibilities of all parties within scope of the policy. 
 

• Support the promotion of a safe working environment and a culture of care in which the rights 
of all children, young people and adults with care and support needs are protected and 
respected. 
 



3 
 

• Promote best practice in how employees and associated workers interact with children, young 
people and adults with care and support needs while providing Council services.  

 
• Develop clear guidance and procedures for those employees working with children, young 

people and adults with care and support needs and ensure through training and support that 
they are aware of these and able to implement them. 

 
• Provide a framework for developing partnerships with appropriate external bodies e.g. Devon 

Safeguarding Children Board and Devon Safeguarding Adults Board, to ensure that the policy 
continues to reflect legal and best practice requirements in respect of the responsibility of 
care of children, young people and adults with care and support needs. 

 
 
4. Scope of the Policy 
 
4.1 The policy is in respect of the district council responsibility towards: 
 

• Children and young people, legally defined as any person under the age of 18.  From this 
point the terms child or children will be used to refer to this group. 

• Adults with care and support needs are defined under the Care Act 2014 and for the 
purposes of this policy, as anyone over the age of 18 who: 
o has needs for care and support (whether or not the local authority is meeting any of those 

needs) and; 
o is experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect; and 
o as a result of those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves from either 

the risk of, or the experience of abuse or neglect. 
 

• The employees of the council who have dealings with children, young people and adults with 
care and support needs and who are required to act in a position of trust and to act 
responsibly and within the law.  

 
• The employees and elected members of the council who, while not required to act in a 

position of trust, will come into contact with members of these groups on a regular basis 
during the course of their work.  

 
• Volunteers and other workers involved in the provision of council services but not employed 

by the council, including workers in organisations with whom the council has contracts for the 
delivery of services.  

 
4.2 It covers all the functions and services of the council, its elected members, staff and contractors.  

  
4.3 This document is primarily concerned with protecting children, young people and adults with care 

and support needs from harm and providing guidance on how to deal with issues.  However it is 
important to remember that safeguarding has a wider meaning which includes the promotion of 
welfare and taking action to enable all children, young people and adults with care and support 
needs to have the best life outcomes.  
 

4.3  The policy does not cover health and safety issues related to safeguarding children such as use 
of play equipment or provision of food at events.  Separate guidance on this and appropriate 
behaviours when dealing with children and adults with care and support needs, should be read in 
conjunction with this policy. 

 
4.4 Where available this policy should also be used in conjunction with the following documents: 

• Disciplinary Procedure  
• Grievance Procedure  
• Whistle Blowing Policy  
• Access to Information Policy  
• Acceptable Use Policy  
• Equality Policy  



4 
 

• Complaints & Feedback Procedure  
• Harassment and Hate Crime Policy  
• Health & Safety at Work guidance  

 
 
 
5. Responsibility 
 
5.1 Responsibility for the implementation of this policy lies at all levels of the council. 
 
5.2 Elected Members are responsible for ensuring that the council has a policy, which adequately 

provides protection for children and adults with care and support needs in receipt of its services 
and for the regular review of this policy in the light of changes to legislation e.g. Data Protection 
Act, or new legislation or regulation. 

 
5.3 Elected Members should report any concerns to the Corporate Safeguarding Lead. 
 
5.4 A designated Lead Member will be appointed lead responsibility for safeguarding. 
 
5.5 Safeguarding Officers within the district councils will have operation responsibility for 

safeguarding. 
 
5.6 There are a number of staff across each council situated in teams which have the most 

experience of dealing with safeguarding issues in their day to day work. In addition each 
organisation has appointed a Corporate Safeguarding Lead responsible for co-ordinating the 
implementation of the policy and providing a single point of contact for the safeguarding boards. 

 
5.7 Any staff who have a safeguarding concern should in the first instance discuss the matter with 

any one of the safeguarding leads who will make a decision whether or not to refer the matter to 
the appropriate external organisation.  

 
5.8 Safeguarding leads have responsibility for: 

• Receiving concerns, discussing them with whoever has raised the concern and taking advice 
from the relevant partner agency/County Council service: this could include complex matters 
such as consent and whether parents/carers should be notified. 

• Making a decision about how to proceed and whether to make a formal referral.    If there is 
disagreement on the appropriate course of action to take then the safeguarding lead has the 
final decision.  Where staff are dissatisfied with the decision of the safeguarding lead, they 
should report their concerns to their line manager in the first instance and can still contact 
Devon County Council if they have strong concerns. 

• Ensuring the procedure is followed on such matters as making a referral, confidentiality and 
recording. 

• Working with colleagues to improve practice across the organisation.  
• In the event of an incident or query, should a safeguarding lead not be available, staff should 

go straight to relevant Devon County Council service.  They can be supported by a senior 
manager but details of any incident must not be shared unless absolutely necessary. 

• Attending appropriate courses and updating of safeguarding legislation. 
 

 
5.9 In addition the Corporate Safeguarding Lead has responsibility for: 

• ensuring there is a secure central record relating to allegations and investigations 
• acting as multi agency partner on the Local Children Safeguarding Board and Local Adult 

Safeguarding board 
• advocating the importance of safeguarding to partners and customers 
• ensuring all safeguarding  policies, procedures and guidelines are implemented and 

promoted 
 
 



5 
 

5.10 Line Managers 
 

• Ensuring that employees, volunteers and other workers dealing with these groups are 
adequately trained and aware of their responsibilities in this area. 

 
• Ensuring that external contractors delivering council services are aware of the council’s 

expectation that workers are aware of and abide by the standards of behaviour expected of 
council employees. 

 
• Ensuring that carers and/or parents of the children and adults with care and support needs 

are aware that, in providing services, council employees are not normally acting in loco 
parentis, except in relation to events for unaccompanied children who have been formally 
registered.  

 
• Ensuring the carers and/or parents of the children and adults with care and support needs 

who are in direct receipt of council services 1 are made aware that services will be delivered 
in line with this policy. 

 
• Ensuring that any evidence or complaint of abuse or lack of care is reported to the 

appropriate body e.g. Devon County Council, Safeguarding Board or the Police, and to 
council’s Human Resources or Personnel team where members of staff are involved. 

 
• Ensuring that employees and others do not work with children or adults with care and support 

needs on regulated activities without an appropriate Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) 
disclosure. 

 
• Working with other associated agencies to ensure the proper transfer of information relating 

to dealings with children and adults with care and support needs, where necessary. 
 

• Ensuring that adequate supervision and support is available to those who have been directly 
involved in dealing with safeguarding cases, including a de-brief of the case and any relevant 
outcomes. 

 
 
5.11 In addition to the above, members of the senior management team are responsible for: 
 

• Identifying those services and posts that are likely to have an involvement with children and 
adults with care and support needs, and undertaking an appropriate risk assessment of posts 
in respect of DBS disclosure requirements.  

 
• Ensuring that those people appointed by them to the district council, whose normal duties fall 

into the definition of Regulated Activity as defined in the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 
2006 and amended by the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, are subject to the appropriate 
level of DBS disclosure and are appropriately qualified and/or trained in working with these 
groups.  

 
• Ensuring that all necessary procedures and practices are in place to provide adequate 

protection both for the individuals in these groups but also protection for the employees 
involved with them. 

 
• Ensuring that proper records are kept of any incidents occurring within their service and that 

these are held securely and/or passed on to the council’s Human Resources/Personnel team 
if the incident involves a member of staff. 
 

                                                 
1 For example: this would include arranging accommodation for a vulnerable adult or holding an event for children 
at the museum.  It would not include arranging accommodation for a family with children where the contract is with 
the parents/carers. 



6 
 

• Ensuring that the procurement framework for the authority includes expectations upon 
contractors to demonstrate effective safeguarding practices for all their staff 

 
• The Head of Paid Service/ Chief Executive is the lead officer with overall responsibility for the 

organisation’s safeguarding arrangements. 
 
 
5.12 Human Resources/Personnel are responsible for: 
 

• Working with senior managers in maintaining a record of those posts, requiring a DBS 
disclosure together with the level of disclosure required.  

 
• Ensuring that recruitment procedures are robust and that information pertinent to working with 

these groups is obtained during the recruitment procedure. 
 

• Ensuring that DBS Disclosures are carried out in compliance with legislation and DBS 
guidance.  

 
• Supporting senior managers in dealing with allegations of abuse or lack of care by staff. 

 
• Referring information to the DBS and Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) about 

employees who have been dismissed or removed from working with vulnerable groups (or 
would have been had they not left/resigned) as a result of a relevant caution/conviction, 
conduct that has harmed or put a child/vulnerable adult at risk of harm, or satisfied the ‘Harm 
Test’ in relation to vulnerable groups. 

 
 
5.13 All employees and particularly those working with children and adults with care and support 
needs are responsible for: 
 

• Ensuring that they are familiar with and understand the policies and procedures relating to 
their work with or in the vicinity of children and adults with care and support needs. 

 
• Ensuring that they feel confident in working within this environment and working with their 

managers to ensure that they have the knowledge and skills to carry out their tasks in this 
context.  

 
• Treating all those children and adults with whom they come into contact while carrying out 

their work equally and with respect. 
 

• Reporting to a safeguarding lead, any concerns they may have about abuse or a lack of care 
of children and adults with care and support needs either from other staff, from carers, 
parents or those in loco parentis or between members of the group.  

 
5.14 Volunteers, contractors and other workers are responsible for: 
 

• Working with employees of the council, to the same standard, in ensuring the safety and well-
being of children and adults with care and support needs within their scope. 

 
• Participating in any training or development opportunities offered to them to improve their 

knowledge of skills in this area. 
 
 
6. Review 
 
6.1 This policy and the guidance will be reviewed annually or whenever there is a change in the 

related legislation or an emerging risk is identified.  This will ensure these documents are up to 
date and fit for purpose. 

 



  O+S 14.1.16 

 
 

   
MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL 
HELD AT FOLLATON HOUSE, TOTNES ON 

THURSDAY, 14 JANUARY 2016   
 

Panel Members in attendance : 
* Denotes attendance    Ø  Denotes apology for absence          

Ø Cllr K J Baldry * Cllr D W May 
*   Cllr N A Barnes   *  Cllr J T Pennington 
* Cllr J I G Blackler * Cllr K Pringle 
*  Cllr D Brown * Cllr M F Saltern (Chairman) 
* Cllr J P Green * Cllr P C Smerdon 
* Cllr J D Hawkins * Cllr K R H Wingate 
* Cllr D Horsburgh   

 
Other Members  also in attendance:   

Cllrs H D Bastone, I Bramble, J Brazil, P K Cuthbert, R F D Gilbert, M J Hicks, P W 
Hitchins, J M Hodgson, T R Holway, J A Pearce, R C Steer, R J Tucker, L A H Ward and 
S A E Wright 
 
Item No  Minute Ref No  

below refers 
Officers in attendance and participating  

All  Head of Paid Service and Senior Specialist – Democratic 
Services 

8 O&S.66/15 Section 151 Officer, Senior Specialist – Place and 
Strategy, Group Manager – Commercial Services and 
Senior Specialist – Facilities Management 

9 O&S.67/15 Executive Director (Service Delivery and Commercial 
Development) and Contact Centre Manager 

10 O&S.68/15 Specialists Manager and COP Lead Development 
Management 

11 O&S.69/15 Support Services Specialist Manager 
12 O&S.70/15 Group Manager – Business Development and Specialist – 

Performance and Intelligence 
13(a) and 

15 
O&S.71/15 (a) 
and O&S.74/15 

Group Manager – Commercial Services 

 
 
O&S.62/15 MINUTES 
 

The minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel held on 19 
November 2015 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman. 

 

O&S.63/15  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items of 
business to be considered during the course of the meeting.  These were 
recorded as follows:- 
 
 



  O+S 14.1.16 

 
 

Cllr J D Hawkins declared a Personal Interest in Item 13(d): ‘Task and 
Finish Group Updates: Events Policy’ (Minute O&S.71/15(d) below refers) 
by virtue of being the Chairman of the Dartmouth Royal Regatta and 
remained in the meeting during the debate on this item. 

 
 

O&S.64/15 PUBLIC FORUM 
 
 In accordance with the Public Forum Procedure Rules, no items were 

raised at this meeting. 
 
 
O&S.65/15 EXECUTIVE FORWARD PLAN 
 
 Members were presented with the most recently published Executive 

Forward Plan.  In discussion, Members particularly highlighted the 
proposed agenda item on 10 March 2016 entitled: ‘Income Generation 
Opportunities/Business Development Update’ and felt that it would be 
useful to receive an update on the Income Generation Opportunities at the 
next Panel meeting on 25 February 2016. 

   
 
O&S.66/15 BUDGET PROPOSALS REPORT 2016/17 – UPDATE INFORMATIO N 
 
 The Panel considered a report that updated Members on the figures 

shown in the Capital and Revenue Budget papers that were presented to 
the Executive at its meeting on 10 December 2015 (Minutes E.47/15 and 
E.48/15 refer). 

 
 In his introduction, the Leader made particular reference to:- 
 

- the loss of the Revenue Support Grant.  The Leader expressed his 
major disappointment at the central government announcement 
whereby the Council would receive no Revenue Support Grant funding 
by 2018/19; 

- the four year offer to Councils to have certainty of their funding.  The 
Panel noted that a meeting was to be held later this week between 
senior finance officers across the county during which the merits of 
whether or not to accept the four year offer would be discussed further. 

 In discussion on the draft revenue budget, the following points were 
raised:- 

 
(a) As a general point, a Member was of the view that central government 

cuts were far too severe and key stakeholders needed to take every 
possible step to reverse this trend.  In response, the Leader advised 
that active and ongoing lobbying was taking place in this regard with 
both the District Councils Network and Local Government Association 
particularly pro-active.  Furthermore, the Member continued to question 
why town and parish councils remained exempt from any Council Tax 
referendum limits; 
 



  O+S 14.1.16 

 
 

(b) It was clarified that the central government funding stream that had 
been designated solely for homelessness prevention had now been 
discontinued; 

 
(c) In respect of the set up costs of the Local Authority Controlled 

Company, officers advised that they were awaiting a response from the 
Local Government Association to ascertain whether or not the Council 
would be entitled to receive a sum of transformation funding from the 
Department for Communities and Local Government to support this 
project.  It was noted that the cost pressures had been increased (to 
£150,000 per Council) as a consequence of some further exploratory 
work that had been undertaken by Grant Thornton.  In response to 
some Member concerns over these rising costs and the projected 
payback period, officers confirmed that a more detailed agenda item 
would be presented to Members in the upcoming weeks for 
consideration; 

 
(d) A Member felt that it would be helpful for a breakdown of the £230,000 

affordable housing contribution to be made available for interested 
Members.  In reply, officers advised that, in light of the reactive nature 
of this fund and the likelihood that projects may continually emerge, 
such a breakdown would be difficult to produce; 

 
(e) With regard to the Base Budget figures, the Section 151 Officer  

agreed to illustrate (by virtue of a future Members’ Bulletin article) how 
the savings and pressures reconciled in relation to the Transformation 
Programme savings; 

 
(f) Officers confirmed that the New Homes Bonus modelling had taken 

account of feedback provided by lead officers working on the Sherford 
development proposals. 

 
 Specifically on the revenue budget proposals, it was then PROPOSED 
 and SECONDED that the Executive be advised that the Panel 
RECOMMEND that:- 
 

1. The Council Tax level for 2016/17 should be increased by 
1.99%; 

2. The anticipated surplus for 2016/17 should be transferred 
into a contingency reserve; and 

3. The themes arising from the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy be endorsed. 

 
  In discussion on the draft capital budget, reference was made to:- 
 

(i) provision of an external platform lift to link to the Council Chamber.  In 
light of the severity of the Council’s budgetary position, a Member 
questioned the justification for spending £75,000 on a platform lift.  In 
response, Executive Members highlighted the potential income that 
could be generated by letting this office space and the projected two 
year payback period for this investment; 
 



  O+S 14.1.16 

 
 

(ii) replacement costs of the existing boilers at Follaton House.  Despite 
offering their help from the offset to support this project, some 
Members expressed their disappointment that they had not yet been 
contacted.  Following a debate during which the potential for a 
biomass or ground source heat pump solution was raised, it was 
concluded that an options appraisal was required.  Furthermore, the 
Panel endorsed the suggestion whereby this project was included in 
the Commercial Services work plan, with Cllrs Barnes and Wingate 
being involved from the early stages; 

 
(iii) the costs of vehicles for the operational locality officers.  Officers gave 

assurances that this proposed capital spend would be held in 
abeyance until the Locality Service review that was scheduled for the 
Panel meeting in March 2016; 

 
(iv) future Disabled Facilities Grant funding.  When questioned, officers 

confirmed that they had received assurances from colleagues at 
Devon County Council whereby, for 2016/17, the Council would 
receive at least the same amount on funding as had been allocated for 
2015/16. 

 
Specifically on the capital budget proposals, it was PROPOSED and 
SECONDED that the Executive be advised that the Panel has considered 
the agenda report and made comments as outlined in the minutes above. 
 

  
O&S.67/15 CONTACT CENTRE UPDATE 
 
 In line with the wish of the Panel at its most recent meeting to see a far 

greater improvement in performance (Minute O&S.55/15 refers), a 
report was considered that presented a draft clear action plan for 
Customer Services. 

 
 In discussion, the following points were raised:- 
 

(a) Members expressed their surprise at the second highest volume 
phone call type was ordering recycling sacks.  These Members felt 
that there were a number of measures that could be implemented to 
reduce the burden on the contact centre arising from this call type 
and it was felt that there was scope for Locality Officers and local 
ward Members to take on additional responsibility.  As a general 
point, some Members felt that the Council should be utilising the 
Locality Service more in order to support the Contact Centre; 
 

(b) Some Members repeated their previously raised viewpoint that staff 
numbers were insufficient in the contact centre.  Officers countered 
this point by expressing the view that resources should be 
prioritised towards ensuring that the designed processes were 
accurate.  In addition, since the staff members were currently 
operating multiple different systems, the Council was not yet in a 
position to determine whether the staff numbers were appropriate.   

 



  O+S 14.1.16 

 
 

Finally, the Head of Paid Service confirmed that once the processes 
were all in place and functioning correctly, he was committed to 
reviewing the officer establishment to ensure that resources were 
allocated in the right place and at the appropriate level; 

 
(c) It was noted that the budget allocated for agency staff would be 

spent by the end of March 2015.  In response to a request, officers 
agreed to provide Members with a list outlining how this would 
impact upon staff numbers; 

 
(d) In recognising the urgent need for channel shift and improved 

signposting and communications, Members felt that it would be 
interesting to receive comparable information outlining the average 
costs of transactions through the website, telephone calls and face 
to face respectively; 

 
(e) A Member felt that the Panel had extensively scrutinised the contact 

centre over recent meetings and there was now a desperate need 
to let officers get on with delivering the action plan to drive through 
service improvements.  As a further comfort, it was noted that the 
contact centre performance figures were to be reviewed by the 
Senior Leadership Team on a weekly basis; 

 
(f) It was noted that work was ongoing in an attempt for outgoing calls 

from the Council to no longer be displayed to the recipient as being 
from a ‘withheld’ number.  

It was then: 
 

RESOLVED 
 
1. That Members continue to support the work being undertaken 

to improve Customer Services and monitor performance 
through regular updates; and 

2. That the Action Plan (as outlined at Appendix C) be endorsed. 

 
 
O&S.68/15 DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICE UPDATE 
 

A report was considered that outlined the measures that had been both 
implemented and still planned to secure a sustainable improvement in 
performance in delivering Development Management. 
 
During the debate, some Members expressed their frustrations and 
concerns specifically in relation to:- 
 
- the poor quality of service being experienced by town and parish 

councils, who were becoming increasingly frustrated.  Officers 
recognised this point and stated that there was a need for the Council to 
improve its communications with town and parish councils; 

  



  O+S 14.1.16 

 
 

- the need to improve performance quickly or run the real risk of the 
service being ‘designated’.  In addition, the view was expressed that 
customer satisfaction must not be lost sight of when chasing prescribed 
service targets; 

- the problems that had been encountered when elements of the service 
had gone live on the new Planning system.  A Member expressed their 
regret that the IT systems were currently letting down the service.  In 
taking this point a step further, Members asked that a message be 
passed back to senior Civica representatives whereby the Panel felt 
very let down by the service being received by the Council; 

- the loss of capacity, experience and local knowledge as a consequence 
of the Transformation Programme.  A Member proceeded to state that 
there was a need to look at placing additional resources in the service.  
The Head of Paid Service reiterated the comments that he had 
expressed during the previous agenda item (O&S.67/15(b) above refers) 
whereby he was committed to reviewing the officer establishment. 

In response, other Members felt that these points were unduly harsh when 
considering that the presented agenda report was highlighting overall 
improvements in the Development Management Service. 
 
Nonetheless, a Member PROPOSED that: 
 
1. closer liaison take place between Planning Case Officers and town and 

parish councils in respect of the lead in times for planning applications 
to ensure that town and parish councils have as much time as possible 
to consider an application during the consultation process; and 

2. closer liaison take place between individual Members and Planning 
Case Officers. 

A Member duly SECONDED part 1 of the proposal but, in the absence of 
a seconder for part 2, there was no debate on this part. 
 
In discussion on part 1, Members acknowledged the comments of the 
Development Management COP Lead whereby the Council was restricted 
by the statutory time period for consulting with local town and parish 
councils and the vote was therefore declared LOST on this motion. 
 
It was then: 

 
RESOLVED 
 
1. That the measures that were being implemented to improve 

performance within Development Management (as outlined at 
paragraph 4 of the presented agenda report) be endorsed; and 

2. That the Head of Paid Service inform senior Civica  
representatives that the Panel is very disappointed with the 
level of service being received by the Council to date. 

 

  



  O+S 14.1.16 

 
 

O&S.69/15 HEALTH AND WELLBEING (LEISURE) PROCUREMENT UPDATE 
 
 A report was presented that provided an update on the Health and 

Wellbeing (Leisure) procurement exercise.  The lead Executive Member 
for Customer First provided a timetable of events for the project and 
expressed his confidence that the Council would receive some positive 
bid submissions. 

 
In discussion, some Members highlighted the comments outlined in the 
presented agenda report that described the role to be played by local 
Ward Members in this exercise.  It was therefore deemed unfortunate by 
a number of Members that they had received no information or contact 
to date.  Officers responded that they would arrange a meeting for all 
local ward Members in due course.  Moreover, at this meeting, greater 
information would be revealed to Members in respect of costs and the 
dialogue sessions that had been conducted. 
 
It was then: 
 

RESOLVED 
 

That the progress of the procurement for Health and Wellbeing 
(Leisure) Services be noted. 

  
 
O&S.70/15 QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

 
 A report was considered that provided Members with information on Key 

Performance Indicators at the end of quarter 2 for 2015/16. 
 
 In discussion, reference was made to:- 
 

(a) future ‘deep dive’ reports.  The Panel felt that Indicators pertinent to 
the Contact Centre and Development Management should not be 
subject to a ‘deep dive’ report for the foreseeable future.  The 
indicator that was identified by Members as an area of interest for the 
next meeting was the ‘average end to end time benefits new claims 
(days)’; 
 

(b) the number of days lost due to sickness absence.  Some Members 
welcomed the improvements in the sickness absence indicators; 

 
(c) the definition of ‘narrowly off target be aware’.  Officers accepted that 

this definition currently lacked clarity and it would therefore be re-
defined in future quarterly reports; 
 

(d) the lack of comments accompanying some of the Performance 
Indicators.  Officers confirmed that, for some of the indicators, there 
was a lack of information as a consequence of the cross over from 
the old to the new system. 

 

  



  O+S 14.1.16 

 
 

It was then: 

 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the key Performance Indicators for Quarter 2 be noted 
and the action detailed to improve future performance has 
been considered; and  

2. That the ‘average end to end time benefits new claims (days)’ 
be selected as an area of interest for the next meeting.  

 
 
O&S.71/15 TASK AND FINISH GROUP UPDATES  
 

(a) Dartmouth Lower Ferry 
 
In light of the report being published in accordance with Section 
100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, it was noted that this 
agenda item would now be considered at the end of this meeting 
(Minute O&S.74/15(a) below refers). 
 

(b) Partnerships 
 
It was confirmed that two joint meetings had been held with West 
Devon Borough Council colleagues and the key theme which was 
becoming increasingly apparent was that the number of Council 
partnerships was more than had been initially envisaged. 
 
In terms of next steps, the joint Group was trying to classify the 
partnerships and, at its next scheduled meeting, would be focusing 
upon significant partnerships only. 
 
Following the next meeting, and recognising the need to notify and 
communicate with these partners, it was envisaged that the groups 
would then revert back to meeting as two separate entities. 
 

(c) Waste and Recycling 
 
The Panel noted the concluding report that had been generated by 
the Task and Finish Group and wished to put on record its gratitude 
for Group Members and lead officers in completing an excellent 
piece of work. 
 

(d) Events Policy 
 
The Group had met for the first time on 13 January 2016 and had 
agreed its terms of reference.  A series of queries had been raised by 
the Group and these would be followed up at the next scheduled 
meeting which was to be held during week commencing 11 April 
2016. 
 

  



  O+S 14.1.16 

 
 

O&S.72/15 DRAFT ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2015/16 
 

The Panel considered its draft 2015/16 Work Programme and made 
particular reference to the earlier point whereby it would be useful to be in 
receipt of an update in Income Generation Opportunities at the next Panel 
meeting on 25 February 2016. 

 
O&S.73/15 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

RESOLVED 
 
That in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public and press be excluded 
from the meeting during consideration of the following 
item of business as the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 4 of Schedule 12A 
to the Act is involved. 

 
O&S.74/15 TASK AND FINISH GROUP UPDATES  
 

(a) Dartmouth Lower Ferry 
 
An exempt report was considered that presented the latest findings of 
the Task and Finish Group and presented the Business Case that had 
been commissioned to fully explore the cost of the current service. 
 
During the debate, the quality of the Business Case was praised by 
Members.  In addition, it was noted that the work of the Task and Finish 
Group was to continue, with regular feedback reports being presented to 
future Panel meetings. 
 
It was then 
 

RECOMMENDED 
 
That the Executive be RECOMMENDED that:- 
 
1. at this point, the best overall service delivery choice for the 

Dartmouth Lower Ferry will be either via Option 1 or Option 2b 
(as outlined in the Business Case at Appendix A of the 
presented agenda report); 

 
2. service efficiencies (as outlined  as Section 2 of the Business 

Case at Appendix A of the presented agenda report be 
implemented as soon as is practicable; and 

 
3. negotiations continue on the provision of the best operationally 

practical and cost effective solutions for the maintenance of 
the floating stock.  

(Meeting started at 10.00 am and concluded at 1.00 pm). 
             ___________________ 
   Chairman 




	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Public Question Time
	7 Revenue Budget Proposals for 2016/17
	Appendix A - Budget Pressures
	Appendix B1 - Financial Strategy
	Appendix B2 - Financial Strategy
	Appendix B3 - Draft Revenue Budget Analysis
	Appendix C1 - Reserves
	Appendix C2 - Contributions to Reserves
	Appendix D - Summary of the Budget Workshop 30 September 2015
	Appendix E - Council Tax Support 2016-17
	Appendix F - Sensitivity Analysis and Risk Analysis

	8 Capital Budget Proposals for 2016/17
	Appendix A - Captial Programme 2016-2019

	9 Capital Programme Monitoring Report
	Appendix A - Exempt Capital Programme 2015-16

	10 Heart of the South West Formal Devolution Bid
	Appendix A - Devolution Prospectus 2016

	11 Proposals relating to a Local Authority Controlled Company
	Appendix A - Local Authority Trading Companies
	Appendix B - Ooptions Appraisal
	Appendix C Exempt

	12 Community Right to Build Orders - Delegated Procedures
	13 Effectively Implementing SHDC DP11: Housing Mix & Tenure
	Appendix A - Housing Mix

	14 Safeguarding Policy
	Appendix A - Safeguarding Policy

	15 Reports of other bodies

